
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

May 8, 2023 

 

Corporate Relationship Department, 

BSE Limited 

Phiroze Jeejeebhoy Towers 

Dalal Street, Mumbai- 400001. 

Listing Department, 

National Stock Exchange of India Limited 

Exchange Plaza, C-1 Block G 

Bandra Kurla Complex, Bandra (E), Mumbai. 

 

Dear Sir/ Madam, 

 

Re - Scrip Code : 540526; Symbol : IRBINVIT 

 

Sub - Outcome of the Meeting of the Board of Directors of Investment Manager held on May 8, 2023.  

 

Please note that the Board of Directors of the Investment Manager of IRB InvIT Fund (“the Trust”) at  its 

meeting held on Monday, May 8, 2023 has: 

 

1) Approved Audited Consolidated & Standalone Financial Results of the Trust for the half year and 

financial year ended March 31, 2023. A copy of the results alongwith the Audit Report is enclosed 

herewith. 

 

Please refer website www.irbinvit.co.in for a copy of Corporate Presentation under Investor Relation 

Section of the website of the Trust.        

      

2) Declared 4th distribution of Rs. 2.00/- per Unit, for the financial year 2022-23. The distribution will be 

paid as Rs. 1.70/- per unit as Interest and Rs. 0.30/- per unit as Return of Capital, subject to applicable 

taxes, if any.  

 

Please note that May 12, 2023 has been fixed as the Record Date for the purpose of Payment of this 

Distribution and it will be paid / dispatched to the eligible Unitholders on or before May 22, 2023.  

 

3) Pursuant to Regulation 10 of SEBI (Infrastructure Investment Trusts) Regulation, 2014, the Net Asset 

Value are disclosed in the financials of the Trust. 

 

The meeting commenced at 11.45 am and concluded at 2.25 pm.  

 

You are requested to take note of the same. 

 

For IRB Infrastructure Private Limited  

(Investment Manager to IRB InvIT Fund) 

 

 

Vinodkumar Menon 

Whole time Director & Chief Executive Officer 

 

Encl.: As above 

http://www.irbinvit.co.in/
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Independent Auditors' Report on the Half yearly and Year to Date Consolidated Financial 
Results of the Fund Pursuant to Regulation 23 of the SEBI (Infrastructure Investment Trusts) 
Regulations, 2014, as amended 

To, 
The Board of Directors 
IRS Infrastructure Private Limited 
(Investment Manager to IRS InvlT Fund) 
IRS Complex, Chandivali Farm. 

Chandivali Village, 
Andheri (East), 
Mumbai 400 072, India. 

Report on the audit of the Consolidated Financial Results 

Opinion 

We have audited the accompanying Statement of consolidated financial results of IRS InvlT Fund 
(hereinafter referred to as ~the Fund-) comprising its subsidiaries (the Fund and its subsidiaries 
together referred to as "the Group"), consisting of the Consolidated Statement of Profit and Loss 
including Other Comprehensive Income. explanalory notes thereto and the addilional disclosures as 
required in paragraph 6 of Annexure A to the SEBI Circular No. CIRlIMD/DF/127/2016 dated 
November 29. 2016 (~SEBI Circular") for the half year and for the year ended March 31, 2023 ('the 
Statement'). attached herewith. being submitted by the Fund pursuant to the requirements of 
Regulation 23 of the SEBI (Infrastructure Investment Trusts) Regulations, 2014, as amended from 
time to time read with SEBI Circular. 

In our opinion and to the best of our information and according to the explanations given to us. the 

Statement: 

Rf;'Ii,.,le,.,.d Ot"~c 
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a. includes the results of the following entities: 

Holding Entity: 
IRS In\llT Fund 

Subsidiary Entities: 
i. IRS Sural Dahisar Tollway Limited 
ii. IDAA Infrastructure Limited 
iii. IRa Talegaon Amravati Tollway Limited 
iv. IRS Jaipur Deali Tollway Limited 
v. M.v.R. Infrastructure and Tollways Limited 
vi. IRS Tumkur Chitradurga Tollway Limited 
vii. IRS Pathankot Amritsar Toll Road Limited 
viii. VK1 Expressway Limited (Former1y known as VK1 Expressway Private Limited) 

(w.e.! October 13,2022) 

b. is presented in accordance with the requirements of RegulaUon 23 of SEBI 
(Infrastructure Investment Trusts) Regulations, 2014, as amended, read with SEal 
Circular No. CIRIIMDIOFI127/2016 dated November 29, 2016. in this regard; and 

c. gives a true and fair view in conformity 'Nith the applicable accounting standards, and 
other accounting principles generally accepted in India, of the consolidated net profit 
and total comprehensive income and other financial infonnation of the Group for the 
half year and for the year ended March 31 , 2023. 

Basis for Opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with the Standards on Auditing (SAs) , issued by Institute of 
chartered Accountants of India. Our responsibilities under those Standards are further described in 
the 'Auditor's Responsibitities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Results' section of our 
report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the 'Code of Ethics' issued by the 
Institute of Chartered Accountants of India together with the ethical requirements that are relevant to 
our audit of the consolidated financial results under the provisions of the JnvlT Regulations, and we 
have fulfitled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance these requirements and the Code of 
Ethics. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide 

a basis for our audit opinion. 

Management's Responsibilities for the Consolidated Financial Results 

The Statement has been prepared on the basis of the consolidated annual financial statements. 
Management of the Investment Manager ('the Management') is responsible for the preparation and 
presentation of the Statement that gives a true and fair view of the consolidated net profit and total 
comprehensive income and other financial information of the Group in accordance with the 
requirements of the InvlT regulations; Indian Accounting Standards as defined in Rule 2(1 )(a) of the 
Companies (Indian Accounting Standards) Rules, 2015 (as amended) and other accounting 
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principles generally accepted in India, to the extent not inconsistent with InvlT Regulations. The 
respective Board of Directors of the companies induded in the Group are responsible for 
maintenance of adequate accounting records for safeguarding of the assets of the Group and for 
preventing and detecting frauds and other irregularities; selection and application of appropriate 
accounting policies; making judgments and estimates that are reasonable and prudent; and the 
design, implementation and maintenance of adequate controls . that were operating effectively for 
ensuring the accuracy and completeness of the accounting records, relevant to the preparation and 
presentation of the Statement that give a true and fair view and are free from material misstatement, 
whether due to fraud or error. which have been used for the purpose of preparation of the Statement 

by the Management, as aforesaid. 

In preparing the Statement, the management and the respective Board of Directors of the 
companies included in the Group are responsible for assessing the ability of the Group to continue 
as a going concern, disclosing. as applicable, matters related to going concem and using the going 
concern basis of accounting unless the respective Board of Directors either intends to liquidate the 
Group or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so. 

The Management and the respective Board of Directors of the companies induded in the Group are 
also responsible for overseeing the financial reporting process of the Group. 

Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Results 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the Statement as a whole is free 
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that 
includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that 
an audit conducted in accordance with SAs will always detect a material misstatement wtlen it 
exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in 
the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users 

taken on the basis of the Statement. 

As part of an audit in accordance with SAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain 
professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also: 

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the Statement, whether due to 
fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain 
audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The 
risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one 
resulting from errOf, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, 
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of 
expressing an opinion on the effediveness of the entity's internal control. 

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of 
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by the management. 
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Conclude on the appropriateness of the management's use of the going concern basis of 
accounting and , based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty 
exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the ability of the 
Group to continue as a going concern . If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists. 
we are required to draw attention in our auditor's report to the related disclosures in the 
Statement or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions 
are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the dale of our auditor's report. However, 

future events Of conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going 

concem. 

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the Statement, including the 
disclosures, and whether the Statement represent the undenying transactions and 
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation. 

• Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the 
entities or business activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated 
financial statements. For companies included in the consolidated financial statements, 
which have been audited by other auditors, such other auditors remain responsible for 
the direction, supervision and performance of the audits carried out by them. We remain 
solely responsible for our audit opinion. 

We communicate with those charged with governance of the InvlT and such other entities 
included in the Statement of wflich we are the independent auditors regarding , among other 
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings , including 
any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit. 

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied 
with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them 
all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our 

independence, and where applicable, related safeguards. 

Other Matter 

1. We did not audit the financial statements and other financial information of 8 subsidiaries 
(mentioned in the paragraph (3)(a)(ii) to (viii) above) , whose financial statements reflect the 
total revenues (before eliminating intra-group transactions) of Rs. 55,177.82 lakhs and Rs. 
148,839.92 Lakhs for the half year ended March 31 , 2023 and for the year ended March 31 , 
2023, respectively. These financial statements and other financial information have been 
audited by the other auditors and W'hose reports have been furnished 10 us by the 
management and our opinion on the consolidated financial results in so far as it relates to the 
amounts and disclosures included in respect of these subsidiaries and our reports in terms of 
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InvlT regulations . in so far it as relates to the aforesaid subsidiaries is based so/ely on the 
reports of the other auditors. 

Our opinion above on the consolidated financial results is not modified in resped: of the 
above matters with respect to our reliance on the work done and the reports of the other 

auditors. 

2. The Statement includes the consolidated financial results for the half year ended March 31, 
2023 being the balancing figures between the audited figures in respect of the full financial 
year ended March 31 . 2023 and the published unaudited year4 to-date figures up to 
September 30. 2022. being the date of the end of the first half of the current financial year, 
which were subject to limited review as required under Regulation 23 of the SEBI 
(Infrastructure Investment Trusts) Regulations, 2014 as amended from time to time read with 
SEBI Circular No. CIRlIMD/DF/12712016 dated November 29.2016. 

For Suresh Surana & Associates llP 

Chartered Accountants 
Firm's Reg. NO.121750W/W-100010 

Ra~~ 
Partner 
Membership No.: 102306 

Place: Mumbai 1358 
UDIN: 2.3i02.30 ~ Bc"""",S Y2 

Dated: 08 May 2023 



Re gistered OHlce: IR8 CompleJ<. Chondjlloli 
Form, Chondivoh V,lIoge, Andhe(1 (E). 
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RB 
IRS InvlT Fund 

(An Irrvvoc.bJe IfIlSI selilp linde, Ihelndi.n Trusfs ACf, 1882, .nd ''fI;stered as 
.n Infrast,lJ(;fllre InveSlmflnt trust with the Securifies and &ch.nge BOIrd of Indi.) 

Ok in lakh~_ unless otherwise sialed) 
Autlih:d ('on~o l i tl:il ed rin:llldal res uhs fo r the hair ~ear and ~ f :n ("nded 'larc: h 31. 2023 

SiI i\ lontll 
Si~ [\ lollt h 

Si.\" ,\ Ionth 'C:ll r c:ndft! "far ended 
ended ended [\ Iareh 

Septelll ber 30, 
el1l.lctll\'1:I fc h 1\I :l r ch 31, 1\ 1:lrc ll 31, 

S, . l'artifo!3rs 31 , 2023 31 , 2022 2023 2022 
No, 2022 

(i\ud;l~d -
( Ullllud;t~d ) 

(I\Ud;t~d • 
(Audittd) (,\"dild) Rdu nOlf 3(i)) Rcfu na lt 3{ii )) 

I. InrollIu :lntl gains 

Revenue lrom opcriuions 52.795,73 91,376.76 73, 165.3 1 1.44 ,172.49 1,39,156.62 

Interest 59. 19 23.37 150.60 112.56 39 1.32 
Profit on sale ('I r 607.71 289.6.1 129. 12 897.36 233.58 
investments/assetS 

Other income· 630.14 400.35 135.41 1.030.4 9 252.83 

Total Income :11 11.1 ~ains 5~ ,092 .78 92,090.12 73,580.44 1,46,182.')n 1 .40,OJ4.3~ 

II . E)'jlt!oscs a nd los)cs 

Operation expenses 7.470.63 45.028.59 2,425.50 52,499.22 5,898.96 

1'rojec t nmnagetlll'nt fees·' 
r.:fer note e)' 

3,59·1.1 2 3.2 18.00 6.73 1.50 ii,8 12. 12 13.069.00 

Valuation e...:penSl.!s 9. 12 12.03 10.94 21.1 5 22 06 

Annual Listing i'ccs 39.54 39.75 30.32 79.29 60.8 1 

Trustee Fees 14.75 14.75 14.75 29.50 29.50 

Audit fees 16.36 18. 17 20.58 3-1 .53 45.29 

Insurant\! & sccunty c.'(~nses 74.14 22.28 37.40 96.42 7568 

Employee benefi ts e\penses 767.22 895.38 1.280.80 1.662.60 2.59·1.14 

InH!stmcnt m:ll1agcmcnl rees 590,00 590,00 
(refer nOle b) 

68815 1, 18000 1,278. 15 

Depreciation on property. pi:ml 0.29 016 0.5 1 0,65 1.0·1 
~Uld equipment 

I-- '\nlOnisalion orintangihle 9.52629 16.605.66 ]<).603.75 26. 131.95 M\.U71 ,7 1 
llSscts 
I· Ulat11X COSI:> (Interest) 11,766.25 6.868,48 6.745.74 18,634.73 13,60808 

Finance costs (Othc r~) 32·1.49 298.82 374.62 623.3 1 576.29 

Repairs and mainlenancc - - 0,82 - 0.~2 

Legal and profession;ll fl!CS 386.45 488 ~J 632.73 874.98 7 11 51 

Other expenses"· 58 II 5{1,4 8 2&3.01 108.59 392.21 

Total E~pcnscs lind lossl'S 34,637.76 74,1 51.28 58,881 .12 1,08,789.04 I,06,-I3!'.25 

111. 
!'rolit ror Ih l' pcdod bd ol'c 
intonu: t a~ ' i i l ' . fill 

19,455.02 17.938.84 14,699.32 37,393.86 33,599. 10 

IV. 
Tax expenses (currenl tn. ... and 
&r~rrcd t; ... "t~\lcrsal 132.67 30J 17 2.5090-1 435.8~ 3,333. 11 

". I'Nlfit rur Ihe period afte r 
incO lli e la'l. !I'll . (l V\ 

19,321.35 17,635.67 12,190.28 36,958.02 30,26!i.99 

\'1. 
It{'lIIs of Olher Comprehensive (25. 11) 
Income 

(4.28) 10.0 1 (29.39) 10.01 

\'11 . 
T(! tn l CUl1lprehfllshc Incolllf 19,297. 2-1 17,631.39 12.2.00.29 36,928.63 30,276.00 
\"} +(\"I ) 

'" Ot her income inc ltldes fair \ aJ ue gain and other nOll-operating income. 
-u Project managcmcnt lees do not incl ude major maintenancc of Rs. 28U.67 hlkhs. Rs. 1,403.33 Jakhs, Rs. 

7.679.50 lakhs. Rs.1.684.00 lakhs :lIld Rs. 14,070.00 lakhs incurred d uring the si'( month ended r.. larch 2023. six 
month endcd Scptcmhcr 2022 six mon!!! ,-::~t'ii r.l .. r.;h 2022. year ended March 2023 ~(l;,xrar e nded March 2022. 
respec tively for which the provision ror llIajor ma intenance was made in earl ier) ears.' :"." j 

. I ' .. d . I '· ~". \Ov r ••• OtlK'r e\pense.!, tnt IIm~ pnntll1g em stat Ionery, r.:::nt . m tcs :U1( luxes anu other I!l \!>~ leou~ .~l\penses. ~o 

~.. Q ,0, Q:- v 
Q' ID)1 ~ 7-

". <I", ,.>. 0 
".; ~ ............ 

'II -;.,,"1.. 
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Notes 10 cULlsol!d:w:d lin :wdlll results: 

I. Im~slo~ can view the results of the JR13 In"IT Fund ('j'und' or 'Tru~I') on the TruSI's \\cbsitc 
(www.irbin\it.co.in)oronthewcb!.itescrBSE(wwl\.bseindia.com)orNSE(wll\\.nseindia.com). 

2. The Audited COllsolidated Financial Results comprises of the C'onsolidnted SI:t!cmcnt of profit and loss 
(including other compre-hensivc income), explanatory notes therelo and additional disclosures as required 
in paragraph 6 of Annexure A to the SEBI CirCU]:lr no. C1RlIt-.'lDIDFil2712016 dated November 29. 2016 
('SE81 Circular') of IRB In\' IT Fund ('Fund') for the half year and year ended March 31. 2023 
("Consolidated Financial Results") being submilled by the Fund pursuant 10 the requirements of 
Regulation 23 of the SEBI (Infrastructure In\'estmcnt Trusts) Regulations, 2014, as amended from time to 

time read with SEB I Circular. 

3. (i) ,11e half yearly Consolidated Financial Results for the ha[fyc-ar ended March 31, 2023 are the derived 
figures between the audited figu~ in respect of tile year ended March 31, 2023 and the published year-IO­
date fi gUfCS up to September 30, 2022, being the date of the end of the first half of the current financial 
year, which wcre subject to limited review. '111c consolidated financial results for the half year ended 
March 31. 2023 and year ended M:uch 31. 2023 have been prepared 011 the basis of the consolidated 
financial rcsults for the half year ended Septcmber 30, 2022, the audited allnual consolidated financial 
statements as at and for the year ended March 31, 2023, and the relevant requirements o f the SEBI 
( Infrastructure Investment Trusts) RegUlations. 20 14. as amended from time to time read with SEBI 
Circular. 

(ii) 111e half yearly consolidated financial results for the half year ended March 31, 2022 are the derived 
figures between the audited figures in respect oflhe year ended March 31,2022 and the published year-to­
date figures up to September 30, 2021, being the datc oflhe end of the first halfoflhe previous financial 
year, which were subject 10 limited review. 

4. 'I he Audited Consolidated Financial Results for the year ended March 31. 2023 have been reviewed by the 
Audit Commillee of the 111\ estment Manager al tlwir meeting held on Ma) 8. 2023 and therennel" approved 
by the Board of Directors (lfthe Investment fo,'lanager al their meeting held on May 8. 2023. 

5. fhe Board of DireclOrs oj the Investment Managt'r have declared 4th Distribution of Rs. 2.00 per unit 
which comprises of Rs. 1.70 per unit as int~rc!'1 :md Re. 0.30 per unit a:. return of capital in IIH.'ir meeli ng 
held on May S, 2023. 

Total distribution made by the Fund is Rs. 8.05 per unit (including 1>1 Distribution ofRs. 2.05 per unit, 2nd 
Dbtribution of Rs. 2.00 per unit and 3n1 Distribution of Rs. 2.00 per unit) for the year ended March 31. 
2023. 

6. IRI3 JtwlT Fund was registered as an irrev ocable trust under the Indian Trusts Act, 1882 on October 16, 
2015 and as an infrastructure investment trust under the Securities and Exchange Board of India 
(Infrastructure Investment Trusts) Regulations. 2014 on to.'larch 14,20 16. Units of IRB 1m I r Fund ha\e 
been listed on both the stock exchanges on Ma) 18,2017. 

7. Pursuant 10 the Share Purchase Agreement dated October 13, 2022, the Fund has acquired the subsidiary 
company viz. VKI Expressway Limited ("Project SPV·). Accordingly. the revenue and corresponding 
expenses in Project Spy has been included from October 13, 2022 to March 31, 2023 in the Consolidaled 
Financial Results. 

8. IRS Pathankot l\mritsar Toll Road Limited (lPATRL) has recognised revcnue of Rs. 42,3 19.58 lakhs 
reccivable from National lIigh\\ ays Authorit) o f India against arbilration award for delay in complction of 
construction of the project based on the addi tional cost incurred b) EP(' eontractor \Ihich shall be 
an!"lropriatl.'d to the EPe contracl0r amounting I'" Rs. 41.7R·I.26 lakhs included in the operat ion expenses 
tor the )car ended March 31. 2U23. rhe (.'xtCIlSlUll III conec!>sion period of 518 days shall accrue to the 

,. 
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benefit of IPATR L :llld the Trust. 111(' actual operation CXPCIIS(,~ for the year ended P,lnrch 3 1, 2023 is Rs. 

IO,7 14 .96 I::lkhs. 

9. ISDTL and JDAATL has successfully completed Concession Period on M:l) 25.2022 and Mnrch 31. 
2022. respectively and handed over the Project lligh\\:l) including Project Assets to National Highways 
Authority of Ind ia (N I-IA I) in terlllS of the Concei>sion Agreement. 

Additional Disclos ures as rcqu i."ed by J~tlr!lgrall h (i 10 S[8 1 Circular No. CIIVll\ IDflW/127110 16: 

a. Net Oistl"ibutabl c C ns h Flows for the half year cnded March 31,2023 

(i) m1J Inv lT Fund ( Fund) 

. m ." (Rs ' Lakl ) 

Si.\" months Sh months Six mouths Year Year 

I.' :lrticu lars 
ended ended clilled cnded end ed 

Sr. Nfl. MardI 31. SC]I\cl11ber l\ l nrch J I , J\htrch 31, I\1ar1'l131 , 
2023 30 2022 2022 2023 2022 

Cash nows reccived from Projcci 

1 SPYs in Ihc fonn oflntercst ( Re fcr 28.09 1.24 19.892.08 20. 109.S0 47,983.32 41.284.74 
note I) 

Cash nows rcceh·cd from Projecl -2 SPVs in Ihe Conn ofDi\' idcnd 
. - - -

AII~ other income accruing al the 
Trustlc\'cl ,md not carturoo abovc, 

J including b", "01 limited 10 466.49 329.1 4 160.S9 79S.63 3 12.22 
illtercsllrctum '" surplus ca~h 

iO\cstcd bv thc rrusl 

C"h nows received from the 

projcCI SPYs lowards Ihe 

4 TCp<1)'mcnl (Nel) of lhe d.:l'1 iS$ued 4.<182.00 14.41 1.37 18.463.S8 18.893.37 31.022.75 
10 lhe Ilrojcct SPYs by Ihe Trust 

I (Refcr lIole 3) --
5 

Total ca~h inno" 11.1 the Trusl 
lc\·tlIA)· 

33.039.73 J.l.6J2.S9 JR.73J.fl7 67.672.J2 72,6 19.7 1 

Le~: --- --
An) payment of fees.. inlcn:~l ami 

6 
expense inl.'UTred tlllh'" Tru't k\<."1. (6.99S.011 (S.885.<18) 16.30 1.0-1) ( 12.880.49, tI2.547.93) 
inc.luding but nOI limited 1<.> Ihe 
fees of the In,'"estmcnl M:mascT 

Incom..: lax (if applicahle) UI Iht: 
1 Sland,l]onC rrust Level 

- - . . . 

• Repayment of extcrnal debt (2.7 12.50) (2,7 12.50) 12.7 12.50J (5.'12S.00) (5.425JlO) 

9 
Tol:11 ca5h OUlnOn S I retenlion III (9,707.51) (8,5".98) (9.013.54) (18,305.49) (17.972.93) 
tht '1 ru~lle\'d (U) 

1"1'1 Distribu!llble Cas h Flo"s 23,332.22 2G.o3.l.(il 29,720.13 .&9,.3".83 10 (C) .. (A+I1) 
5.&.6.&6.78 

Nfl les: 
I) Inc embargo on lhe I;.scrow banl account for ITC I L was uplifil:d us pet the Interim oro.:r "r tl~ IlulI'bl\!" Al bitlltl Triuullul 

How<.:vcr, thc wi lhdmwals pertaining to p..'lst pcnods towards debt servicing o f Rs. 11.1 93.00 lakhs (nct of Rs. 4.402 .39 
lalhs consickred in earl il.'I' period) has not been considered in the above Net Distributable Cash Flow. TIll:! said accruals arc 
utilil..::d towards acquiSition of YK I projecl. 

2) Exdlldc~ intcn:sl due bUI not fCloX il eJ of Rs. Nil. Rs. 5.678.53 laJ..hs. Rs. 6.567.50 lillhlo. Rs. 3.539. 11 lakhs and Rs. 
13. 171.08 laklLS for the si,\ monthS cnd.::d March 3 1. 2023. SIX months ClI(ied September 30. 2022. ~ix months ended Murch 
31. 2022. ycar endoo March 3 1. 2023 I,md )·ear ended March 31. 2022. 

3) Nellcd _ 01T \\ ith d,~l>urscment of long-tenn unsecured Inan In prOJ",ct SPYs (Ref..:r RP I disclosuTl"S o f standalone financial 

r,,:slIlts). 



Oi) IDAA InfI'3st '"Uctufc Limit ed ( IDA f\TL) 

~ i\ i\ lonths 
Six Ill ulltlu 

en ded 
Sr. 1)\'Sc ripti ll n l'nticd 1\1,11'(' 11 

Septem bfr 30. 
No. 31, 2023 

2022 

Profi t oner lax as per Statement 
(2.618.06) 42.40 

I ot profit and losslincome and 
cxocnditurc (A \ 
Add: Depreciation and 
nmoniS:l1ion as per Statement of - -

2 profi t and loss/income nod 
ex )Cnditure 
Addllcss: Any other item of non-
cash expcn~ I non cash inC()!1lc 
(nel oFaclUal cash flows For these - -3 
items), if deemed "ecess.'lI)' by 
Ihe Imestmenl Man::tger 

Add: Interest paid 10 the Fund · · , 
Add: I'rovisioll For Resurfacing · · 5 Expenses (Net) 

Add: Non-cash expenses 2.623.86 -6 
Less: N HAI Pr.:miulII · -7 

Less: Principal repayment - · , 
9 Total Adjustments (0) 2.62J.~6 · 

10 
Nrl Disl rihut llblt: ( a~h f lo\\s 5.80 42.40 
(C)" (A+ IJ ) 

IRS InvlT Fund 
(All 1 .. __ "" ......... ..- V>f -.. r", ... ,"~ '''J. afOd ffII •• - OJ ... _.""" ..... __ r ...... __ ... __ E .. "."II._oI~ 

IRs. In La/..hs) 

Six L\lonths Ycar fnded Ye:lr cl1Ilcd 
coded 

l\hlrch 3 1. 
March 31, MardI 31, 

2022 
2023 2022 

( 1.635_94) (2.575.66) (-163.50) 

14.272.94 - 23.237.4 1 

· . -

13466 - 365&5 

(2.427.26) - (4 .703.47) 

· 2.623.86 -
· - . 

· - . 
11 ,9110.34 2.6ZJ.~ f- lM,8,)9.7~ 

1 O..3~~.41J 4!1.2U 18,·436.29 



IRS InvlT Fund 
I"" ___ ._ .. _ ... -...r ...... """ .. l._......- •• __ .... __ .... ,_ ... __ f..o"""'-"_""-. 

(iii) mil Sunlt D.lh is:HTolhla) Limited (lSOTL) 

S. m . , (R . Lakh) 

Sh: 1\'I0111h , 
Sh months Sh: 1'o1t)nlils Yl':l r ended Yc:,r cl1\JnJ 

~nJctl S,". Ih 's.' r i llli<1Il L' udtd 1'I1:II'I;h 
S CIl(('ml)(T 

clltI<:lI1\ !:lreh i\larch 31, j\larrh 3 1. 
No. 3 1.2023 30.2022 

3 1. 2022 2023 2022 

profit after ,~ " P'" 
Statement of profit and (988.73) 1,279.04 (3,586.6Y) 290.31 (2.980.19) I 1~~iI1COlll e ",d cxpclldiLUTC 

IIA 
Add: Ik precirtlion ",d 

2 
amortisaHon as per Stnlcrnent - 6.269.78 11.199.85 6.269.78 31.1 70.02 
of profit and loss/income and 
cx~.ndilurc 
Add/less: An} Olher item of 
non-cash expense , non cash 

income (net 0' aClun! ",h - - - - -1 110 \\'S , .. these items). " d<..--cmed necessary by the 

111\'(51111cnl M~31!~r 
Add: Interest paid 10 the Fund - -4 

41].98 - 2.039.73 

Add: I'rovisiun for - - ( 1.437.43) - (1.916.55) , 
Resurfacing Expenscs (Nel) 

6 Add: Non-cash expenS(s 1,192_2 1 (797.16) 7.7%.4 1 395.05 tU81 .22 

7 Less: N IIAI Premium - - - - -, Less: Principal repayment - - - - -
9 TOI!!] Adjuslmcnls (0 ) 1.192.21 5A71.62 23,972.81 6,66-' ,83 39.67-'.42 

10 
NeE 1>i~lrihu labk ( ash 
Flo\\s ( ' ) - (A+ll) 

203AI'! 6,7S I .M 21U86.12 6.95S.I-' 36.W4.23 



RD 
IRB InvlT Fund 1 .... __ ..... ' ..... _""'_l ...... l«tf~ .... ,...._ •• ... _IWO __ .... '_I/IoO ___ b<,...._.,~ 

{i\") I Rn T a lcg:IOll A nll'a\rlli Tollway Limiled ( ITt' r L) 

Rs. in l..ul.hsl 

Si~ j\louth ~ 
Si~ months Six "hmlh~' 

Yen I" ~nuw )'c:lr n ul,," 
$.\ Oucri ptioll enut'd /I 1:II'I'h 

ended cnl.lcd l\ 1:II"ch 31, I\lart'll31 , 
No. 3 1. 202) S(' Jltl'mhcr i\ l arch 31, 

2023 2022 
30.2022 2022 

Profit after In.'\( as per Statement of 

1 profit and loss/income and (693. 14) (65 \ .82) (901.99) ( 1.344.%) 12.056.27) 

exocnditure (A) 

Add: Depreciation and rullortisalion 

2 as per Slalcmcnl of profit and 724.71 '<12.06 763.93 1,466.77 1.294.14 
loss/income Ilnd cx~ndilure 

Add/less: An)' olher item of non-
cash (,,,,pense I non-cash income (net 

3 of aclUal cash flows for these itellls). - - - - -
if deemed ncCCSS3T) b~ the 
Investment Man,"'cr 

4 Add: l111erest paid \0 the Fund 3.08 1.88 2.987.76 2.889.59 6,()(j9 .6 ~ 5,89 1.65 

5 
Add: Pfo\·is ion for Resurfacing (95.78) 
Expenses (Net) 

( 1, 177.06) (803.83) ( 1.272.84) ( 1.163.61) 

6 Add: Non-cash expenses I. 11 ( 1.05) - 006 -

7 Less: NIIA I Premium - - - - -
8 Less: Prillcip:J.i repll) ment - - - - -
9 ., owl Adjustments (B) 3,7 11 .92 2.551.7 1 2.!W).69 6.263.63 6,022 .12 

10 
f\'cl I)i~trihutablc C;l~h F lol\S (C) 3.0111.78 1.899.89 1.9"1.70 ",,918.67 3,%5.85 
~(A-+Jl\ 



IRB InvlT Fund 
tA~~ __ """ ... ",, ___ r' ........ t IIU _,"",1._ .. 

." ... " ............... _.""." ..... ,_ 01>05« ... __ b<~ __ O' ..... J 

(\) i\I . V. It l .. fnlSt ,' lI rtu ,'e and TolI\\ llyS Limited (1\11'1'1.) 

(R:.. III L:ll..hs) 

S i~ MM lhs 
Sb months 

Si~ i\l onlhs " fa r f nlled Yfar "."deu 
S,. Oescription ended March ended 

t ud rd I\'h rch Murch 3 1, I\ lareh 3 1, 
No. 3 1,2023 SCllltruber J 1. ZOU 2023 2022 30. 2022 

I'ruti, nli ... r \:1\ as J"II.'r "itatcmcnl 
I of pwHt .eo Ioss/incOllle :lnd 1.357.11 170.04 ] 17.-15 um.lt< 1U1'I!) 

cxpenditure (A) 

Add: Depreciation :md 

2 
IIUlorlismion as pc:: r Statemenl 01' 1.71].115 1.725 .67 t .75S..13 3.-1]952 ]. 122,11 
rru ti, und lo~sfin ... ome und 

ex cnditurc 
Addlbs: Any OIh ... r ilem o f 
l1un-cash cxpcnsc 1 non cash 

J 
1Il001l1C (n ... , of actual c3~h !lows · · · · · tl,r 'hese [I ... llls). If dt."l:.T\Cd 
nl!ccs.:;ul") b) Ihe In\'CSllIlcnl 
Mlln~gcr 

·1 Add: In'crc~1 paid 10 Ihe Fund 2,111.1)0 2.7-1')0<) 2.572.33 .i.1I60,()I) um,\J.I 

5 
Add: I'nn biOI! f('or Ro:surfaciny. 611.25 219.27 1'15 .02 K]O.52 ) I/U.05 
E!l.jlI.'nM!s (Nell 

6 Add: ~oll-l;a.~h .:,xp..:nso:s 2.20 (39.70) · \37,S0) · 
7 l.c~s: ~IIA1 1'remium · · · · · 

8 Le,s: I'rinciral repa)m.:nt · · · · · 
'I 101nl !\JJ\I'll1ll!l1I~ (Ll) 4.-I3IUU -I ,65·U 3 4512.78 \J ,un.GJ 8,JJ6. 111 

\0 
~(' I IliSlributablc Cllsh HIl" ~ 

5 .79~.·H 
iCI - l \+11 \ 

5. 12-'.37 -I ,II-IU.B 1O.9 1\J,81 II.-I JK.UK 



IRB 
IRS InvlT FUnd , ..... ____ ... ___ r ...... .oa, '.1._"-,, --_,.,_ ..... ,_ ... _ . ...,( .. ,...,.._01~ 

(\ 'i} mn J~i ll \lr Ocoli Tol\\\:1Y Limit ed ( IJD II .) 

(Rs. in Lal..hsl 
Si\ !'Ilomh ... S ix months Si\ Months Ytar \'rar 

Sr. f uded <' nded cildru (' Il (lc (l cndell 
n csc..i ll l iun i\!;\rrh 3 1, Srlll(' lIlb(' l" March 31, l\1;u·cb 31, I\ la rch 31. No. 

20ZJ 30 2022 2022 2023 2022 

Profil aficr lax as per Statement of rrofil (2,359.42) (2.253.68) (2.170.27) (4,613.10) (7. 1i7. 12) I nnd loss/income and expenditure (A) 

Add: DepreciBtion and amort isation as per 
1,190.42 1,18023 1,176.83 2.37065 2.092.72 2 Statement of profit and Joss/income and 

expenditure 

Addllcss: Any other item of non-cash 
expense I non cash income (net of actual - - - - . J cash nows for these items). if deemed 
necessllry by the I nvestment Manager 

4 Add: Interest paid to Ihe Fund 6.247.26 6,293. 19 7,102.73 12.540.45 14 . 11 9.76 

5 
Add: I'rm-is ion for R~urfacing Expenses 

, iN;,) 1.501 .80 1.50180 (!.I32.08) 3,003.60 ( 1,419.08) 

6 Add: Non-cash expenses 46-1 .28 158.36 (1,610.44) 622.6,1 (1,610.44) 

7 Less: NHAJ Premium . - - - . 

• Less: Principal repaymcnt - - . . -
9 Total Adjustments (Il) 9,403.76 9. IJ3.58 5,531.0-1 18,S37.3" 13,182.96 

10 
Net \) is lribulable C:I~h flun s (el '"' 

I ;;\+8)" 1,0-1-1.34 6.879.90 3.366.77 13,924.2-1 6,(JOS.S4 
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RD 
IRB InvlT Fund 

1Mo __ '"''''''''''''_IIIo_r''''''''A".!''l,_~._ •• 
.." Uotr ........ ..". "" __ , cn..twrlfl "'" _ ... ~ _ (""'"- -., 0/ 'n.,,") 

(vii) Iltll Pathan l;:o t Arll .. il ~ar·TolI n oml Limilcd (I PAT\,) 

fRs, in Lallbl 

S i .~ j\'iontlis 
S i ~ ulllllths Si~ j\lvnth~ 

' ~,:rr rnded \ " ':rr l' IUl t'd 
I' udell rndtd 

n(,~f l"ipli') 11 t u ,kll :\l arch 
Sq JII' JlIbcr i\larch 3 1, 

,\ 1111'(11 .\1 , i\1:i r ch 31. 
31, 2023 

JU 2U22 IOn 
2023 2022 

Profit after \ :1.'>; as per Statement 
(4,617.52) (3,667.94) 12.371.42) (8,285.46) (3.282.77) of profit and loss/income and 

e:<ocndilur~'iA) 
Add: Depreciation and 
!l.n1onisalion as per Statement of 910.50 1.8 18.57 938,54 2,729.07 938.64 
profit ~U1d loss/income and 
cSI'If'_nditure 
Addlless: An)' other item of nOIl-
cash expense I non cash income 
(ncI of uctual c.'lsh flows for - · · · · 
these items). if deemed necessary 
b the: hwcSlmenl M:lJlill!er 

Add: 11Ite.rcst paid \0 the Fund 6.989.09 6.953.21 7,011.60 13,9-12.30 14.073.71 

Add: Pro\' ision for RC'.surfacing 710.37 710.37 (473.75) 1,420.74 (947.54) 
Expenses (Nel) 

Add: NOll·cash expc\l~5 924.99 6]5.94 (3,5 12.96) U60.9] (1 1,5]3.96) 

Less: NI-IA I Premium 
. · · · · 

Less: Principal repayment . · · · · 

rotal Adjus tnlents (I)) 9,53 -1 .95 10,1111.09 3.963.43 19,653.04 2,530.85 

1"('1 Disl ribulab](, (';Ish Flo" s 
I I;:; -w ii; 4,917.43 6,45(). IS 1,592.01 11 .J67.58 (75 1.92) 



IRS InvlT Fund 
/AlO __ ............ _ ... -...r ...... A<t.I .. l._ .... _ • ... ____ ,Ir><U_ ... __ ~ ___ .,~ 

(\ iii) I H.B TUllIlw." ('hi 1 .. ;\ dllq~;I TOII\\;l ~ l .im itcd ( IT CTL) 

Rs. In Lakhs) 

Sh A l olllh~ 
Sili mOnlh~ Six ~ l onths 

Ycar Yl'l! r 

cndrti cndctl ended 
Sr. l)~scr ip t iOI1 cmltu M:lrch 

S~~:tcmhcr 
end.'\! i\ 1:u'ch 

l\I arrh 31, MIl reh 3 1, 
Nu- 31.2023 30. 2022 

.31.2022 
2023 2U22 

Profit after lax as per Statement 
2.384.86 

1 of profit and loss/inOOOlc and 2,882.78 1,097.66 5.267.64 2.366.3 1 

cxpcndilUrc (A) 

Add: DcprccJallOI1 ,nd 

amortisation as per Statement of 4.351.37 4,374.08 4,]92.28 8.725.45 7.725.26 
2 profi t and loss/mCome ru,d 

expenditure 

Add/less: Any other item of 
non-cash expense I non ",h 
income (net of actual cash flows - - - - -3 for these ;lcms). if dccmed 
necessary by the Inyestrnent 

Manager 

4 Add: Interest paid 10 Ihe Fund 6,637.0 1 6.60].58 6.567.50 13.140.59 13. 171.08 

Add: Provision for Resurfaci ng 1.000.03 313.20 267.69 1.313.23 535.38 , 
Expenses (Net) 

6 Add: NOIl·Clbh expenses 2.46 (189.88) 18.29 (187.42) 1.388.02 

7 Less: NIIAI Prcmiuln (l1.l92JlO) ( 11 . 192.00) ( 10,288.00) (22,]84 .00) (20,576.00) 

Less: Principal repa) ment - - - - -, 
9 Total Adjustments (B) 79H.87 (91.02) 957.76 707.HS 2,24].7~ 

Nrl Oi~tI'ihul:lb\e Cash I' lows 3.183.73 2.791.7fi 2,U55..£2 !',97!'...I9 4.610.05 
10 (C) = (AHJ) 

. " o,d", of the Djvision Ill!llch of lIon'ble lIigh Court . withdrawa ls from Escra\\ account of ITCf L As per tnterlll .., . 
, '""d till final order in the mailer. Durmg the ) car. the embargo on the Escrow banI. account \\;I f> 

\\ere not pem ' ." 
uplifled as per the Interim order oflhe lion ble Arbitral TribunaL 



IRB 
IRB InvlT Fund 

1 .... __ ........... _",._r"' ... ""'1 ,,,,. ___ •• 
... -. __ .... '_ ... __ ao .. bc-.._.,,_I 

(ix) V KI EXPI'CSS\HI ) Limilcd (V"': I) 
CRs. in Lakhsl 

I)escl'ipl io ll 
Oelohu 13, 2022 

S ... No. to March 31, 2023 

Profit after~ :~; as per Stallllleni of pl'Ofil and loss/income and 
2.833.48 

1 expenditure A 
Add: Deprec iation and amortisation as per Statement of profit and -2 loss/income and expenditure 

Add/less: Any oUler item of non-cash expense I nOll cash income 

3 
(net of actual cash flows for the.sc items), if deemed necessary by 2,824.73 

the Investment Manager * 
4 Add : Interest paid to the Fund 902.28 

5 Add: Provision for Resurfaci ng Expenses (Net) -
6 Add: Non-cash expenses (%4 .04) 

7 Less: N HA I Premium -
8 Less: Principill repayment -

9 Total Adjustments (8) 2.762.97 

10 Net Ois tr"ibutable Cas h Flows (C) "" (A +B) 5,596.45 

,I hare Purchase a 'reemenl dated October 13 2022. AcqUIred frolll IRBlDL \ I ( e S g , 
VK I is obl igated to create DSRA as per temlS of agreement with the lenders and accordingly, funds llTC 

retained for the said purpose . 
• Includes Annuit)' received from the Authority 

h. pursullnt to the Investlllent ManllgcnK'nl Agrecm ... nt. the Investment Manager is entitled to an 
Investment Management fees to be ca1cui31cd @ 1% per annum. exclusive of OSl", of the 
consol idated toll revel1ue (net o fprcmium paid I TC\CnUe shared \\jlh NlIAI) o flhe Fund at 
the end of the reponing period subject \0 a fl oor of Rs. 100 l11illion and a cap of R!.. ~50 

million. 

c. In accordance "i11l the Project Implementation Agreements. the fees and reliluilcr.ltion 
payable b) the Project $PVs to the Project Manager has been worked o ul and agreed upon 
for the duration of current financial year, between the Project r-,·Ianagcr. Investm("111 Manager 
and the respective Proj ect srv. on an aml's length basis. aller toking into accoullIthe extent 
of work to be done in respect of I11 l1ill1cnance and other services to be provided by the Projecl 
Mallager 10 such Projcct SPV. 



IRB InvlT Fund , .... __ ...... _ .. _ ... _T ...... A<l , .. ~_ .... _ .. 
... ""' •• ~ __ ,_ ... s.c: __ £ •• """""'_o,t-... 

d. Statcml' ul of Earnings Ile l' unit 
(Rs. In Inkhs exceot for unit data) 

Si:>.. M o nths 
Sh I\lout hs 

Six l\Iolllh ~ ' ca r l'nd ed Yca r ended 
cndl'd 

I'articula rs ended l\1 :u'ch ended l\larrh 1\ 1:\I'ch 3 1. 1\Iar{'h31 . 

31 ,2023 
SCIlh' lIlbcl' 

31,2022 2023 2022 
30,2022 

profit for the period Iyear 19,322.35 17,635.67 12,190.28 36.958.02 30,265.99 

Number of units 

outs tanding for 58.05,00,000 58,05.00.000 58.05.00,000 58.05.00,000 58.05,00,000 
compul:.uion of basic and 
dillited earnings per un;t 

Eamings per unit (basic 3.33 3.04 2.10 6.37 5.21 
and diluted) 

,. SI;llcl1H.' nl of coni ingenl liabilities and commitments 

Contin gen t liabilities not provided fo r 
(Rs in lakhs 

A s a t Asal As at 
I'urlicuhl rs M:wch 3 1, Sc-fl tc-mher 30. l'I l:lrch 3 1, 

2023 2022 2022 

Contingent liability · . · 

C OIllIII itml'nl s 
(Rs. in lakhs) 

As al Asa! As :It 
I·n I"t ic u hit'S 1\1:lI'ch 3 1, Sl' llt cmbl" " 30, l\1an~ h 3 1. 

2023 2022 2022 

Estimated value or contracts ;n capital account 
· · · 

remaining to be executed 

Commitlllent for acquisition o f toll equipmcl1I & · · 1.24 
machineries 

Other commitmentS · · · 

Total · · 1.24 



IRB InvlT Fund 
j ........ __ ........... _ ... _r ...... A<l ... t_ ..... _ •• .. ___ ...... ___ E.o ....... _ot,.".., 

f. S tatelll Cnl o f Rela te d p rll1 } l rrlUS:le lio ns 

1. Lis l o f R ci:II <'lJ I' arli cs 

i, I'a r ties to lh e Fund IR.B Inrrastructure Developers Limited ( IRBIDL)(Sponsor& l:>roject Manager) 

I RD Infrastruc ture Pri\ ate Limited (l RllFL) ( Investment Manager) 

lO B I Trusteeship Services Limited (ITSL) (Trustee) 

IRlll nfnlstnl(' l u l'C I)C\CIOpfl'lll...imi l('(1 
IRH Infrast,'uclurf 

lOBI T rustcnhiJ) Sfn il'CS I.il11ih~d 
I' rh'a lf Limiled 

l' l'I'lieul:, !'!> (S ponsor.'\: I' roj cCll11anagfr) ( IU\ f stIl1 Cnl mrlllage r) 
( r ruslf l' of the 11m In" IT Fund) 

Mr, Vil\:ndra D. l\·lhaiskar IDBlllanl. l.imited 

Mrs. I)ccpali V. M lmiskar 
I RO Infrastructure 

Life I nsurance Corporation of India 
Pru moters Developers Limited 

Vircndru O. Mhais kar IIl)F Gcnerallnsurunce Corporation of Indi:! 

Mr. Vircndru D. Mhaiskar 
Mr. Vinod Kumar Mr. J. Samuel Joseph 
""1cnon 

Mrs, {Xepllii V. Mhaislar Mr. Rlljinder Pal Singh Mr~. Ju)shrcc Ranlld.: (w.c. r. 20.09.2U21) 

Mr. Chandrashclhar S. Kaplan 
Mr. Sunil Tandon Mr. Pradcep Kumar Jain (w.c.f. 
(\\.e.r. 05.06.2020) 201 03,2022) 

Mr. Sunil I !. ralllli 
Mr Nilcsh Jam (\\ .c. r. Mr Pratkep Kumar M:! lhotrJ III .c.r. 
16.U3.2022) 17.01.2023) 

Mr. Sandecp J Shah 
Mr. Rushabh Gandhi Mrs. llllljinder Kauf Mandai 11\ ,c. r. 
{II .e, f. ] 1.03.2023) 17.01 .2023) 

Ms. I)r;ti Sal la l II,c.f 10.02.2022 ) 
Mr~. Anusha Date 

Mr. Salyajit Trlpulh) (Iill 17.09.2021) 
(\.\'.e.f 3 1.03.2023) 

Mr. JoS(.' Allgel IlImBriL M:1I1d GonCt.'r Mr Ra\ i~halll.ar G. 
Oircclors (w.e.r 29.12.202 1) Shindc Hilll~ .03.2022 ) 

Mr. Ra\'indrn Dh3ril~al (\\.e.r Mrs. Madhuri J. f.;ulkami (ti ll 0612.2022) 
05.0S .2022! 

Mr Carlos Ricardu Ugarte em? Cole (t ill 
Mrs.l'adma Ik'tai (Iill31. 12.2U22 1 

05.082022) 

Mr Mul.eshlal Gupla (Ii II 19.12.2021) 

Mr. Sudhir Roo Iloshlllg (li1l29 12.202 1) 

i\lrs. ]lceml Raja (Iill 10.02.2022 ) 

Mr. Vinodlumar MclltJl1 

Mr. Ilajr.mg Lal <1uplu 

Mr. Stlln;! B:lIlerjce 

iii. ));rtc lol') of Sub~idi:' rif~ 
Mr, Omllrakru;h Singh 

Mr. Rush:tbh Gandhi 

Mr. Darshan Sangurdclar (w.e.!" 12, 12.20211 

Mrs. Kshama Vcngsarl.ar (II .d. 12,122021) 

_~rs, Ik~na Raid (I ill II 12.20211 
- - -- ---

------,-;:;; " --" 
- ""M"'"S'c'"""""~h"'Cll"'""'"",J'c"c-cc ___________________ --i 

Mrs. Na~ an:1 Ral.c~h (iamlhL iI . Rt'I:llh ts of l)ircfturs 



II. Transa ction ~ \\ ith rel:lIed pa rties during the period 

5 1 . ..... 0. Particul a rs Relation 
Six Months 

ended l\'larch 
3 1,2023 

Six i\'l onths 
ended 

September 
30, 2022 

Six t\'l onths 
ended 

Ma rch 31 , 
2022 

Yenr end ed 
Ma rch 3 1, 

2023 

(Rs in lakhs) 

Ye:l!· ended 
"hrch 3 1. 2022 

r-
~~===1 Prnject Mnnager Fecs 3,796.55 4.716.65 14,411 .00 8.513.21 27.1 39. 00 \ 

IROIDL Projcct Manager 3.796.55 4.716.65 14,411.00 8.51 3.21 27.\39.00 

I 
f-- I Cnfl tract expenses • 41.784.26 • 41 ,784.26 

L [Rr~IDL Project t<.·lanager • 41.784.26 - 41.784.26 1 • 

590.00 590.00 688. 15 1. 180.00 1.278.15 
In\ e.; tmenl Mana geme nt recs paid 

~ __ ~~~dlldin g indi rect !'axes) 

~~ [RBFL Investment Manager 590.00 590.00 688.IS 1.180.00 1.278.15 

, ScclII'cd advnn ce Civcn 10.309.50 25.729.79 

IROLDL Project "'-anuger 10.309.50 25.729.79 

s Secured a(h'an ce recovered 10.9 16. 71 2S.i29.79 

IRBIDL Project Manager 10.916.71 :!5.729.79 

" Inte rest Income 105.04 335.08 

IRBIDL Project t<.lanager 105.04 335.08 

7 Director sitting rccs Director 9,03 9.11 5.78 18.14 I :;A~ 

M r. Vinodkumar Menon 1.50 1.75 1.32 3.25 3.07 

Mr. Rushabh Gandhi 0.8 1 0.71 0.66 1.52 1.37 
Mr. Sumit Banarjee 0.80 1.20 1.00 2.00 3.30 

\I r. Omprakash Singh 1.93 0.80 0.20 2.73 0.70 

L ~l\Irs. Beena Raja 3.10 
~-~~J'",\ 
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II, Tnlnsaction:; with r('lIlted (lAI' tiCS durin g th e pe l' ioJ 

Six 1\'10nths 
Six Months ended 

Sr. ,0. !'articulars Relation ended March 
September 

31 , 2023 30,2022 

r--- Mrs. Kshama Vcngsarkar 0.49 0.45 r-- Mr. Darshan Sangurdekar 2.00 2.70 
1---

Mr. Bajrang Lal Gupta 1.50 1.50 

,. 
" Trusteeship Fees 14.75 14. 75 

ITSL Trustee 14.75 14.75 

9 Di <: tribution in the form of interest 3.206.85 2,563.68 

IRBIDL Sponsor and Project 
2.781.1 5 2.224.92 

Manager 

Mr. Virendra D. Mhaiskar Director of Sponsor 367.20 293.76 

Mrs. Dccpali V. Mh3iskar Director of Sponsor 48.75 37.20 

Mr. Sudhir Rao Hoshing Director of Sponsor 4.80 3.84 

Mr. Sunil Talati Director of Sponsor 0.30 0.24 

r..1r Vinodkumar Menon 
Director o f im estmcnt 

0.90 0.72 
Manager 

Mr. Bajrang Lal Gupta 
Director of 

0.30 0.24 
Subsidiaries cOll1pan~ 

1>.1 r. Sumit Banerjee 
Director of 

1.65 1.32 
Subsidiaries compan) 

;\·Irs. Surabhi Banerjee Relative of Director 0.90 0.72 

Mrs. Nayana Gandhi Relative of Director 0.90 0.72 

Six l\lonths Year ended 
ended March 3 1. 

M.arch 31 , 
2022 

2023 

0.20 

1.20 
\.20 

14.75 

14.75 

2.561.76 

2.224.92 

293.76 

37.20 

1.92 
0.24 

0.72 

0.24 

1.32 

0.72 

0.72 

..... -'--"-
10-, ••.• -~.)s. -., 

.q../- --"':,0,,\,\ 

'" J" .~. '!. 
"'I red::: ~ ~"nts~ ., /. 
.' *'----------... 

, '_':,mo" 

0.94 

4 .)0 

3.00 

29.50 

29.50 

5.770.53 

5.006.0) 

660.96 

85 .95 

8.64 

0.54 

1.62 

0.54 

2.9) 

1.62 
1.62 

(Rs in lakhs) 

\ y",,",,«1 \ 
;\lar('11 31,2022 

0.20 

1.20 

2.50 

29.50 

2950 

5.65955 

-1.9 \3.3 7 

648 .72 

82. 15 

6.56 

0.53 

1.59 

0.53 

2.92 

1.59 

1.59 
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II , " r Inslle(un'; with I'('Illted pal'lies during the pe riod 

-- I 
Pa rticul ars Relation S, '0. 

!-- Oist ribution in Ih e form of return , 
f-- -

()f c:1pillll 

IRalDL 
Sponsor and Project 

!-- -
\1anager 

Mr. Vircndra D. Mhaiskar Director of SpOil'. or 
f--
f-- - . Mrs. Deepali V. Mhaiskar Director of sp(lnsor 

I---
Mr. sudhir Rao Hashing Director of Sponsor 

Mr. Sunil Talali Director of Sponsor 

\<Ir. Vinodkumar Menon 
Director ofln,estment 

\1anager 

~h . l3ajrnng Lal GuPta 
Director of 

Subsidiaries compan) 

Mr. Sumit Banerjee 
Director of 

Subsidiaries company 
f---

Mrs. Surabh i Banerjee Rclati\e of Director 

Mrs. Nay~n~_9andhL_ Rclati\c of Director 
- .- ----- .. 

Six i\'l on th s Six Month s 
Six Mon ths ended ended 

('nded i\ la reh March 31. Septembe r 
3 1, 2023 30, 2022 2022 

1.122.42 2.350.04 2,348. l2 

973.40 2.039.5 I 2.039.51 

128.52 269.28 269.28 

17.06 34.10 34.10 

1.68 3.52 1.60 

0.11 0.22 0.22 

0.32 0.66 0.66 

0.11 0.22 0.22 

0.58 1.21 1.21 

0.32 0.66 0.66 

l!E.. _ __ .9'~L- 0.66 
. .. --
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YeaI' ended 
i\1areh 3 1. 

2023 

3,472.46 

3,012.9\ 

397.80 

51.16 

5.20 

0.33 

0.98 

0.33 

1.79 

0 .98 

0.98 

(Rs in Inkhs) 

Year ended 
;\ lnl'eh 3 1. 2022 

3.8'3.60 

3.337.38 

440.64 

55.S0 

3.84 

0.36 

l.OR 

0.36 

-
1.98 

l.OS 

1.08 
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IRB InvlT Fund /A8 __ ...... _ .... _""'-.... '_Act •• ,, ____ .. .. -·IJU< ..... __ .... ·,_ .... ___ ~_01~ 

III . Il.ell.led I):I.-t )' o Ulsl:lllding ba!:m('cs 

Sr. No. 

1 

2 

• 

• 

(Rs in Jakhs) 

Ali on Ma rch 
As on 

As 011 Ma reh 
I~arlicul:lrs Rclalion 

3 1, 2023 September 
31,2022 

30, 2022 

Tnl.dc I' ayablcs 10.238.07 10,877.6" 1,037.62 

In vestment 
177.00 260.00 IRBFL Mana~cr 

647.33 

lRBlDL Project Manager 10.06 1.07 10,617.64 390.29 

Retention mo ncy p:lyllblr 342.24 95.32 -
IRBIDL Projcct Manager 342.24 95.32 -

During 1111.' IlBlf year ended March 3 1. 2023, pursuant 10 the Share Purchase Agreement dated October 13, 
2021. the Fund has acquired V" I Expressv.ay Limited from lRBIDL. 

Summary of valuation report dBled August 5. 2022 issued by the independent va llier under the SEBI 
(Invrl) Regulations is as fo llo\\5:-

Fair Enterprise value and equit) ... alue ofV K I as on July 3 1. 2022 is as under :. 
(Rs. In lakhs) 

Fai,. e llt('I"p rise Equit)" "lillie 
r"llme o f th e SPV (including I'a lu(' 

shareholder loan ) 

VKI 132540.00 37.670.00 

After con~ idering the afore:.ald Valuation Repon submitted by the rele\llm independent val uer and 
pursuant to the negot iations between the Investment Manager and the Sponsor, \'K I was acquired from the 
Sponsor. Tht' aggregate purc hase consideration agr~d upon ofRs. 34.200 lakhs \lllS utilised for aC(luisition 
of 1 Ooo Q of the equit)' share c11pil31 of VK 1 (lnd for Pll) ment of the shareholder loan provided 10 VK I by 
the Sponsor. This aggregate considera t ion is at - 90/0 discount to the Equity Value (i.e .. the value of the 
equit) and the shareholder loan o f the project). 

The project was acquirl.'d through external borrol' in~s of Rs. 18.800 lakhs and balAnce OUI of inlernal 
accrual s 

The foUo\ling approach and assumptions h:wc been considered for the \'3Iu3Iion c'«(,'fci~e;-

3. 11w Free Cash Flo\IS 10 Fiml under the Discounted Cash F10\\ Jl, lcthod has bct'n used for the purpose 
of, alu3tion of the above SPY. 

h_ rht1" \\ eightcd Avcmgc ('0:.1 of Capital for Ihe abo\C" SPV has been considered a .. Ilw di'icOUIlI rute for 
the :Ibm e SP\ for the purpo-.c of \ aluation. 



IRB InvlT Fund ,...,. __ ...... _ .. _ ... -...r ...... il£f, •• n_........-.. ... ___ -._ ... __ fn ...... _'11~ 

The Fund hat, nm acquired (lilY asset from rt'l:lIcd pan) during the previous )car ended March 31. 202:!. 

Fo r ll{1l InrraSl rucl ul'1.' Pl'ha le Lim ited 
(11I \'CSl nl CIl I 1\1:Inage r to IIl B I n \ IT Fu nd) 

~ .... ~ 
\lin od I Olll a r Mcno ll 
Whole time Director 

Place: Mumba i 
Date: May 8, 2023 
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Independent Auditors' Report on the Half Yearly and Year to date audited Standalone 
Financial Results of the Fund Pursuant to Regulation 23 of the SESI (Infrastructure 
Investment Trusts) Regulations, 2014, as amended 

To, 
The Soard of Directors 
IRS Infrastructure Private Limited 
(Investment Manager to IRS InvlT Fund) 
I RS Complex, Chandivali Farm, 
Chandivali Village, 
Andheri (East), 
Mumbai 400 072, India. 

Report on the audit of the Standalone Financial Results 

Opinion 

We have audited the accompanying Statement of standalone financial results of IRS InvlT Fund 
("Fund"), consisting of the Statement of Profit and Loss including Other Comprehensive Income, 
explanatory notes thereto and the additional disclosures as required in paragraph 6 of Annexure A to 
the SESI Circular No. CIRlIMD/DF/127/2016 dated November 29,2016 ("SESI Circular") for the half 
year and year ended March 31, 2023 ('the Statement') , attached herewith, being submitted by the 
Fund pursuant to the requirements of Regulation 23 of the SESI (Infrastructure Investment Trusts) 
Regulations, 2014, as amended from time to time read with SESI Circular. 

In our opinion and to the best of our information and according to the explanations given to us, the 
Statement: 

i. are presented in accordance with the requirements of Regulation 23 of SESI (Infrastructure 
Investment Trusts) Regulations, 2014, as amended, read with SESI Circular No. 
CIRlIMD/DF/127/2016 dated November 29,2016 in this regard; and 



ii. give a true and fair view in conformity with the applicable accounting standards and other 
accounting principles generally accepted in India, of the net profit and total comprehensive 
income and other financial information for the half year and year ended March 31, 2023. 

Basis for Opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with the Standards on Auditing (SAs) issued by Institute of 
Chartered Accountants of India ("ICA!"). Our responsibilities under those Standards are further 
described in the "Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Standalone Financial Results" section 
of our report. We are independent of the Fund in accordance with the Code of Ethics issued by the 
ICAI and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the ICAI's Code of 
Ethics. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide 
a basis for our opinion. 

Management's Responsibilities for the Standalone Financial Results 

The Statement has been prepared on the basis of the standalone annual financial statements. 
Management of IRS Infrastructure Private Limited (,Investment Manager') is responsible for the 
preparation and presentation of the standalone financial results that gives a true and fair view of the 
net profit and total comprehensive income and other financial information of the Fund in accordance 
with the requirements of SESI (Infrastructure Investment Trusts) Regulations, 2014, as amended 
from time to time ("the InvlT Regulations"); Indian Accounting Standards as defined in Rule 2(1)(a) of 
the Companies (Indian Accounting Standards) Rules, 2015 (as amended), and other accounting 
principles generally accepted in India, to the extent not inconsistent with InvlT regulations. This 
responsibility includes the design, implementation and maintenance of adequate internal financial 
controls for ensuring the accuracy and completeness of the accounting records, relevant to the 
preparation and presentation of the Statement that give a true and fair view and are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the Statement, the Management is responsible for assessing the Fund's ability to 
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using 
the going concern basis of accounting unless the management either intends to liquidate the Fund or 
to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so. 

The Investment Manager is also responsible for overseeing the Fund's financial reporting process. 

Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Standalone Financial Results 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the Statement as a whole is free 
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that 
includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not a guarantee that 
an audit conducted in accordance with SAs will always detect a material misstatement when it 
exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in 
the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users 
taken on the basis of the Statement. 



As part of an audit in accordance with SAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain 
professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also: 

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the Statement, whether due to fraud 
or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit 
evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not 
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from 
error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or 
the override of internal control. 

• Obtain an understanding of internal financial controls relevant to the audit in order to design 
audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of 
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of such controls. 

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of 
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by management. 

• Con dude on the appropriateness of management's use of the going concem basis of 
accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists 
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Fund's ability to 
continue as a going concern. If we condude that a material uncertainty exists, we are 
required to draw attention in our auditor's report to the related disdosures in the financial 
results or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our condusions are 
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor's report. However, future 
events or conditions may cause the Fund to cease to continue as a going concem. 

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the standalone financial results, 
including the disclosures, and whether the standalone financial results represent the 
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation. 

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned 
scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in 
internal control that we identify during our audit. 

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with 
relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all 
relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and 
where applicable, related safeguards. 



Other Matter 

The Statement includes the standalone financial results for the half year ended March 31,2023 being 
the balancing figures between the audited figures in respect of the full financial year ended March 
31,2023 and the published unaudited year-ta-date figures up to September 30,2022, being the date 
of the end of the first half of the current financial year, which were subject to limited review as 
required under Regulation 23 of the SEBI (Infrastructure Investment Trusts) Regulations, 2014 as 
amended from time to time read with SEBI Circular No. CIRlIMD/DF/127/2016 dated November 29, 
2016. 

FOR SURESH SURANA & ASSOCIATES LLP 
Chartered Accountants 
Firm's Reg. No. 121750WIW-100010 

t~IiI~/ 
Rame~Pta 
Partner 
Membership NO.:102306 
UDIN:«3\W366 BC7W\("\ AI1 q 1--6 
Place: Mumbai 
Dated: 08 May 2023 



Registered Office: IRB Complex, Chandivali 
Farm, Chandivali Village, Andheri (E), 
Mumbai - 400 072, Maharashtra India 
Tel: 022 6640 4299; Fax: 022 664042'74' 
E-mail: info@irbinvit.co.in;Website:~.irbinvit.co.in 
SEBI Registration Number: IN/lnvIT/1S-16/0001; 

RB 
IRB InvlT Fund 

,rAn irrevocabl: trust set up under the Indian Trusts Act, 1882, and registered as 
an Infrastructure Investment trust with the Securities and Exchange Board of India) 

Audited Standalone Financial Results for the half year and year ended March 31,2023 

SI'. 
No. 

Particulars 

1 Incomes and gains 

Interest on loan 

Profit on sale of investments 

Interest on income tax refund 

Interest on bank deposits 

Day one gain on fair valuation of loan fi'om 
subsidiaries 

Other income (changes in fair value gain I (loss» 

Total income and gains 

II Expenditure 

Valuation expenses 

Annual listing fee 

Audit fees 

Investment management fees (refer note b below) 

Trustee fees 

Finance cost (interest) 

Legal and professional cxpenses 

Impairment of investment in subsidiaries (net of 
Reversal) 

Other expenses* 

Total Expenses 

11\ Profit from ordinary activities before tax (I) - (II) 

IV Tax expense (current tax and deferred tax) I revcrsal 

V Profit for the period after income tax (III) - (IV) 

VI Itcms ofOthcr Comprehcnsi\'c Incomc 

VII Total Comprehensive Income (after tax) (V) + (VI) 

Six months 
ended 

March 31, 
2023 

(Audited -

Six months 
ended 

September 
30, 2022 

Refer note (Unaudited) 
7 (i» 

25.951.83 

386.09 

0.15 

12.33 

5.384.57 

67.92 

31,802.89 

9.12 

39.54 

6.94 

590.00 

14.75 

6.431.24 

87.86 

3.606.79 

0.86 

10,787.10 

21,015.79 

21,015.79 

21,015.79 

25,570.60 

124.28 

204.86 

25,899.74 

12.03 

39.75 

8.28 

590.00 

14.75 

5,193.20 

25.37 

915.71 

2.10 

6.80 l.l 9 

19,098.55 

19,098.55 

19,098.55 

Six months 
ended 

March 31, 
2022 

(Audited -
Refer note 

7 (ii» 

26,677.00 

70.23 

0.43 

89.93 

26,837.59 

10.94 

30.32 

6.91 

688.15 

14.75 

5,531.86 

18.06 

6.918.56 

0.05 

13,219.60 

13,617.99 

13,617.99 

13,617.99 

Year 
ended 

March 31, 
2023 

(Audited) 

51,522.43 

510.37 

0.15 

12.33 

5,384.57 

272. 78 

57,702.63 

21.15 

79.29 

15.22 

1,180.00 

29.50 

11,624.44 

113.23 

4.522.50 

2.96 

17,588.29 

40,114.34 

40,114.34 

40,114.34 

(Rs. In lakhs) 

Year 
ended 

March 31, 
2022 

(Audited) 

54,455.82 

112.28 

0.43 

199.51 

54,768.04 

22.06 

60.81 

15.49 

1,278.15 

29.50 

11,103.00 

32.14 

6,918.56 

6.78 

19,466.49 

35,301.55 

35,301.55 

35,301.55 

* Other expenses include bank charges, rates & taxes. communication cost. printing & stationary and other miscellaneous 

expenses. 



Notes: 
I. 

2. 

3. 

4. 

5. 

I 
IRB InvlT Fund 

.(An irrevocab/~ trust set up under tile Indian Trusts Act, 1882, and registered as 
an mfrastructure Investment trust with the Securities and Exchange Board of India) 

Investors can view the Financial Results of the IRB InvIT Fund (,Fund' or 'Trust') on the Trust's website 
(~~vw.irbirlYit.co.i!l) or on the websites of BSE (www.bseindia.com) or NSE (www.nseindia.com). 

The Audited Standalone Financial Results comprises of the Standalone Statement of profit and loss, explanatory 
notes thereto and additional disclosures as required in paragraph 6 of Annexure A to the SEBI Circular no. 
CIR/IMD/DFI127/2016 dated November 29, 2016 (,SEBI Circular') of IRB InvlT Fund (,Fund') for the half 
ycar ended March 31, 2023 and for the year ended March 31, 2023 ("Standalone Financial Results") being 
submitted by the Fund pursuant to the requirements of Regulation 23 of the SEB I (Infrastructure Investment 
Trusts) Regulations, 2014, as amended from time to time read with SEBI Circular. 

The Standalone Financial Results for the half year ended March 31, 2023 have been reviewed by the Audit 
Committee of the Investment Manager at their meeting held on May 08, 2023 and thereafter approved by the 
Board of Directors of the Investment Manager at their meeting held on May 08, 2023. 

Based on a review of the future discounted cash flows of the subsidiaries, the recoverable amount is higher than 
the carTying amount of the investments except for investments wherein provision for impairment aggregating to 
Rs. 4,522.50 Lakhs (six months ended March 31., 2023: Rs. 3,606.79 Lakhs, Six months ended September 30, 
2022: Rs. 915.71 Lakhs, six months ended March 31, 2022: Rs. 6,918.56 Lakhs, Year ended March 31, 2022: 
Rs. 6,918.56 Lakhs) has been recognized in the statement of profit and loss for the year ended March 31,2023. 

The Board of Directors of the Investment Manager have declared 4th Distribution of Rs.2.00 per unit which 
comprises of Rs.I. 70 per unit as interest and Rs. 0.30 per unit as return of capital in their meeting held on May 
08,2023. 

Total distribution made by the Fund is Rs. 8.05 per unit (including 1 st Distribution of Rs. 2.00 per unit, 2nd 

Distribution of Rs. 2.05 per unit, 3rd Distribution of Rs. 2.00 per unit) for the year ended March 31,2023. 

6. IRB InvIT Fund was registered as an irrevocable trust under the Indian Trusts Act, 1882 on October 16, 2015 
and as an infrastructure investment trust under the Securities and Exchange Board of India (Infrastructure 
Investment Trusts) Regulations, 2014 on March 14,2016. Units of IRB InvIT Fund have been listed on both the 
stock exchanges on May 18, 20 I 7. 

7. (i) The half yearly Standalone Financial Results for the half year ended March 3 I, 2023 are the derived figures 
between the audited figures in respect of the year ended March 31, 2023 and the published year-to-date figures 
up to September 30, 2022, being the date of the end of the first half of the curTent financial year, which were 
subject to limited review. The Standalone Financial Results for the half year ended March 31, 2023 and year 
ended March 31, 2023 have been prepared on the basis of the Standalone Financial Results for the half year 
ended September 30, 2022, the audited annual standalone financial statements as at and for the year ended 
March 31, 2023, and the relevant requirements of the SEBI (Infrastructure Investment Trusts) Regulations, 
2014, as amended from time to time read with SEBI Circular. 

(ii) The half yearly Standalone Financial Results for the half year ended March 31, 2022 are the derived figures 
between the audited figures in respect of the year ended March 31, 2022 and published year-to-date figures up to 
September 30, 2021, being the date of the end of the first half of the previous financial year, which were subject 
to limited review. 

8. Pursuant to the Share Purchase Agreement dated October 13, 2022, the Fund has acquired the subsidiary 
company viz. YK 1 Expressway Limited (' Project SPY') for an aggregate purchase consideration of Rs. 34.200 
lakhs towards 100% of the equity share capital of Project Spy and repayment of the shareholder loan to Project 
SPY. 



I 
IRB InvlT Fund 

.fAil irrevocable trust set up under the Indian Trusts Act, 1882, and registered as 
an Infrastructure investment trust with the Securities and Exchange Board of India) 

Additional Disclosures as required by Paragraph 6 of Annexure A to SEBI Circular No. CIR/IMD/DF/12712016: 

a) Net Distributable Cash Flows as at the Standalone Trust level 

Sr. No. 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

(Rs. In lakhs) 

Six Six Six 
Year 

months months months Year 

Particulars ended ended ended 
ended ended 

March 31, September March 31, 
March 31, March 31, 

2023 30,2022 2022 
2023 2022 

Cash noli's received hom Project SPYs in the form of 
28,091.24 19.892.08 20,109.50 47.983.32 41,284.74 

Interest (Refer note 1 & 2) 

Cash flows received from Project SPYs in the form of - - - - -Dividend 

Any other incomc accruing at the Trust level and not 
captured above, including but not limited to 

466.49 329.14 160.59 795.63 
interest/return on surplus cash invested by the Trust 

312.22 

Cash flolVs rcceived fi'om the project SPYs towards the 
repayment of the debt issued to the Project SPYs by the 4.482.00 14.411.37 18.463.58 18,893.37 31.022.75 
Trust (Refer note 3) 

Total cash inflow at the Trust level (A) 33,039.73 34,632.59 38,733.67 67,672.32 72,619.71 

Less: 

Any paymcnt of fees, interest and expense incurred at 
the Trust level. including but not limited to the fees of (6,995.0 I) (5,885.48) (6301.04) ( 12,880.49) (12,547.93 ) 
the iIwestment Manager 

Income tax (if applicable) at the Standalone Trust Level - - - - -
Repayment of external debt (2,712.50) (2.712.50) (2.712.50) (5.425.00) (5.425.00) 

Total cash outflows I retention at the Trust level (8) (9,707.51) (8,597.98) (9,013.54) (18,305.49) (17,972.93) 

Net Distributable Cash Flows (C) = (A+B) 23,332.22 26,034.61 29,720.13 49,366.83 54,646.78 

Notes: 

I) The embargo on the Escrow bank account for ITCTL was uplifted as per the Interim order of the Han 'ble Arbitral Tribunal. 
Ilowever. the withdrawals pertaining to past periods towards debt servicing of Rs. 11.193.00 lakhs (net of Rs. 4.402.39 
lakhs considered in earlier period) has not been considered in the above Net Distributable Cash Flow. The said accruals are 
utilised towards acquisition of YK I project. 

2) Excludes interest due but not received of Rs. 0:il. Rs. 5.678.53 lakhs. Rs. 6.567.50 lakhs. Rs. 3.539.11 lakhs and Rs. 
13.171.08 lakhs for the six months ended Mareh :\ I. 2023. six months ended September 30. 2022. six months ended Mareh 
3 I. 2022. year ended March 31. 2023 and year ended March 3 I. 2022. 

3) Netted ~ offwith disbursement of long-term unseeured loan to project SPV (Refer RPT note). 



I 
IRS InvlT Fund 

fAn irrevocabl.e trust set up under the Indian Trusts Act, 1882, and registered as 
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bl Pursuant to the Investment Management Agreement. the Investment Manager is entitled to an Investment Management fees to 
be calculakd @ 1% per annum, exclusive ofGST, of the consolidated toll revenue (net ofpremiul11 paid! revenue shared with 
NIIAI) of the Fund at the end of tile each quarter subject to a noor of Rs. 1.000 lakils and a cap of Rs. 2,500 lakhs. 

c) Statement of earnings per unit 

(Rs. in lakhs, except for unit data) 

Six months 
Six months 

Six months Year ended Year ended 
Particulars ended 

ended 
September 30, 

ended March 31, March 31, 
March 31, 2023 

2022 
March 31, 2022 2023 2022 

Profit for the period! year 21,015.79 19,098.55 13,617.99 40.1 14.34 35,301.55 

Number of units outstanding ftlr 
computation of basic and diluted earnings 580,500,000 580,500,000 580,500,000 580,500,000 580,500,000 
per unit 

Earnings per unit in Rs. (basic and 
3.62 3.29 2.34 6.91 6.08 diluted) 

d) Statement of contingent liabilities and commitments 
(Rs. In lakhs) 

Particulars 
As at As at As at 

March 31, 2023 September 30,2022 March 31, 2022 

Contingent liabilities Nil Nil Nil 

Commitments Nil Nil Nil 



I 
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(An irrevocable trust set up under the Indian Trusts Act, 1882, and registered as 
an infrastructure investment trust with the Securities and Exchange Board of India) 

c) Statement of Related party transactions 

I. List of Related Parties 

--
i. Subsidiaries/ SPVs IDAA Infrastructure Limited (IDAAIL) 

IRB Jaipur Deoli Tollway Limited (lJDTL) 

IRB Pathankot Amritsar Toll Road Limited (lPATRL) 

IRB Surat Dahisar Tollway Limited (ISDTL) 

IRB Talegaon Amravati Tollway Limited (lTATL) 

IRB Tumkur Chitradurga Tollway Limited (ITCTL) 

M.V.R. Infrastructure & Tollways Limited (MITL) 

VK 1 Expressway Limited (VK 1) (w.e.f. October 13,2022) 

ii. Parties to the Fund * IRB Infrastructure Developers Limited (lRBIDL) (Sponsor & Project 
Manager) 

IRB Infrastructure Private Limited (lRBFL) (Investment Manager) 

IDBI Trusteeship Services Limited (lTSL) (Trustee) 

* As per SEBI (Infrastructure Investment Trusts) Regulations, 2014 

iii. Promoters / Directors of the parties to the Fund specified in (ii) above 

Particulars 

Promoters 

Directors 

IRB Infrastructure DevClopers 
Limited (Sponsor & Project 

manager) 

Mr. Virendra D. Mhaiskar 

Mrs. Dccpali V. Mhaiskar 

Vircndra D. Mhaiskar HUF 

Mr. Vircndra D. Mhaiskar 

Mrs. Dcepali V. Mhaiskar 

Mr. Chandrashekhar S. Kaplan 

i\1r. Sunil H. Talati 

Mr. Sandeep .I. Shah 

Mr. .lose Angel Tamariz Martel Goncer 
(w.c. r. 29.12.2021 ) 

Ms. Priti Savla ( lV.e.r. 10.02.2022 ) 
Mr. Ravindra Dhariwal (\I.e.r. 
05.08.2022) 

Mr. Mukeshlal Gupta (till 29.12.2021) 

Mr. Sudhir Rao Iloshing ( till 
29.12.2021 ) 
tvlrs. Beena Raja ( till I (J.()2.2022 ) 
l\jr. Cari0s nicaj\!~) lJt:~lj"::': Cruz Coke { 
!:11 fl)J''!.?()'? ) 

IRB Infrastructure 
Private Limited 

(Investment manager) 

IRB InJl'astructure 
Developers Limited 

Mr. Vinod Kumar Menon 

Mr. Rajinder Pal Singh 

Mr. Sunil Tandon 

Mr. Nikesh .lain 
(IV.e.r 16.03.2022 ) 
Mr. Rushabh Gandhi 
(lI.e.n 1.03.2023) 

Mrs.Anllsha Date 
(w.e.f31.03.2023) 

IDBI Trusteeship Servic.es 
Limited 

(Trustee of the IRB InvIT 
Fund) 

lOBI Bank Limited 
Life Insurance Corporation of 
India 
Genera! Insurance Corporation of 
India 
Mr. J.Samucl Joseph 
Mrs . .Iayshree Ranade (IV.c.r 
20.09.2021 ) 
Mr. Pradeep Kumar Jain (IV.C.r. 
24.03.2022) 
Mr. Pradcep Kumar Malhotra ( 
\\ .e. r 17.01.2023) 
Mrs. Baljinder Kaur Mandai ( 
w.e. r 17.c) 1.2(23) 

Mr. Satya,jit Tripalhy ( till 
17.09.2021) 

Mr. Ravishankar C. Shindc ( till 
15.03.2022) 

Mrs. Madhuri .J. Kulkarni ( till 
06.12.2022) 

Mrs. Padm<l Bctai ( till 
31.12.2022 ) 



II. Tl'ansactions with l'e1ated parties 

Six months 

Sr. ended 

No, 
Particulars Relation 

March 31, 
2023 

1 
Repayment of secured loan (Long 400.01 
term) 
IJDTL Subsidiary 200.00 

IPATRL Subsidiary 200.00 

MITL Subsidiary 0.01 

2 Unsecured loans given (Long term) 45,947.80 

l.lOTL Subsidiary 5,938.00 
IPATRL Subsidiary 6,1 13.00 

ITATL Subsidiary 4.089.00 
ITCTL Subsidiary 12.895.00 

YKI Subsidiary 16.912.80 

3 
Repayment of unsecured loan (Long 4,425.00 
term) 
[SOTL Subsidiary -

IJDTL Subsidiary -
IDAAIL Subsidiary -
ITATL SubsidiaJ), -

MITL Subsidiary 4.425.00 

4 Unsecured loans given (Short term) 7,448.91 
ISOTL Subsidiary -
IJOTL Subsidiary 57.00 

IDAAIL Subsidiary -
IPATRL Subsidiary 1,959.20 

ITATL Subsidiary 1267.2 I 

ITCTL Subsidiary 3.655.00 

MITL Subsidiary 510.50 

5 
Repayment of unsecured loan given 4,304.00 
(Short tel'm) 
ISOTL Subsidiary -

IJDTL Subsidiary -

IDAAIL Subsidiary -

ITCTL Subsidiary 3.000.00 

MITL Subsidiary 1.304.00 

6 Unsecured loan taken (Long term) 28,692.00 

ISDT!. Subsidiary 11.204.00 

IDAAIL Subsidiary 17.488.00 

I 
. IRB InvlT Fund 

.fAn Irrevocab/~ trust set up under the Indian Trusts Act, 1882, and registered as 
an Infrastructure Investment tnlst witl! the Securities and Exchange Board of India) 

(Rs. In lakhs) 

Six months Six months 
Year ended Year ended 

ended ended 
September March 31, March 31, March 31, 

30,2022 2022 2023 2022 

9,621.37 1,010,06 10,021.38 3,910.93 

3.562.07 296.52 3,762.07 593.04 
2,748.51 149.77 2.948.5 I 299.53 
3,310.79 563.77 3310.80 3,018.36 

- - 45,947.80 -
- - 5,938.00 -
- - 6,1 \3.00 -
. - 4.089.00 -
- - 12.895.00 -
- - 16.912.80 . 

4,790.00 17,453.52 9,215.00 27,111.82 

- 3,431.23 - 11,006.23 
- 8,000.00 - 8,000.00 
- 2,083.29 - 4,166.58 
- 2,900.00 - 2,900.00 

4,790.00 1,039.00 9.215.00 1,039.01 

3,467.00 27,173.00 10,915.91 46,063.00 
- 7,115.00 12,000.00 
- 5,886.00 57.00 8,336.00 
- 392.00 392.00 
- - \.959.20 -

2,756.00 - 4.023.2 I -
- - 3.655.00 -

711.00 13.780.00 1.221.50 25,335.00 

1,927.70 29,844.00 6,23 I. 70 45,942.00 

- 16.468.00 - 24J6500 
- 5.886.00 - 8.336.00 
- 392.00 - 392.00 
- - 3.000.00 -

1.927.70 7.098.00 3.231.70 12.849.00 

- - 28,692.00 -
- - 1 1.204.00 -
- - 17.488.00 -



Six months 

Sr. ended 

No. 
Particulars Relation 

March 31, 
2023 

7 I ntcrcst income 25,968.53 

ISDTL Subsidiary -

IJDTL Subsidiary 6247.26 

IDAAIL Subsidiary -

IPATRL Subsidiary 6.989.09 

ITATL Subsidiary 3.081.89 

ITCTL Subsidiary 6.637.01 

MITL Subsidiary 2.11 1.00 

VKI Subsidiary 902.28 

8 
Other income - Day one gain on fair 5,384.58 
valuation of loan from subsidiaries 
ISDTL Subsidiary 2,588.49 
IDAAIL Subsidiary 2,796.09 

9 
Finance cost - Interest unwinding on 185.30 
loan 
ISDTL Subsidiary 12.93 
IDAAIL Subsidiary 172.37 

10 
I nvcstment Management fees 590.00 
(including indirect taxes) 

IRBFL 
Investment 590.00 
Manager 

11 Distribution in the form of interest 3,203.10 
Sponsor & 

IRBIDL Project 2.781.15 
Manager 

Director of 

Mr. Virendra D. Mhaiskar 
Sponsor & 367.20 

Project 
Manager 

Director of 

Mrs. Deepali V. Mhaiskar 
Sponsor & 48.75 

Project 
Manager 

Director of 

Mr. Sudhir Rao Jloshing 
Sponsor & 4.80 

Project 
Manager 

I 
IRB InvlT Fund 

(An irrevocable trust set up under the Indian Trusts Act, 1882, and registered as 
an infrastructure investment trust with the Securities and Exchange Board of India) 

Six months Six months 
Yeal' ended Year ended 

ended ended 
September March 31, March 31, March 31, 

30,2022 2022 2023 2022 

25,586.83 26,692.39 51,555.36 54,485.72 

- 413.98 - 2.039.73 

6.293.19 7,102.73 12.540.45 14,119.76 

- 134.66 - 365.85 

6.953.21 7.011.60 13.942.30 14.073.71 

2.987.76 2.889.59 6,069.65 5,891.65 

6.603.58 6.567.50 13240.59 13.171.08 

2.749.09 2.572.33 4,860.09 4.823.94 

- - 902.28 -

- - 5,384.58 -
- - 2,588.49 -
- - 2,796.09 -

- - 185.30 -

- - 12.93 -
- - 172.37 -

590.00 688.15 1,180.00 1,278.15 

590.00 Mi8.IS 1,180.00 1.278.15 

2,560.68 2,SS8.76 5,763.78 5,6S2.92 

2.224.92 2.224.92 5.006.07 4.913.37 

293.76 293.76 660.96 648.72 

37.20 37.20 85.95 82.15 

3.84 1.92 8.64 6.56 



Six months 

Sr. ended 

No. 
Particulars Relation 

March 31, 
2023 

Director of 

Mr. Sunil Talati 
Sponsor & 

Project 
0.30 

Manager 
Director of 

Mr. Vinod Kumar Menon Investment 0.90 
Manager 

12 Distribution in form of capital 1,121.09 
Sponsor & 

IRBIDL Project 973.40 
Manager 

Director of 

Mr. Virendra D. Mhaiskar 
Sponsor & 128.52 

Project 
Manager 

Director of 

Mrs. Deepali V. Mhaiskar 
Sponsor & 17.06 

Project 
Manager 

Director of 

Mr. Sudhir Rao Hoshing 
Sponsor & 1.68 

Project 
Manager 

Director of 

Mr. Sunil Talati 
Sponsor & 0.11 

Project 
Manager 

Director of 
Mr. Vinod Kumar Menon Investment 0.32 

Manager 

I3 Trustee fec 14.75 

ITSL Trustee 14.75 

I 
IRS InvlT Fund 

(An irrevocable trust set up under the Indian Trusts Act, 1882, and registered as 
an infrastructure investment trust with the Securities and Exchange Board of India) 

Six months Six months 
Year ended Yea,' ended 

ended ended 
September March 31, March 31, March 31, 

30,2022 2022 2023 2022 

0.24 0.24 0.54 0.53 

0.72 0.72 1.62 1.59 

2,347.29 2,345.37 3,468.38 3,839.10 

2.039.5 I 2,039.51 3.012.91 3,337.38 

269.28 269.28 397.80 440.64 

34.10 34.10 51.16 55.80 

3.52 1.60 5.20 3.84 

0.22 0.22 0.33 0.36 

0.66 0.66 0.98 1.08 

14.75 I·U5 29.50 29.50 

14.75 14.75 29.50 29.50 



II I. Related party outstanding balances 

Sr. No. Particulars Relation 

1 Equity Investment 

ISDTL Subsidiary 

IJDTL Subsidiary 

IDAAIL Subsidiary 

IPATRL Subsidiary 

ITATL Subsidiary 

ITCTL Subsidiary 

MITL Subsidiary 

VKI Subsidiary 

2 SubOl'dinated debt 

!JDTL Subsidiary 

IPATRL Subsidiary 

ITATL Subsidiary 

ITCTL Subsidiary 

3 Secured loan receivable (Long term) 

!JOri. Subsidiary 

IPATRI Subsidiary 

ITATL Subsidiary 

ITCTL Subsidiary 

MITL Subsidiary 

4 l: nsecu red loan recei"able (Long term) 

ImTL Subsidiary 

JPATRL Subsidiary 

ITATL Subsidiary 

ITCTL Subsidiary 

MIT! Subsidiary 

VKI Subsidiary 

I 
. IRB InvlT Fund 

,fAn trrevocabJ.e trust set up IJnd~r the Indian Trusts Act, 1882, and registered as 
all Infrastructure Investment trust with the Securities and Exc/1ange Board of India) 

(Rs. In lakhs) 

As on 
As on 

Ason 
September 30, 

March 31,2023 
2022 

March 31, 2022 

1,44,850.08 1,27,505.48 1 ,27,505.48 

53.232.48 53,232.48 53,232.48 

13.175.00 13,175.00 13,175.00 

19.812.00 19,812.00 19.812.00 

9,909.00 9,909.00 9.909.00 

4.925.00 4,925.00 4.925.00 

15.550.00 15,550.00 15.550.00 

10.902.00 10.902.00 10,902.00 

17,344.60 - -

99,431.00 99,431.00 99,431.00 

39,525.00 39.525.00 39,525.00 

29,581.00 29,581.00 29,581.00 

14.775.00 14,775.00 14,775.00 

15,550.00 15,550.00 15.550.00 

3,16,415.51 3,16,815.51 3,26,436.88 

g7.713.63 87,913.63 91.475.70 

8<).65337 89,853.37 92,601.88 

37.153.84 37.153.84 37.153.84 

93.712.76 93.712,76 93.712.76 

8.18191 8.181.91 11.492.70 

87,941.18 46,418.38 51,208.38 

12.845.71 6.907.71 6.907.71 

2.! .603J14 15.490.04 15.490.04 

i ll.094.4 7 6.005.47 6.005.47 

20.233.07 7.338.07 7.338.07 

6.252.09 10.677.09 15.467.09 

16.<)12.80 - -
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As on 
As on As on Sr. No. Particulars Relation September 30, 

March 31, 2023 March 31, 2022 

5 

6 

7 

8 

2022 

Unsecured loan receivable (Short term) 20,899.11 17,754.20 16,214.90 

IJDTL Subsidiary 57.00 - -
IPATRL Subsidiary 1.959.20 - -
ITATL Subsidiary 4,023.21 2,756.00 -
ITCTL Subsidiary 920.20 265.20 265.20 

MITL Subsidiary 13,939.50 1033.00 15,949.70 

Interest receivable 18,688.28 20,827.69 30,744.56 

ITCTL Subsidiary 18,688.28 20.827.69 30.744.56 

Unsecured loan receivable (Short term) 23,492.72 - -

ISDTL Subsidiary 8.628.44 - -
IDAAIL Subsidiary 14.864.28 - -

Trade payables 
177.00 260.00 647.33 

IRBFL 
Investment 

177.00 260.00 647.33 Manager 

• During the half year ended March 31, 2023, pursuant to the Share Purchase Agreement dated October 13, 2022, the 
Fund has acquired YKI from IRBlDL. 

Summary of valuation report dated August 5, 2022 issued by the independent valuer under the SCJ3I (InvIT) 

Regulations is as follows :-

Fair Enterprise val ue and equity value of V K I as on July 31, 2022 is as under :-

( Rs. in lakhs) 



I 
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After considering the aforesaid Valuation Report submitted by the relevant independent valuer and pursuant to the negotiations 

between the Investment Manager and the Sponsor, VK I was acquired from the Sponsor. The aggregate purchase consideration 

agreed upon ofRs. 34,200 lakhs was utilised for acquisition of 100% of the equity share capital ofVKI and for payment of the 

shareholder loan provided to VK I by the Sponsor. This aggregate consideration is at ~ 9% discount to the Equity Value (i.e., the 

value of the equity and the shareholder loan of the project). 

The project was acquired through external borrowings of Rs. 188,00 lakhs and balance out of internal accruals. 

• The following approach and assumptions have been considered for the valuation exercise:-

a. The Free Cash Flows to Firm under the Discounted Cash Flow Method has been used for the purpose of valuation 
of the above SPY. 

b. The Weighted Average Cost of Capital for the above Spy has been considered as the discount rate for the above 
SPY for the purpose of valuation. 

The Fund has not acquired any asset from related party during the previous year ended March 31, 2022. 

Fo," IRB Infrastructure Pl"ivate Limited 
(Investment Manager to IRB InvlT Fund) 

Vinod Kumar Menon 
Whole time Director 

Place: Mumbai 
Date: May 08, 2023 



INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT 

To The Unit holders of IRB InvlT Fund 

Report on the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements 

Opinion 

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of IRB InvlT Fund 
(hereinafter referred to as "the Fund") and its subsidiaries (the Fund and its subsidiaries together 
referred to as "the Group"), which comprise the consolidated Balance Sheet as at March 31, 2023, 
the consolidated Statement of Profit and Loss (including other comprehensive income), the 
consolidated Statement of Changes in Unit Holders' Equity and the consolidated Statement of 
cash flows for the year then ended, and the consolidated Statement of Net Assets at fair value as 
at March 31, 2023, the consolidated Statement of Total Returns at fair value and the Statement of 
Net Distributable Cash Flows ('NDCFs') of the Fund and each of its subsidiaries for the year then 
ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements including a summary of significant 
accounting policies and other explanatory information (hereinafter referred to as "the consolidated 
financial statements"). 

I n our opinion and to the best of our information and according to the explanations given to us and 
based on the consideration of reports of other auditors on separate financial statements and on the 
other financial information of the subsidiaries, the aforesaid consolidated financial statements give the 
information required by the Securities and Exchange Board of India (Infrastructure Investment Trusts) 
Regulations, 2014 as amended from time to time including any guidelines and circulars issued 
thereunder, in the manner so required and give a true and fair view in conformity with Indian Accounting 
Standards (Ind AS) and/or any addendum thereto as defined in the Rule 2(1 )(a) of the Companies 
(Indian Accounting Standards) Rules, 2015 and other accounting principles generally accepted in India, 
of the consolidated state of affairs of the Group as at March 31, 2023, its consolidated profit and total 
comprehensive income, its consolidated movement of the unit holders' funds and its consolidated cash 
flows for the year ended March 31, 2023, its consolidated net assets at fair value as at March 31, 
2023, its consolidated total retums at fair value and the net distributable cash flows of the Fund and 
each of its subsidiaries for the year ended March 31, 2023. 

Basis of Opinion 

We conducted our audit of consolidated financial statements in accordance with the Standards on 
Auditing (SAs) issued by Institute of Chartered Accountants of India ("I CAl"). Our responsibilities 
under those Standards are further described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the 
Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group in 



accordance with the Code of Ethics issued by ICAI and we have fulfilled our other ethical 
responsibilities in accordance with the ICAl's Code of Ethics. We believe that the audit evidence 
we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion on the 
consolidated financial statements. 

Key Audit Matters 

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in 
our audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period. These matters were 
addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in 
forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. We have 
determined the matters described below to be the key audit matters to be communicated in our 
report. 

Sr. No. Key Audit Matter 

1 Assessing Impairment of Intangible assets 
(note 3.21 and 4) 

The Group operates toll assets which is 
constructed on Build Operate and Transfer 
(BOT) basis. The carrying value of the toll 
collection rights as at March 31, 2023 is Rs. 
1,069,052.69 Lakhs. In accordance with its 
accounting policy and requirements under Ind 
AS 36 "Impairment of Assets", the 
Management has performed an impairment 
assessment by comparing the carrying value 
of the toll collection rights to their recoverable 
amount. For impairment testing, value in use 
has been determined by forecasting and 
discounting future cash flows. Further, the 
value in use is highly sensitive to changes in 
critical variable used for forecasting the future 
cash flows including traffic projections and 
discounting rates. The determination of the 
recoverable amount of the toll collection right 
involves significant judgment and accordingly, 
the evaluation of impairment of toll collection 
rights has been determined as a key audit 
matter. 

Also, refer Note 4 to the consolidated 
financial statements 

How our audit addressed the key audit 
matter 
Our audit procedures included the 
following: 

- Assessed the appropriateness of 
the Fund's valuation methodology 
applied in determining the 
recoverable amount. In making 
this assessment, we also 
evaluated the objectivity, 
independence and competency of 
specialists involved in the 
process. 

- Assessed, based on the report of 
external expert, the assumptions 
around the key drivers of the cash 
flow forecasts, discount rates, 
revenue projection based on the 
independent expert's traffic study 
reports after considering the 
impact on account of COVID-19 
scenario, etc. 

- Assessed the appropriateness of 
the weighted average cost of 
capital used in the determining 
recoverable amount by engaging 
valuation expert. 

- Discussed/Evaluated potential 
changes in key drivers as 
compared to previous year / 
actual performance with 
management in order to evaluate 



2 Toll revenue in respect of toll collection 
under the Service Concession Agreement 

The Group's right to collect toll under the 
concession agreement with National Highway 
(NHAI) Authority of India falls within the scope 
of Appendix C of Ind AS 115, "Service 
Concession Arrangements". The Group 
operates and earns revenue by collecting toll 
on the road constructed. This involves cash 
collection and automated toll collection using 
customized equipment installed at the toll 
plazas for correctly identifying vehicle type, 
calculating fare and for appropriate billing and 
collection. The Group uses information 
technology systems for the related automated 
and IT dependent controls. 

Refer Note 3.8 and Note 21 to the 
consolidated financial statements 

whether the inputs and 
assumptions used in the cash flow 
forecasts were suitable, including 
considerations due to current 
economic and market conditions 
including effects of COVIO- 19 
pandemic. 

Assessed the recoverable value 
headroom by performing 
sensitivity analysis of key 
assumptions used. 

Tested the arithmetical accuracy 
of the model. 

Our audit procedures included the 
following: 

Obtained an understanding of the 
processes and control placed for 
toll collection and evaluating the 
key controls around such process 
and testing those controls for the 
operating effectiveness. 

Checked a selection of 
Information Technology General 
Controls (ITGCs) supporting the 
integrity of the tolling system 
operation, including access, 
operations and change 
management controls. 

Verified the reconciliation of toll 
collection as per transaction report 
(generated from toll system) with 
cash deposited in bank and 
revenue recorded in the books. 

- Reviewed the management 
rationalization, by multiplying that 
toll rate charged for each category 
of vehicle as per NHAl's 
notification with the number of 
vehicles (as per Schedule M 
submitted with NHAI) and its 
reconciliation with the revenue 
recorded in accounts. 



~-----~----------------------'----------------,------~---~--~-~-~~~~----~-, I - On test check basis, traced the 

3 

4 

Provisioning for resurfacing expense 

As per the Concession Agreement, the Group 
is obligated to carry out resurfacing of the 
roads. The Group estimates the provision 
required towards resurfacing in accordance 
with Ind AS 37 "Provisions, Contingent 
Liabilities and Contingent Assets. The 
estimate made by the Group over the 
concession period, involves detailed 
calculation and judgment. In view of the nature 
of provision and amount involved, the 
provision for resurfacing expense is 
considered to be a key audit matter. 

Refer Note 3.17, Note 16 and Note 38 to the 
consolidated financial statements. 

Computation and disclosures as 
prescribed in the InvlT regulations relating 
to Statement of Net Assets and Total 
Returns at Fair Value 

(As described in note 38 and in Statement of 
Net assets at fair value and Statement of total 
returns at fair value of the consolidated 
financial statements) 

As per the provisions of InvlT Regulations, the 
Fund is required to disclose Statement of Net 
Assets at Fair Value and Statement of Total 
Returns at Fair Value which requires fair 
valuation of assets. For this purpose, fair 
value is determined by forecasting and 
discounting future cash flows. The inputs to 
the valuation models are taken from 

daily collection from bank 
statement to daily cash toll 
collected and the revenue 
recorded in the books. 

Performed analytics procedures 
on transactions to detect unusual 
transactions for further 
examination. 

- Performed revenue cut off 
procedures. 

Our audit procedures included the 
following: 

Understood the Group's process 
associated with the estimation of 
resurfacing obligation. 

Verified the requirement under 
Concession Agreement and 
Group's policies. 

Tested the assumption used in 
determining the resurfacing 
provisions. 

- Tested the arithmetical accuracy I 
and also verified the disclosure in 
the consolidated financial 
statements. 

Our audit procedures include the 
following-

Read the requirements of SEBI InvlT 
regulations for disclosures relating to 
Statement of Net Assets at Fair Value 
and Statement of Total Retums at Fair 
Value. 

Assessed the appropriateness of 
independent valuer's and 
management's valuation methodology 
applied in determining the fair values. 

Tested controls implemented by 
management to determine inputs for 
fair valuation as well as assumptions 
used in the fair valuation. 



observable markets where possible, but 
where this is not feasible, a degree of 
judgement is required in establishing fair 
values. Judgements include considerations of 
inputs such as WAee, Tax rates, Inflation 
rates etc. 

Accordingly, the aforementioned computation 
and disclosures are determined to be a key 
audit matter in our audit of the consolidated 
financial statements. 

We involved valuation specialists to: 

a) Assess the valuation reports issued 
by the independent valuer engaged 
by the management and compared 
key property related data used as 
input with actual data. 

b) Assess the key assumptions 
included in the cash flow forecasts 
by management and independent 
valuer, including considerations due 
to current economic and market 
conditions including effects of 
eOVID-19 pandemic. 

c) Discuss changes in key drivers as 
compared to actual performance 
with management in order to 
evaluate whether the inputs and 
assumptions used in the valuation 
models by management and 
independent valuer were 
reasonable, including 
considerations due to current 
economic and market conditions 
including effects of eovi D-19 
pandemic. 

Tested the arithmetical accuracy of 
computation in the Statement of Net 
Assets and Total Returns at Fair Value 

Read/Assessed the disclosures in the 
standalone financial statements for 
compliance with the relevant 
requirements of InvlT Regulations. 

Information Other than the Consolidated Financial Statements and Auditor's Report Thereon 

The management of IRS Infrastructure Private Limited ("Investment Manager") is responsible for the 
preparation of the other information. The other information comprises the information included in the 
Management Discussion and Analysis, Investment Manager's Report including Annexures to 
Investment Manager's Report and Investment Manager's Information, but does not include the 
consolidated financial statements and our auditor's report thereon. 

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and we do 
not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon. 



In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the 
other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent 
with the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained during the course of our audit or 
otherwise appears to be materially misstated. 

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this 
other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard. 

Management's Responsibility for the Consolidated Financial Statements 

Investment Manager is responsible for the preparation of these consolidated financial statements that 
give a true and fair view of the consolidated financial position as at March 31, 2023, consolidated 
financial performance including other comprehensive income, consolidated movement of the unit 
holders' funds and the consolidated cash flows for the year ended March 31, 2023, its consolidated 
net assets at fair value as at March 31, 2023, its consolidated total returns at fair value of the Fund 
and the net distributable cash flows of the Fund and each of its subsidiaries in accordance with 
accounting principles generally accepted in India, including the Indian Accounting Standards (Ind AS) 
and/or any addendum thereto as defined in Rule 2(1 )(a) of the Companies (Indian Accounting 
Standards) Rules, 2015, as amended read with the Securities and Exchange Board of India 
(Infrastructure Investment Trusts) Regulations, 2014 as amended from time to time including any 
guidelines and circulars issued thereunder (together referred to as the "lnvlT Regulations"). 

The respective Board of Directors of the companies included in the Group are responsible for 
maintenance of adequate accounting records in accordance with the provisions of the Act for 
safeguarding of the assets of the up and for preventing and detecting frauds and other irregularities; 
the selection and application of appropriate accounting policies; making judgments and estimates that 
are reasonable and prudent; and the design, implementation and maintenance of adequate intemal 
financial controls, that were operating effectively for ensuring the accuracy and completeness of the 
accounting records, relevant to the preparation and presentation of the consolidated financial 
statements that give a true and fair view and are free from material misstatement, whether due to 
fraud or error, which have been used for the purpose of preparation of the consolidated financial 
statements by the management of the Fund, as aforesaid. 

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the respective Board of Directors of the 
Companies included in the Group are responsible for assessing the ability of the Group to continue as 
a going concem, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concem and using the going 
concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Group or to cease 
operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so. 

The respective Board of Directors of the Companies included in the Group are also responsible for 
overseeing the financial reporting process of the Group. 

Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements 
as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's 
report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a 
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with SAs will always detect a material misstatement 
when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or 



in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken 
on the basis of these consolidated financial statements. 

As part of an audit in accordance with SAs, we exerase professional judgment and maintain 
professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also: 

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial 
statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive 
to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is suffiaent and appropriate to provide a basis 
for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is 
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional 
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 

• Obtain an understanding of intemal financial controls relevant to the audit in order to design 
audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of 
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of such controls. 

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of 
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by management. 

• Conclude on the appropriateness of management's use of the going concem basis of 
accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists 
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the ability of the Group to 
continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are 
required to draw attention in our auditor's report to the related disclosures in the consolidated 
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our 
conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor's report. 
However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going 
concern. 

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial 
statements, including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements 
represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation. 

• Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities 
or business activities within the Group of which we are the independent auditors, to express 
a opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for the direction, 
supervision and performance of the audit of the financial statements of such entities included 
in the consolidated financial statements of which we are the independent auditors. For 
companies included in the consolidated financial statements, which have been audited by 
other auditors, such other auditors remain responsible for the direction, supervision and 
performance of the audits carried out by them. We remain solely responsible for our audit 
opinion. 



Materiality is the magnitude of misstatements in the consolidated financial statements that, 
individually or in aggregate, makes it probable that the economic decisions of a reasonably 
knowledgeable user of the financial statements may be influenced. We consider quantitative 
materiality and qualitative factors in (i) planning the scope of our audit work and in evaluating the 
results of our work; and Oi) to evaluate the effect of any identified misstatements in the consolidated 
financial statements. 

We communicate with those charged with govemance of the Fund included in the consolidated 
financial statements of which we are the independent auditors regarding, among other matters, the 
planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant 
deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit. 

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with 
relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all 
relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and 
where applicable, related safeguards. 

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine those matters 
that were of most Significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current 
period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor's report 
unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare 
circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the 
adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest 
benefits of such communication. 

Other matters 

We did not audit the financial statements and other financial information of 8 subsidiaries, whose 
financial statements reflect total assets of Rs. 1,285,179.12 Lakhs and net assets of Rs. 88,223.59 
Lakhs as at March 31,2023, total revenues of Rs 148,839.92 Lakhs and net cash inflows amounting 
to Rs. 7,866.34 Lakhs for the year ended on that date, as considered in the consolidated financial 
statements before giving effect to elimination of intra-group transactions. These financial statements 
and other financial information have been audited by other auditors whose reports have been 
furnished to us by the management and our opinion on the consolidated financial statements, in so 
far as it relates to the amounts and disclosures included in respect of these subsidiaries and our 
report in terms of InvlT regulations, in so far as it relates to the aforesaid subsidiaries is based solely 
on the reports of the other auditors. 

Our opinion above on the consolidated financial statements, and our reports on the Legal and 
Regulatory Requirements below, is not modified in respect of the above matters with respect to our 
reliance on the work done and reports of the other auditors. 

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements 

Based on our audit and as required by InvlT Regulations, we report that; 

a) We have obtained all the information and explanations which, to the best of our knowledge 
and belief were necessary for the purpose of our audit; 



b) The Consolidated Balance Sheet, and the Consolidated Statement of Profit and Loss 
including other comprehensive income dealt with by this report are in agreement with the 
books of account maintained for the purpose of preparation of the consolidated financial 
statements; and 

c) In our opinion, the aforesaid consolidated financial statements comply with the Accounting 
Standards (Ind AS) and/or any addendum thereto as defined in Rule 2(1 )(a) of the 
Companies (Indian Accounting Standards) Rules, 2015, as amended. 

FOR SURESH SURANA & ASSOCIATES LLP 
Chartered Accountants 
Firm's Reg. No. 121750W/w-100010 

Ramesh Gu ta 
Partner 

Membership No.:102306 
Place: Mumbai 
UDIN: 2310230 f>8C;"W KSX6Cj'15 

Dated: 08 May 2023 



IRB InvIT Fund 
Consolidated Balance sheet as at March 31, 2023 

ASSETS 
Non-current assets 
Property, plant and equipment 
Intangible assets 

Intangible assets under development 

Financial assets 
Investments 
Other financial assets 

Total non-current assets 

Current assets 
Financial assets 

i) Investments 
ii) Cash and cash equivalents 
iii) Bank balances other than (ii) above 
iv) Loans 
v) Other financial assets 

J ncome tax assets (net) 
Other current assets 
Total current assets 

Total assets 

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 

Equity 

Initial settlement amount 
Unit capital 
Other equity 
Total equity 

Non-current liabilities 
Financial liabilities 

i) Borrowings 
ii) Other tinancialliabilities 

Provisions 
Deferred tax liabilities (net) 
Other non-current liabilities 
Total non-current liabilities 

Current liabilities 
Financial liabilities 

i) Borrowings 
ii) Trade payables 
a) Total outstanding dues of micro enteqmses and 
small enterprises 

b) Total outstanding dues of creditors other than 
micro enterprises and small enterprises 

iii) Other tinancialliabilities 
Other current liabilities 
Provisions 
Total current liabilities 

Total liabilities 
Total equity and liabilities 

Summary of signillcant accounting policies 

Notes 

4 
4 

4 

5 
6 

5 
7 
8 
9 
6 
10 
II 

12 
12 
13 

14 
15 
16 
17 
18 

19 
20 

15 
18 
16 

3 

As at 
March 31, 2023 

102.63 

10.69,052.69 

0.40 
1,16,684.68 

11,85,840.40 

18,499.74 
2,325.38 
1,275.76 

5.93 
33,424.85 

613.54 
9,916.52 

66,061.72 

12,51,902.12 

0.10 
4,91,393.25 
(90,75966) 

4,00,633.69 

2,92,935.86 
4,87,397.96 

6,306.80 

13.23606 
7,99,876.68 

10,867.00 

1438 

10.744.35 

27,331.58 
872.59 

1.561.85 
51,391.75 

8,51,268.43 
12,51,902.12 

(Rs. in Lakhs) 

As at 
March 31, 2022 

106.55 

10,95,040.42 

142.98 

0.40 

10,95,290.35 

21,510.86 
1,432.43 

67,592.29 
3.91 

9,221.85 
611.72 
103.64 

1,00,476.70 

11,95,767.05 

0.10 
5J 0,259.50 
(96.341.29) 

4,13,918.31 

1,84,165.14 
5,07,727.80 

1,498.49 
37.51 

6,93,428.94 

5,42500 

12.83 

1.981.51 

79,430.16 
270.84 

1.299.46 
88,419.80 

7,81,848.74 
11 ,95,767.05 

See accompanying notes to the consolidated lInancial statements. 

As per our report of even date For and on hehalf of IRB Infrastrnctul'e Private Limited 

For Suresh SUI'ana & Associates LLP (investment Manager of IRB InvIT Fund) 

Chartered Accountants 

Finn's ~g no. 121 

lev \ /' 
'\tV!;' 

Partn r 
Membership no . 102306 

Place Mumbai 
Date May 08. 2023 

Vinod Kumar Menon 
Wholctimc Director & CEO 
DIN 03075345 

~, 
Rushabh Gandhi 
Director.~ eFO 
DIN 08089312 

Swapna Vengurlekar 

Company Secretary 
Membership No: A32376 

Place ivlull1bai 
Date i\1a\ 08, 2023 



IRB InvlT Fund 

Consolidated Statement of Profit and Loss for the year ended March 31, 2023 

Income 

Revenue from operations 

Other income 

Total income 

Expenses 

Operating expenses 

Project management fees 

Employee benefits expense 

Insurance and security expenses 

Trustee fces 

Annual listing fees 

Investment management fees 

Repairs and maintenance 

Depreciation and amortisation expenses 

Finance costs 

Other expenses 

Total expenses 

Profit before tax 

Tax expenses 

Current tax (including tax adjustments related to earlier years) 

Deferred tax (MAT credit) 

Total tax expenses 

Profit after tax (A) 

Other comprehensive income 

Other comprchensivc income not to be reclassified to profit or loss in 
subsequent periods 

Re-measurement gains! (losses) on detlned benefit plans (net of tax) 

Other comprehensive income/(Ioss) for the year, net of tax (B) 

Total comprehensive income for the year, net of tax: (A+B) 

Profit for the year 

Attributable to: 

Unit holders 

Nun-controlling interests 

Total ('omprehensive income for the year 
Attributable to: 

linit holders 
Non-controlling interests 

Earnings per unit 

- Basic 

- Diluted 

As per our report of even date attached 

Summa!)1 of significant accounting policies 

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements. 

As per our report of even date 

For Suresh Surana & Associates LLP 

Pm1ner 

Membership no . 102306 

Place iv1umbai 
Date May 08, 2023 

Notes 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

47 

28 

For the year ended 
March 31, 2023 

1,44,17249 

2,01041 

1,46,182,90 

52,499.22 

6,812.12 

1,662.60 

96.42 

29.50 

79.29 

1,180.00 

26,132.60 

19,258.04 

1,039.25 

1,08,789,04 

37,393.86 

473.35 

(37.51) 

435.84 

36,958.02 

(29.39) 

(29.39) 

36,928.63 

36,958.02 

36,958.02 

36,928.63 

36,928.63 

6.37 

6.37 

(Rs, in Lakhs) 

For thc ycar ended 
March 31, 2022 

1,39,156.62 

877.73 

1,40,034,35 

5,898.96 

13,069.00 

2,594.14 

75.68 

29.50 

60.81 

1,278.15 

0.82 

68,072.75 

14,184.37 

1,171.07 

1,06,435.25 

33,599.10 

75.27 

3,257.84 

3,333.11 

30,265.99 

10.01 

10.01 

30,276.00 

30,265.99 

30,265.99 

30,276.00 

30,276.00 

5.21 

5.21 

For and on behalf of IRB Infrastructure Private Limited 

(Investment l\Ianager ofiRB InvIT Fund) 

Vinod Kumar Menon 

Wholctime Director & CEO 

DIN 03075345 

l& 
~~ 
Director & CFO 

DIN 08089312 

SW:lllna Vengurlekar 
Company Secretary 

Membership No: A32376 

Plac(: i\1umbal 
DdC Mal 08, 2023 



IRB InvIT Fund 
Consolidated Statement of cash flows for the year ended March 31,2023 

Particulal's 

Cash flow from operating activities 

Profit before tax 

Adjustment to reconcile profit before tax to net cash flows: 

Depreciation and amortisation expenses 

Provision for resurfacing expenses 

Change in Fair value on mutual funds 

Extinguishment of premium liability 

Gain on sale ofInvestments (net) 

Finance costs 

Interest income on fixed deposits 

Operating profit before working capital changes 

Movement in working capital: 

Increase/( decrease) in trade payables 
Increase/( decrease) in provisions 
Increase/( decrease) in other financial liabilities 
Increase/(decrease) in other liabilities 
Decrease/(increase) in loans 
Decrease/(increase) in other financial assets 
Decrease/(increase) in other current assets 
Cash generated from operations 

Taxes paid (net) 
Net cash flow from operating activities 

Cash flows from investing activities 
Purchase of intangible assets 
Proceeds from sale of intangible assets 
Consideration paid to Sponsor towards acquisition of project (refer note 40) 

Salc/( purchase) of current investments (net) 
Incr.:ase in balance with Escrow bank 
Acquisition / Redemption of bank deposits (having original maturity of more than 
three months) (net) 

Interest rcceived 
Net cash flow (used in) investing activities 

Cash flows from financing activities 
Repayment of unit capital to the unit holders 
Proceeds fi'om non-current borrowings 

Distribution to unitholders 

Repayment of non-current borrowings 

Finance costs paid 

Net cash flows used in financing activities 

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents (A+B+C) 
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year (refer note 9) 

Components of cash and cash equivalents 
Balances with scheduled banks: 
- Escrow accounts 
- Current accounts 

Cash on hand ~c-&c~" 
Total Cash and Cash Equivalents (refe$lr.'\A9T,;':::~."<::~C'/i;~~ 

I' $; <l \ "'0\\ i{ :r cn<l(l.e(C <.f> \) 

~~\I\cco~~ts ~I)) 
\>fJ>~j /1</; 

,~!!~~' 

FOI' the year ended 
March 31, 2023 

37,393.86 

26,132,60 

7,039.39 

(303.11) 

(187.42) 

(897.36) 

18,634.73 

(33.69) 

87,779.00 

8,764.38 
(1,998.07) 
(8,720.41) 

(614.43) 
(2.02) 

(5,705.86) 
1,503.00 

81,005.59 

(94.26) 
80,911.33 

(64,839.65) 

(34,200.00) 

4,287.34 
64,701.32 

1,618.91 

37.31 
(28,394.77) 

( 18,866.25) 
18,985.72 

(31,347.00) 

(5,425.00) 

(14,971.08) 

(51,623.61) 

892.95 
1,432.43 

2,325.38 

2,246.04 
43.68 
35.66 

1,325.38 

(Rs. in Lakhs) 

For the yeal' ended 
March 31, 2022 

33,599.10 

68,072.75 

4,845.11 

(199,30) 

(1,379.35) 

(233.58) 

13,608.08 

(36.86) 

1,18,275.95 

910.30 
(14,040.43) 

5,259.08 
56.47 

1.89 
(8,025.66) 

225.97 
1,02,663.57 

35.12 
1,02,698.69 

(134.03) 
7.62 

(5,221.83) 
(29,638.13) 

(2,808.67) 

33.25 
(37,761.79) 

(20,898.00) 

(30,766.50) 

(5,425.00) 

(10,850.98) 

(67,940.48) 

(3,003.58) 
4,436.01 

1,432.43 

1,114.11 
253.52 
64.80 

1,432.43 



Reconciliation between opening and closing balances fOl'liabilities arising from financing activities: 

(Rs in Lakhs) .. 
Particulars BOlTowings 

01-Apr-21 1,89,876.73 
Cash flow 

- Interest (10,850.98) 
- Proceeds / (Repayment) (5,425.00) 

Transfer to borrowings 2,294.00 
Accrual for the year 13,695.39 
31-Mar-22 1,89,590.14 
Cash flow 

- Interest (14,971.08) 
- On acquisition of asset 95,452.58 
- Proceeds / (Rep~lnent) 13,560.72 

Transfer to borrowings 1,629.00 
Accrual for the year 18,541.50 
31-Mar-23 3,03,802.86 

Notes: 
1. All figures in bracket are outflow. 
2. The Consolidated cash flow statement has been prepared under Indirect Method as per Ind AS 7 "Statement of Cash Flows". 
3. Taxes paid are treated as arising from operating activities and are not bifurcated between investing and financing activities. 

Summary of Significant accounting policies (refer note 3) 
See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements. 

As per our report of even date 
For Suresh Surana & Associates LLP 
Chartered Accountants 
Firm's Reg no. 121750W/w-l00010 

r~ 

~! (v'·! 

Rame~ 

Partner 

Membership no : 102306 

Place: Mumbai 
Date: May 08, 2023 

For and on behalf of IRB Infrastructure Private Limited 
(Investment Manager of IRB InvIT Fund) 

~. 
Vinod Kumar Menon 
Wholetime Director & CEO 

DIN: 03075345 

V'" 

~ 
Rushabh Gandhi 
Director & CFO 
DIN: 08089312 

Swapna Vengurlekar 
Company Secretary 
Membership No: A32376 

Place: Mumbai 
Date: May 08, 2023 



IRB lnyIT Fund 

Consolidated Statement of changes in unit holders cquity for thc year cndcd March 31, 2023 

a. Unit capital: 
At the beginning of the year 
Issued during the year 
Less: Capital reduction during the year (refer note 46) 

At the end of the year 

b. Initial settlemcut amount 
At the beginning of the year 
Received during the year 

At the end of the year 

c. OthCl' equity 
Rctained earnings 

At the beginning of the year 
Profit/(Ioss) for the year 
Other comprehensive income 
Interest distribution • (refer note 46) 

At the cnd of the year 

No of units 
As at 

March 31, 2023 

58,05,00,000 5,10,259.50 

( 18,866.25) 

58,05,00,000 4,91,393.25 

No of units 

58,05,00,000 

58,05,00,000 

As at 
March 31, 2023 

0.10 

0.10 

As at 
March 31, 2023 

(96,341.29) 
36,958.02 

(29.39) 
(3 I ,347.00) 

(90,759.66) 

(Rs. in Lakhs) 

As at 
March 31, 2022 

5,31,157.50 

(20,89800) 

5,10,259.50 

As at 
March 31, 2022 

0.10 

0.10 

As at 
March 31, 2022 

(95,85079) 
30,265.99 

1001 
(30,76650) 

(96,341.29) 

* Pertains to the distributions made during the financial year along with the distribution related to the last quarter of FY 202 I -22 and does not include the 
distribution relating to the last quarter ofFY 2022-23 which will be paid atter March 31, 2023. 

Summary of Significant accounting policies (refer note 3) 

See accompanying notes to the consolidated lInancial statements. 

As pCI' our report of even date 
For Surcsh Surana & Associates LLP 
Chartered Accountants 

Finn's }~g No. 121750W /w-IOOOIO 

f: 
Partner 
Membcrship No.: 102306 

Place: Mumbai 
Date: May 08, 2023 

For and on behalf of IRB lnlrastructure Private Limited 
(Invcstment Managcr of IRB InylT Fund) 

Vinodlmmar 1\1cnon 
Wholetimc Director 
DIN: 03075345 

Place: Mumbai 
Date: May 08, 2023 

Y'" 

r-~ 
Rushabh Gandhi 
Director & CFO 
DIN: 08089312 

Swapn<l Vcngul'lckar 
Company Secretary 
Membership No'. A32376 



IRB InvlT Fund 
Disclosures pursuant to SEBI Circulars 

(SEBI Circular No. CIR/IMD/DFIl14!20 16 dated 20- Oct-20 16 ,md no CIR/IMD!DF!127!20 16 dated 29-Nov-20 16 issued the InvlT 
regulations) 

A. Consolidated statement of net assets at fair value: 
(Rs in Laldls) 

As at March 31, 2023 As at March 31, 2022 
Particulars Book value Fair value Book value Fair value 

A. Total assets 12.51.902.12 14,83,021.44 11.95,76705 14,39.601.13 
B. Total liabilities 8.51268.43 9,00,234.95 7,81,848.74 8,52,810.09 

C. Net Assets (A - B) 4,00,633.69 5,82,786.49 4,13,918.31 5,86,79104 
D. Number of units (in lakhs) 5,805.00 5,805.00 5,805.00 5,805.00 
E. NAY (C/O) (Amount in Rs.) 6902 100.39 71.30 101.08 

Project wise break up of fair value of total assets: 
(Rs in Lakhs) 

Name of the project 
As at As at 

March 31, 2023 March 31, 2022 

IDAA Infrastructure Limited (IDAA) 14,959.95 18,295.01 
IRB Talegaon Amravati Tollway Limited (IRBTA) 93,457.01 1,02,907.87 
IRB Jaipur Deoli Tollway Limitcd (IRBJD) 1,88,342.59 1,85,285.35 
IRB Surat Dahisar Tollway Limited (IRBSD) 46,835.05 53,971.59 
IRB Tumkur Chitraduma Tollwav Limited (IRBTC) 8,19,02687 8,94,926.35 
M.Y.R Infrastructure and Tollways Limited (MYR) 55,041.18 69,807.74 

IRB Pathankot Amritsar Toll Road Limited (IRBPA) 1,78,215.26 1,79,842.68 

YK 1 Expressway Limited (YK 1) 1,51,250.32 -
Subtotal 15,47,128.23 15,05,036.59 
Assets in IRB InvlT Fund (64,10679) (65,435.46) 
Total assets 14,83,021.44 14,39,601. I3 

B. Consolidated statement of total"eturns at fair" value: 

(Rs. in Lakhs) 

Particulars 
As at As at 

March 31, 2023 March 31, 2022 

Total comprehensive income (As per the statement of profit and loss) 36,928.63 30,276.00 

Add!Less: other changes in fair value (e.g .• in invcstment property. property, plant & equipment (if cost 
1,82,15280 1,72,872. 73 

model is followed)) not recognized in total comprehensive income 

Total Return 2,19,081.43 2,03,148.73 

'\ote: 

The fair value of investments in Project SPY's are computed on the basis of the I"ir value of the underlying Toll Collection Rights! Financial 
asset as at March 31,2023 along with the book values of other assets and liabilities nceounted in respective Project SPY's t1nancial statements 
as at March 31, 2023. 

Fair value of assets as at March 3 1,2023 and as at March 31,2022 and other changes in fair value for the year then ended as disclosed in the 
ahove tables arc derived based on the tair valuation reports issued by the independent valuer appointed under the InvlT Regulations. 

Summary of Significant accounting policies (refcr note 3) 

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements. 

As per our report of even date 

For Suresh Surana & Associates LLP 
Chartered Accountants 

F',m' ~g;o :~750W IW -1000 J 0 

R,m"h~!+ 
Partner ~ 
Membership no : 102306 

Place' Mumbai 
Datc May 08, 2023 

For and on behalf of IRB Infrastructure Private Limited 

(Investment Manager of IRB InvIT Fund) 

Vinod Kumar Menon 
Wholctimc Director & CEO 
DIN 03075345 

Place Mumbai 
Date May 08, 2023 

Re 
Director & CFO 
DIN: 08089312 

@}J-l~ 
Swapna Vengurlekar 
Company Secretary 
Membership No A32376 



IRB InvIT Fund 
Disclosures pursuant to SEBI Circulars 

(SEBI Circular No CIR/MD/DF/I 14/2016 dated October 20,2016 and No CIR/MD/DFIJ 27/2016 dated November 29, 
2016 issued under the InvlT Regulations) 

Statement of Net Distributable Cash Flows (NDCFs) of IRB InvIT Fund 

(Rs. in Lakhs) 

Sr. No. Particulars 
Year ended Year ended 

March 31,2023 March 31,2022 

I Cash flows received lI'om Project SPYs in the form oflnterest (ReIer note I & 2) 47.983.32 41.284.74 

2 Cash flows received from Project SPYs in the form of Dividend - -

3 
Any other income accruing at the Trust level and not captured above, including but 

795.63 312.22 
not limited to interest/return on surplus cash invested by the Trust 

4 
Cash flows received from the project SPYs towards the repayment (Net) of the 

18,893.37 31.022.75 
debt issued to the Project SPYs by the Trust (Refer note 3) 

5 Total cash inflow at the Trust level (A) 67,672.32 72,619.71 

Less: 

6 
Any payment offees, interest and expense incurred at the Trust level, including but 

( 12,880.49) (12.547.93) 
not limited to the fees of the Investment Manager 

7 Income tax (if applicable) at the Standalone Trust Level - -

8 Repayment of external debt (5,425.00) (5.425.00) 

9 Total cash outflows / retention at the Trust level (B) (18,305.49) (17,972.93) 

10 Net Distributable Cash Flows (C) = (A+B) 49,366.82 54,646.78 

Note: 

I) The embargo on the Escrow bank account for ITCTL was uplifted as per the Interim order of the Hon 'ble Arbitral Tribunal. 
However, the withdrawals pertaining to past periods towards debt servicing of Rs. 11.193.00 lakhs (net of Rs. 4,402.39 lakhs considered 
in earlier period) has not been considered in the above Net Distributable Cash Flow. The said accruals are utilized towards acquisition of 
YKI project. 

2) Excludes interest due but not received of Rs. 3,539.11 lakhs and Rs. 13,171.08 lakhs for the year ended March 31, 2023 and year 
ended March 31, 2022. 

3) Netted - olTwith long-term unsecured loan given to Project SPY's. (Refer RPT disclosures of standalone financial statements) 



IRB InvIT Fund 

Disclosures pursuant to SEBI Circulars 

(SEBI Circular No CIRlMD/DFIJ J 4120J 6 dated October 20, 20J 6 and No CIR / MD / DF / 127/2016 dated November 29, 
20 J 6 issued under the InvlT Regulations) 

Statement of Net Distributable Cash Flows (NDCFs) of underlying SPVs 

IDAA Infrastructure Limited (IDAA) 

(Rs. in Lakhs) 

Year ended Year ended 
Sr. No. Description March 31, March 31, 

2023 2022 

J Profit after tax as per Statement of profit and loss/income and expenditure (A) (2,575.66) (463.50) 

2 
Add: Depreciation and amOliisation as per Statement of profit and loss/income and - 23,237.41 
expenditure 

" 
Add/less: Any other item of non-cash expense / non cash income (net of actual cash 

-.J 
flows for these items), if deemed necessary by the Investment Manager 

-

4 Add: Interest paid to the Fund - 365.85 
5 Add :- Provision for Resurfacing Expenses ( Net) - (4,703.47) 
6 Add: Non-cash expenses 2,623.86 -
7 Less :- NHAI Premium - -
8 Less :- Principal repayment - -
9 Total Adjustments (B) 2,623.86 18,899.79 
JO Net Distributable Cash Flows (C) = (A+B) 48.20 18,436.29 



IRB InvIT Fund 
Disclosures pursuant to SEBI Circulars 
(SEBI Circular No CIR/MD/DFI114120 16 dated October 20,2016 and No CIR / MD / DF / 127 ! 2016 dated November 29, 
2016 issued under the InvIT Regulations) 

Statement of Net Distribntable Cash Flows (NDCFs) of underlying SPVs 

IRB Surat Dahisar Tollway Limited (IRBSD) 

(Rs. In Lakhs) 

Year ended Year ended 
Sr. No. Description March 31, March 31, 

2023 2022 

1 Profit after tax as per Statement of profit and loss/income and expenditure (A) 290.31 (2,980.19) 

2 
Add: Depreciation and amortisation as per Statement of profit and loss/income 

6,269.78 31,170.02 
and expenditure 

3 
Add/less: Any other item of non-cash expense / non cash income (net of actual - -
cash flows for these items), if deemed necessary by the Investment Manager 

4 Add:- Interest paid to the Fund - 2,039.73 
5 Add :- Provision for Resurfacing Expenses - (1,916.55) 
6 Add:- Non-cash expenses 395.05 8,381.22 
7 Less :- NHAI Premium - -
8 Less :- Principal repayment - -

9 Total Adjustments (8) 6,664.84 39,674.43 
10 Net Distributable Cash Flows (C) = (A+B) 6,955.14 36,694.23 



IRB InvIT Fund 
Disclosures pursuant to SEBI Circulars 
(SE131 Circular No CIRJMD/DF/114/2016 dated October 20, 2016 and No CIR / MD / DF /127 /2016 dated November 29, 2016 
issued under the InvlT Regulations) 

Statement of Net Distributable Cash Flows (NDCFs) of underlying SPVs 

IRB Talegaon Amravati Tollway Limited (lRBT A) 

(Rs. In Lakhs) 

Year ended Year ended 
Sr. No. Description March 31, March 31, 

2023 2022 

I Profit after tax as per Statement of profit and loss/income and expenditure (A) (1,344.96) (2,056.27) 

2 
Add: Depreeiation and amortisation as per Statement of profit and loss/income and 

1,466.77 1,294.14 
expenditure 

3 
Add/less: Any other item of non-cash expense / non eash income (net of aetual cash - -
flows for these items), if deemed necessary by the Investment Manager 

4 Add: Interest paid to the Fund 6,069.64 5,891.65 

5 Add :- Provision for Resurfacing Expenses (1,272.84) (1,163.67) 

6 Add: Non-cash expenses 0.06 -
7 Less :- NHAI Premium - -
8 Less :- Principal repayment - -

9 Total Adjustments (B) 6,263.62 6,022.12 

10 Net Distributable Cash Flows (C) = (A+B) 4,918.66 3,965.85 



IRB InvlT Fund 
Disclosures pursuant to SEBI Circulars 

(SEBI Circular No CIRlMDIDFIl14/20I6 dated October 20,2016 and No CIR / MD / OF /127/2016 dated November 29,2016 
issued under the InvIT Regulations) 

Statement of Net Distributable Cash Flows (NDCFs) of underlying SPVs 

M.V.R Infrastructure and Tollways Limited (MVR) 

(Rs. In Lakhs) 

Year ended Year ended 
Sr. No. Description March 31, March 31, 

2023 2022 

1 Profit after tax as per Statement of profit and loss/income and expenditure (A) 1,827.18 101.99 

2 
Add: Depreciation and amortisation as per Statement of profit and loss/income and 

3,439.52 3,122.11 
expenditure 

3 
Add/less: Any other item of non-cash expense / non cash income (net of actual cash flows - -
for these items), if deemed necessary by the Investment Manager 

4 Add :- Interest paid to the Fund 4,860.09 4,823.94 

5 Add :- Provision for Resurfacing Expenses 830.52 390.05 

6 Add: Non-cash expenses (37.50) -
7 Less :- NI-lAI Premium - -
8 Less :- Principal repayment - -

9 Total Adjustments (8) 9,092.63 8,336.10 

10 Net Distributable Cash Flows (C) = (A+B) 10,919.81 8,438.09 



IRB InvlT Fund 

Disclosures pursuant to SEBI Circulars 

(SEBI Circular No ClRJMD/DFIl14/2016 dated October 20.2016 and No CIR I MD / DF ! 127/2016 dated November 29,2016 

issued under the InvlT Regulations) 

Statement of Net Distributable Cash Flows (NDCFs) of underlying SPYs 

IRB Jaipur Deoli Tollway Limited (lRBJD) 

(Rs In Lakhs) 

Sr. No. Description 
Yc:ar ended Year ended 

March 31, 2023 M.arch 31, 2022 

I Profit after tax as per Statement of profit and loss/income and expenditure (Al (4,613.10) (7,177.12) 

2 
Add: Depreciation and amoI1isation as per Statement of profit and losslincome and 

2,370.65 2,092.72 
expenditure 

3 
Add/less: Any other item of non-cash expense / non cash income (net of actual cash flows for 

- -
these items), if deemed necessary by the Investment Manager 

4 Add: Interest paid to the Fund 12,540.45 14,119.76 

5 Add :- Provision for Resurfacing Expenses 3,003.60 (1,419.08) 

6 Add: Non-cash expenses 622.64 (1,610.44) 

7 Less :- NHAI Premium - -
8 Less :- Principal repayment - -

9 Total Adjustments (8) 18,537.35 13,182.96 

10 Net Distributable Cash Flows (C) = (A+B) 13,924.25 6,005.84 



IRB InvIT Fund 
Disclosures pursuant to SEm Circulars 
(SEBI Circular No CIR/MD/DFI114/20 16 dated October 20, 2016 and No CIR I MD I OF I 127 12016 dated November 
29,2016 issued under the InvIT Regulations) 

Statement of Net Distributable Cash Flows (NDCFs) of underlying SPVs 

IRB Pathankot Amritsar Toll Road Limited (IRBP A) 

(Rs. In Lakhs) 

Year ended Year ended 
Sr. No. Description March 31, March 31, 

2023 2022 

I Prollt after tax as per Statement ofprollt and loss/income and expenditure (A) (8,285.46) (3,282.77) 

2 
Add: Depreciation and amortisation as per Statement of proll! and loss/income and 

2.729.07 938.64 
expenditure 

3 
Add/less: Any other item of non-cash expense / non cash income (net of actual cash flows -
for these items), if deemed necessary by the Investment Manager 

-
4 Add: Interest paid to the Fund 13,942.30 14,073.71 

5 Add :- Provision for Resurfacing Expenses 1,420.74 (947.54) 

6 Add: Non-cash expenses 1,560.93 (11,533.96) 

7 Less :- NHAI Premium - -
8 Less :- Principal repayment - -

9 Total Adjustments (B) 19,653.04 2,530.85 

10 Net Distributable Cash Flows (C) = (A+B) 11,367.58 (751.92) 



IRB InvIT Fund 

Disclosures pursuant to SEBI Circulars 
(SEBI Circular No CIR/MD/DF/114/20 16 dated October 20, 2016 and No ClR / MD / DF / 127/20 I 6 dated Novembcr 29, 2016 issued 
under the InvlT Regulations) 

Statement of Net Distributable Cash Flows (NDCFs) of underlying SPVs 

IRB Tumkur Chitradurga Tollway Limited (lRBTC) 

(Rs In Lakhs) 

Year ended Year ended 
Sr. 1'10. Description March 31, March 31, 

2023 2022 

I Profit after tax as per Statement of profit and loss/income and expenditure (A) 5,267.64 2,366.3 I 

2 
Add: Depreciation and amortisation as per Statement of profit and losslincome and 

8.725.45 7,725.26 
expenditure 

3 
Add/less: Any other item of non-cash expense / non cash income (net of actual cash flows - -
for these items), if deemed necessary by the Investment Manager 

4 Add: Interest paid to the Fund* 13,240.59 13,171.08 
5 Add :- Provision for Resurfacing Expenses I,313.23 535.38 
6 Add: Non-cash expenses (187.42) 1,388.02 
7 Less :- NHAI Premium (22,384.00) (20,576.00) 
8 Less :- Principal repayment - -
9 Total Adjustments (B) 707.86 2,243.74 
10 Net Distributable Cash Flows (C) = (A+B) 5,975.50 4,610.05 

As per interim order of the Division Bench of Hon 'ble High Court, withdrawals from Escrow account of ITCTL were not permitted till 
final order in the matter. During the year. the embargo on the Escrow bank account was uplifted as per the Interim order of the Hon'ble 
Arbitral Tribunal. Kindly refer note 39 (c) for further details. 



IRB InvIT Fund 

Disclosures pursuant to SEBl Circulars 

(SEBI Circular No CIR/MD/DFIl 14/20 I 6 dated October 20,2016 and No CIR I MD I OF 1127 12016 dated November 29, 
2016 issued under the InvlT Regulations) 

Statement of Net Distributable Cash Flows (NDCFs) of underlying SPVs 

VKI Expressway Limited (VKI) 

(Rs. In Lakhs) 

October 13, 2022 Year ended 
Sr. No. Description to Mareh 31, March 31, 

2023 2022 

1 Profit after tax as per Statement of profit and loss/income and expenditure (A) 2,833.48 -

2 
Add: Depreciation and amortisation as per Statement of profit and loss/income and 

- -
expenditure 

3 
Add/less: Any other item of non-cash expense / non cash income (net of actual cash 

2,824.73 -
flows for these items), if deemed necessary by the Investment Manager * 

4 Add: Interest paid to the Fund 902.28 -

5 Add :- Provision for Resurfacing Expenses - -

6 Add: Non-cash expenses (964.04) -

7 Less :- NHAI Premium - -

8 Less :- Principal repayment - -

9 Total Adjustments (B) 2,762.98 -
10 Net Distributable Cash Flows (C) = (A+B) 5,596.46 -

Acquired from IRBIDL vide Share Purchase agreement dated October 13,2022. 

YK 1 is obligated to create DSRA as per terms of agreement with the lenders and accordingly, funds are retained for the said purpose. 

* Includes Annuity received from the Authority 



IRB InvIT Fund 
Summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory infonllation for the yeal' 
ended March 31, 2023 

I. Nature of Operations 

The IRB InvIT Fund (the "Fund" I "Trust") is a trust constituted by "The Indenture of Trust" 
dated October 16, 2015 registered under the Registration Act, 1908 and under the Securities 
Exchange Board ofIndia (Infrastructure Investment Trust) Regulations, 2014. The Fund is settled 
by the Sponsor, IRB Infrastructure Developers Limited ("IRB" or the "Sponsor"), an 
infrastructure development company in India. The Trustee to the Fund is IDBI Trusteeship 
Services Limited (the "Trustee") and Investment manager for the Fund is IRB Infrastructure 
Private Limited (the "Investment Manager"). 

The Fund has been formed to invest in infrastructure assets primarily being in the road sector in 
India. All of the Fund's road projects are implemented and held through special purpose vehicles 
("Project Spy sl Subsidiaries"). 

The consolidated financial statements comprise of financial statement of IRB InvIT Fund and its 
eight subsidiaries (collectively, "the Group") for the year ended March 31,2023. 

The road projects included in the Fund's portfolio comprises as listed below:-

Extent of Extent of 

Sr. 
Principal 

Country of 
Control Control 

Subsidiary Name Nature of as at as at 
No. 

activity 
Incorporation 

March March 
31,2023 31,2022 

1 IDAA Infrastructure Limited (IDAA) Infrastructure India 100% 100% 

2 IRB Talegaon Amravati Tollway Limited Infrastructure India 100% 100% 
(lRBTA) 

3 IRB Jaipur Deoli Tollway Limited 
I 

Infrastructure India 100% 100% 
(lRBJD) 

4 IRB Surat Dahisar Tollway Limited Infrastructure India 100% 100% 
(IRBSD) 

5 IRB Tumkur Chitradurga Tollway Limited Infrastructure India 100% 100% 
(JRBTC) 

6 M.V.R Infrastructure and Tollways Infrastructure India 100% 100% 
Limited (MVR) 

7 IRB Pathankot Amritsar Toll Road Infrastructure India 100% 100% 
Limited (IRBPA) 

8 VKI Expressway Limited (Formerly Infrastructure India 100% -
known as VKl Expressway Private 
Limited) (VKI) '# 

• AcqUIred vide Share Purchase agreement dated October 13,2022 
# VK I was converted from Private Limited Company to Public Limited Company w.e.f April 27, 2023 

The registered office of the investment manager is IRB Complex, Chandivali Farm, Chandivali 
Village, Andheri- East, Mumbai - 400072. 

The consolidated financial statements were authorised for issue in accordance with resolution 
passed by the board of directors of the investment manager on May 8, 20:23. 



2. Basis of preparation 

The consolidated financial statements of the Group have been prepared in accordance with Indian 
Accounting Standards as defined in Rule 2(1 )(a) of the Companies (Indian Accounting Standards) 
Rules, 2015, as amended, prescribed under Section 133 of the Companies Act, 2013 ("Ind AS") 
read with SEBI (Infrastructure Investment Trusts) Regulations, 2014, as amended and the 
circulars issued thereunder ("InvIT Regulations") and other accounting principles generally 
accepted in India. 

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on an accrual basis and under the 
historical cost basis, except for certain financial assets and liabilities (refer accounting policy 
regarding financial instruments) which have been measured at fair value. 

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Indian Rupee ('INR') which is also the 
Group's functional currency and all values are rounded to the nearest lakhs, except when 
otherwise indicated. Wherever the amount represented '0' (zero) construes value less than Rupees 
five hundred. 

3. Summary of significant accounting policies 

3.1. Basis of consolidation 

The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of the Fund and its 
subsidiaries as at 31 March 2023. Control is achieved when the Group is exposed, or has rights, to 
variable returns from its involvement with the investee and has the ability to affect those returns 
through its power over the investee. 

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the 
Group obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses control of the 
subsidiary. Assets, liabilities, income and expenses of a Subsidiary acquired or disposed off 
during the year are included in the consolidated financial statements from the date the Group 
gains control until the date the Group ceases to control the Subsidiaries. 

Consolidated financial statements are prepared using uniform accounting policies for like 
transactions and other events in similar circumstances. 
The financial statements of each of the subsidiaries used for the purpose of consolidation are 
drawn up to same reporting date as that of the Group, i.e., year ended on 31 March. 

Consolidation procedure: 

I. Combine like items of assets, liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows of the parent 
with those of its subsidiary. For this purpose, income and expenses of the Subsidiaries are 
based on the amounts of the assets and liabilities recognised in the consolidated financial 
statements at the acquisition date. 

II. Offset (eliminate) the carrying amount of the parent's investment in each subsidiary and the 
parent's portion of equity of each subsidiary. Business combinations policy explains how to 
account for any related goodwill. 

iii. Eliminate in full intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows 
relating to transactions between entities of the group (profits or losses resulting from 
intragroup transactions that are recognised in assets, such as inventory and fixed assets, are 
eliminated in full. Intragroup losses may indicate an impairment that requires recognition in 
the consolidated financial statements. Ind AS 12 - Income Taxes applies to temporary 
differences that arise from the elimination of profits from intragroup 
transactions. 



iv. Non-controlling interests in the net assets of consolidated subsidiaries consists of: 
a) The amount of equity attributed to non-controlling interests at the date on which 

investment in a Subsidiary came into existence; 
b) The non-controlling interest share of movement in equity since the date parent 

relationship came into existence; 
c) Non-controlling interest share of net profit/(Ioss) of consolidated Project Spy for the year 

is identified and adjusted against the profit after tax of the Group. 

3.2. Business Combinations 

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition method. The cost of an acquisition 
is measured as the aggregate of the consideration transferred measured at fair value on 
acquisition date and the amount of any non-controlling interests in the acquiree. For each 
business combination, the Group elects whether to measure the non-controlling interests in the 
acquiree at fair value or at the proportionate share of the acquiree's identifiable net assets. 

At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities assumed are recognised 
at their acquisition date fair values. For this purpose, the liabilities assumed include contingent 
liabilities representing present obligation and they are measured at their acquisition fair values 
irrespective of the fact that outflow of resources embodying economic benefits is not probable. 

Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess of the aggregate of the consideration 
transferred and the amount recognised for non-controlling interests, and any previous interest 
held, over the net identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed. If the fair value of the net 
assets acquired is in excess of the aggregate consideration transferred, the Group re-assesses 
whether it has correctly identified all of the assets acquired and all of the liabilities assumed and 
reviews the procedures used to measure the amounts to be recognised at the acquisition date. If 
the reassessment still results in an excess of the fair value of net assets acquired over the 
aggregate consideration transferred, then the gain is recognised in OCI and accumulated in equity 
as capital reserve. However, if there is no clear evidence of bargain purchase, the entity 
recognises the gain directly in equity as capital reserve, without routing the same through OCI. 

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less any accumulated impairment losses. 
For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a business combination is, from the 
acquisition date, allocated to each of the Group's cash-generating units that are expected to 
benefit from the combination, irrespective of whether other assets or liabilities of the acquiree are 
assigned to those units. 

A cash generating unit to which goodwill has been allocated is tested for impairment annually, or 
more frequently when there is an indication that the unit may be impaired. If the recoverable 
amount of the cash generating unit is less than its carrying amount, the impairment loss is 
allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the unit and then to the 
other assets of the unit pro rata based on the carrying amount of each asset in the unit. 

Any impairment loss for goodwill is recognised in profit or loss. An impairment loss recognised 
for goodwill is not reversed in subsequent periods. Where goodwill has been allocated to a cash­
generating unit and part of the operation within that unit is disposed of, the goodwill associated 
with the disposed operation is included in the carrying amount of the operation when determining 
the gain or loss on disposal. Goodwill disposed in these circumstances is measured based on the 
relative values of the disposed operation and the portion of the cash-generating unit retained. 

3.3. Asset acquisition 



assets that meet the definition of, and recognition criteria for, intangible assets in Ind AS 38, 
Intangible Assets and liabilities assumed. The cost of the group is allocated to the individual 
identifiable assets and liabilities on the basis of their relative fair values at the date of purchase. 
Such a transaction or event does not give rise to goodwillil. 

3.4. Use of estimates 

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with generally accepted 
accounting principles requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the 
reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent liabilities at the date of the 
consolidated financial statements and the results of operations during the reporting period end. 
Although these estimates are based upon management's best knowledge of current events and 
actions, actual results could differ from these estimates. 

3.5. Current versus non-current classification 

The Group presents assets and liabilities in the balance sheet based on current! non-current 
classification. 
An asset is treated as current when it is: 
- Expected to be realised or intended to be sold or consumed in normal operating cycle 
- Held primat'ily for the purpose of trading 
- Expected to be realised within twelve months after the repOlting period, or 
- Cash or cash equivalent unless restricted from being exchanged or used to settle a liability for at 
least twelve months after the repOlting period. 
All other assets are classified as non-current. 

A liability is current when: 
- It is expected to be settled in normal operating cycle 
- It is held primarily for the purpose of trading 
- It is due to be settled within twelve months after the repOlting period, or 
- There is no unconditional right to defer the settlement of the liability for at least twelve months 
after the reporting period. 
;\ II other liabilities are classified as non-current. 
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are classified as non-current assets and liabilities. 
The operating cycle is the time between the acquisition of assets for processing and their 
realisation in cash and cash equivalents. The Group has identified twelve months as its operating 
cycle. 

3.6. Foreign currencies 

The Group's financial statements are presented in INR, which is also the Group's functional 
currency. The group does not have any foreign operation and has assessed the functional currency 
to be INR. 

Transactions and balances 

Transactions in foreign currencies are initially recorded by the Group at their respective 
functional currency spot rates at the date the transaction first qualifies for recognition. Monetary 
assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the functional currency 
spot rates of exchange at the reporting date. 

Differences arising on settlement or translation of monetary items are recognised in Statement of 
profit or loss. 



Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are 
translated using the exchange rates at the dates of the initial transactions. 

3.7. Fair value measurement 

The Group measures financial instruments, such as, derivatives at fair value at each balance sheet 
date. 
Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an 
orderly transaction between market paJiicipants at the measurement date. The fair value 
measurement is based on the presumption that the transaction to sell the asset or transfer the 
liability takes place either: 

• In the principal market for the asset or liability, or 
• In the absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous market for the asset or 

liability. 
The principal or the most advantageous market must be accessible by the Group. 
The fair value of an asset or a liability is measured using the assumptions that market paJiicipants 
would use when pricing the asset or liability, assuming that market paliicipants act in their 
economic best interest. 

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account a market participant's ability 
to generate economic benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to 
another market paJiicipant that would use the asset in its highest and best use. 

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the circumstances and for which 
sufficient data are available to measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant observable 
inputs and minimising the use of unobservable inputs. 

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the financial statements 
are categorised within the fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest level 
input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole: 

Levell Quoted (unadjusted) market prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities 
Level 2 - Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair 
value measurement is directly or indirectly observable 
Level 3 - Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair 
value measurement is unobservable 
For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial statements on a recurring basis, the 
Group determines whether transfers have occurred between levels in the hierarchy by re-assessing 
categorisation (based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as 
a whole) at the end of each reporting period. 

The Group's Management determines the policies and procedures for both recurring fair value 
measurement, such as derivative instruments and unquoted financial assets measured at fair value, 
and for non-recurring measurement, such as assets held for distribution in discontinued 
operations. 
At each repoliing date, the Management analyses the movements in the values of assets and 
liabilities which are required to be remeasured or re-assessed as per the Group's accounting 
policies. For this analysis, the Management verifies the major inputs applied in the latest valuation 
by agreeing the information in the valuation computation to contracts and other relevant 
documents. 
The management also compares the change in the fair value of each asset and liability with 
relevant external sources to determine whether the change is reasonable. 



On an annual basis, the Management of Investment Manager presents the valuation results to the 
Audit Committee and the Group's independent auditors. This includes a discussion of the major 
assumptions used in the valuations. 

For the purpose of fair value disclosures, the Group has determined classes of assets and liabilities 
on the basis of the nature, characteristics and risks of the asset or liability and the level of the fair 
value hierarchy as explained above. 

This note summarises accounting policy for fair value. Other fair value related disclosures are 
given in the relevant notes. 

• Disclosures for valuation methods, signifieant estimates and assumptions (note 33 and 38) 
• Financial instruments (including those carried at amOliised cost) (note 33) 
• Quantitative disclosure of fair value measurement hierarchy (note 34) 

3.8. Revenue recognition 

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised when control of the goods or services are 
transferred to the customer at an amount that reflects the consideration to which the Group 
expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services. The Group has concluded that it is 
the principal in its revenue arrangements because it typically controls the services before 
transferring them to the customer. 

Revenue is recognised to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the 
Group and the revenue can be reliably measured, regardless of when the payment is being made. 
Revenue is measured at the transaction price of the consideration received or receivable, 
excluding the estimates of variable consideration that is allocated to that performance obligation, 
taking into account contractually defined terms of payment and excluding taxes or duties 
collected on behalf of the government. 

The specific recognition criteria described below must also be met before revenue is recognised. 

Toll revenue 

The income from Toll Contracts on BOT basis are recognised on actual collection of toll revenue 
(net of revenue share payable to NHAI) as per Concession Agreement. Revenue from electronic 
toll collection is recognised on accrual basis. 

Toll collection charges 

Revenue is recognised on actual collection of toll revenue (net of amount paid to NHAI) as per 
the Supplementary agreement with NHAI. 

Contract revenue (construction contracts) 

Contract revenue associated with the utility shifting incidental to construction of road are 
recognized as revenue by reference to the stage of completion of the projects at the balance sheet 
date. The stage of completion of project is determined by the proportion that contract cost 
incurred for work performed up to the balance sheet date bears to the estimated total contract 
costs. 

The Group's operations involve levying of goods and service tax (GST) 011 the construction work. 
GST is not received by the Group on its own account. RatheL it is tax collected on value added to 



the commodity by the seller on behalf of the government. Accordingly, it IS excluded from 
revenue. 

Contmct revenue fl'om Hybrid Annuity Contracts 

Financial receivable is recorded at a fair value of guaranteed residual value to be received at the 
end of the concession period. This receivable is subsequently measured at amortised cost. In the 
financial assets model, the amount due from the grantor meet the identification of the receivable 
which is measured at fair value. 

Opemtion and maintenance contmcts 

Revenue from maintenance contracts are recognised over the period of the contract as and when 
services are rendered. 

Claim Revenue 

Claims are recognised as revenue as per relevant terms of the concession agreement with the 
authority when it is probable that such claims will be accepted by the customer that can be 
measured reliably. 

Interest income 

For all debt instruments measured either at amortised cost or at fair value through other 
comprehensive income, interest income is recorded using the effective interest rate (EIR). EIR is 
the rate that exactly discounts the estimated future cash payments or receipts over the expected 
life of the financial instrument or a shorter period, where appropriate, to the gross carrying 
amount of the financial asset or to the amortised cost of a financial liability. When calculating the 
effective interest rate, the Group estimates the expected cash flows by considering all the 
contractual terms of the financial instrument (for example, prepayment, extension, call and similar 
options) but does not consider the expected credit losses. Interest income is included in finance 
income in the statement of profit and loss. 

Dividends 

Revenue is recognised when the Group's right to receive the payment is established, which IS 

generally when shareholders approve the dividend. 

3.9. Government Grants 

Grants and subsidies from the Government are recognised when there is reasonable assurance that 
(i) the Group will comply with the conditions attached to them, and (ii) the grant / subsidy will be 
received. 

Grant received are considered as a pmi of the total outlay of the construction project and 
accordingly, the same is reduced from the gross value of assets. 

3.10. Property, plant and equipment 

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost, less accumulated depreciation and impairment 
losses if any. Cost comprises the purchase price and any attributable cost of bringing the asset to 
its working condition for its intended Lise. Any trade discount or rebates are deducted in arriving 
at the purchase price. When significant parts of the plant and equipment are required to be 
replaced at intervals, the Group depreciates them separately based oJ1the~ specific llseful lives. 
All other repair and maintenance costs are recognised in statementpf;Pl'Sf~~ss as incurred . ...-.::l'(\I11''4;;;;;t;;;;;r~ 
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Depreciation is calculated on written down value method (WDV) using the useful lives as 
prescribed under the Schedule II to the Companies Act, 2013 or re-assessed by the Group. 
The Group has estimated the following useful lives for its tangible fixed assets: 

Asset class Useful life 

Plant & Machinery 9 years - IS years 

Office equipment 5 years 

Computers 3 years 

Servers 6 years 

Vehicles 8 years 
Furniture & fixtures 10 years 

Toll Equipment 7 years 

An item of propeliy, plant and equipment and any significant PaIt initially recognised is 
derecognised upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected from its use or 
disposal. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of the asset (calculated as the difference 
between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset) is included in the 
statement of profit and loss when the asset is derecognised. 

The residual values, useful lives and methods of depreciation of propelty, plant and equipment are 
reviewed at each financial year end and adjusted prospectively, if appropriate. 

3.11. Intangible assets 

Intangible assets are stated at cost, less accumulated amortisation and impairment losses. 

Toll Collection Rights 

Toll collection rights are stated at cost net of accumulated amOitisation and impairment losses. 
Cost includes: 
Toll Collection Rights awarded by the grantor against construction service rendered by the Project 
SPV on DBFOT basis - Direct and indirect expenses on construction of roads, bridges, culverts, 
infrastructure and other assets at the toll plazas. 

Premium Obligation 

As per the service concession agreement, the Group is obligated to pay the annual fixed amount 
of premium to National Highway Authorities of India (NHAI). This premium obligation has been 
capitalized as Intangible Asset given it is paid towards getting the right to earn revenue by 
constructing and operating the roads during the concession period. Hence, total premium payable 
as per the service concession agreement has been upfront capitalized at fair value of the obligation 
at the date of transition. 

Intangible assets are amortised over the period of concession, using revenue based amortisation as 
per Exemption provided in Ind AS 101. Under this method, the carrying value of the rights is 
amortised in the proportion of actual toll revenue for the year to projected revenue for the balance 
toll period, to reflect the pattern in which the assets economic benefits will be consumed. At each 
balance sheet date, the projected revenue for the balance toll period is reviewed by the 
management. If there is any change in the projected revenue from previous estimates, the 
amortisation of toll collection rights is changed prospectively to reflect any changes in the 
estimates. 



Gains or losses arising from derecognition of an intangible asset are measured as the difference 
between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and are recognised in the 
statement of profit or loss when the asset is derecognised. 

Intangible assets are assessed for impairment whenever there is an indication that the intangible 
asset may be impaired. 

3.12. Taxes 

Current income tax 

Current income tax assets and liabilities are measured at the amount expected to be recovered 
from or paid to the taxation authorities. The tax rates and tax laws used to compute the amount are 
those that are enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date. 

Current income tax relating to items recognised outside the Statement of Profit and Loss is 
recognised outside the Statement of Profit and Loss (either in other comprehensive income or in 
equity). Current tax items are recognised in correlation to the underlying transaction either in OCI 
or directly in equity. Management periodically evaluates positions taken in the tax returns with 
respect to situations in which applicable tax regulations are subject to interpretation and 
establishes provisions where appropriate. 

Deferred tax 

Deferred tax is provided using the liability method on temporary differences between the tax 
bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial repOliing purposes at the 
repOJiing date. 

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary differences, except: 

When the deferred tax liability arises from the initial recognition of goodwill or an asset or 
liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and at the time of the transaction, 
affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss. 

In respect of taxable temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, when 
the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences can be controlled and it is probable that 
the temporary differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future. 

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary differences, the carry forward of 
unused tax credits and any unused tax losses. Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that 
it is probable that taxable profit will be available against which the deductible temporary 
differences, and the carry forward of unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be utilised, 
except: 

When the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible temporary difference arises from the 
initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business combination 
and, at the time of the transaction affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or 
loss 

In respect of deductible temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, 
associates and interests in joint ventures, deferred tax assets are recognised only to the extent 
that it is probable that the temporary differences will reverse in the foreseeable future and 
taxable profit will be available against which the temporary differences can be utilised. 
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The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each reporting date and reduced to the 
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or 
part of the deferred tax asset to be utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets are re-assessed at 
each reporting date and are recognised to the extent that it has become probable that future taxable 
profits will allow the deferred tax asset to be recovered. 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the 
year when the asset is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have 
been enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date. 

Deferred tax relating to items recognised outside statement of profit and loss is recognised outside 
statement of profit and loss (either in other comprehensive income or in equity). Deferred tax 
items are recognised in correlation to the underlying transaction either in OCI or directly in 
equity. 

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if a legally enforceable right exists to set 
off current tax assets against current tax liabilities and the deferred taxes relate to the same taxable 
entity and the same taxation authority. 

Minimum Alternate Tax (MAT) 

Minimum Alternate Tax (MAT) paid as per Indian Income Tax Act, 1961 is in the nature of 
unused tax credit which can be carried forward and utilised when the Group will pay normal 
income tax during the specified period. Deferred tax assets on such tax credit is recognised to the 
extent that it is probable that the unused tax credit can be utilised in the specified future period. 
The net amount oftax recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority is included as PaIt of 
receivables or payables in the balance sheet. 

Goods and service tax paid on acquisition of assets or on incurring expenses 

Expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of goods and service tax paid, except: 
When the tax incurred on a purchase of assets or services is not recoverable from the tax 
authority, in which case, the tax paid is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or 
as PaIt of the expense item, as applicable. 

When receivables and payables are stated with the amount of tax included. The net amount of tax 
recoverable from, or payable to, the tax authority is included as PaIt of receivables or payables in 
the balance sheet. 

3.13. Borrowing costs 

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of an asset that 
necessarily takes a substantial period of time to get ready for its intended use or sale are 
capitalised as PaIt of the cost of the asset. All other borrowing costs are expensed in the period in 
which they occur. Borrowing costs consist of interest and other costs that an entity incurs in 
connection with the borrowing of funds. Borrowing cost also includes exchange differences to the 
extent regarded as an adjustment to the borrowing costs. 

3.14. Leases 

The determination of whether an arrangement is (or contains) a lease is based on the substance of 
the arrangement at the inception of the lease. The arrangement is, or contains, a lease if fulfilment 
of the arrangement is dependent on the use of a specific asset or assets and the arrangement 
conveys a right to use the asset or assets, even if that right is specified in an 
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Group as a lessee 

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption to its short-term leases (i.e., those 
leases that have a lease term of 12 months or less from the commencement date and do not 
contain a purchase option). It also applies the lease of low-value assets recognition exemption to 
leases of office equipment that are considered to be low value. Lease payments on sholi-term 
leases and leases of low-value assets are recognised as expense on a straight-line basis over the 
lease term. 

3.15. Provisions 

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a 
result of a past event, it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits 
will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the 
obligation. When the Group expects some or all of a provision to be reimbursed, for example, 
under an insurance contract, the reimbursement is recognised as a separate asset, but only when 
the reimbursement is virtually certain. The expense relating to a provision is presented in the 
Statement of Profit and Loss net of any reimbursement. 

If the effect of the time value of money is material, provisions are discounted using a current pre­
tax rate that reflects, when appropriate, the risks specific to the liability. When discounting IS 

used, the increase in the provision due to the passage of time is recognised as a finance cost. 

3.16. Premium Deferment 

Premium Deferral (i.e. premium payable less paid after adjusting premium deferment) is 
aggregated under premium deferred obligation in the balance sheet. The interest payable on the 
above is aggregated under premium deferral obligation. Interest on premium deferral is 
capitalised during the construction period and thereafter charged to the statement of profit and 
loss. 

3.17. Resurfacing expenses 

As per the Concession Agreement, the Group is obligated to carry out resurfacing of the roads 
under concession. Provision required for resurfacing expenses are measured at the present value 
of the expenditure required to settle the present obligation at the end of the repOliing period. The 
discount rate used to determine the present value is a pre-tax rate that reflects the risks specific to 
the liability. The increase in the provision due to the passage oftime is recognised as finance cost. 

3.18. Contingent liabilities and Contingent assets 

A contingent liability is a possible obligation that arises from past events whose existence will be 
confirmed by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more unceliain future events beyond the 
control of the Group or a present obligation that is not recognised because it is not probable that 
an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation. A contingent liability also arises 
in extremely rare cases where there is a liability that cannot be recognised because it cannot be 
measured reliably. The Group does not recognise a contingent liability but discloses its existence 
in the financial statements. 

A contingellt assets is not recognised unless it becomes virtually certain that an inflow of 
economic benefits will arise. When an inflow of economic benefits is probable, contingent assets 
are disclosed in the financial statements. 
Contingent liabilities and contingent assets are reviewed at each date. 



3.19. Retirement and other employee benefits 

Defined contribution plan 

Retirement benefits in the form of provident fund, Pension Fund and Employees state Insurance 
Fund are a defined contribution scheme and the contributions are charged to the Statement of 
profit and loss of the period when the employee renders related services. There are no other 
obligations other than the contribution payable to the respective authorities. 

Defined benefit plan 

The Group has maintained a Group Gratuity Scheme with Mis. Life Insurance Corporation of 
India (LIC) managed by a separate Trust, towards which it annually contributes a sum based on 
the actuarial valuation made by Mis. LIC. Gratuity liability for eligible employees are defined 
benefit obligation and are provided for on the basis of an actuarial valuation on projected unit 
credit method made at the end of each financial year. Obligation is measured at the present value 
of estimated future cash flows using discounted rate that is determined by reference to market 
yields at the balance sheet date on Government Securities where the currency and terms of the 
Government Securities are consistent with the currency and estimated terms of the defined benefit 
obligation. 

Re-measurements, comprising of actuarial gains and losses excluding amounts included in net 
interest on the net defined benefit liability are recognised immediately in the balance sheet with a 
corresponding debit or credit to retained earnings through OCI in the period in which they occur. 
Re-measurements are not reclassified to statement of profit and loss in subsequent periods. 

Past service costs are recognised in statement of profit and loss on the earlier of: 

- The date of the plan amendment or curtailment, and 
- The date that the Group recognises related restructuring costs 

Net interest is calculated by applying the discount rate to the net defined benefit liability or asset. 

The Group recognises the following changes in the net defined benefit obligation as an expense in 
the statement of profit and loss: 

- Service costs comprising current service costs, past-service costs, gains and losses on 
cUliailments and non-routine settlements; and 
- Net interest expense or income 

Short term benefits 

Short-term employee benefit obligations are measured on an undisclosed basis and are expensed 
as the related services are provided. A liability is recognised for the amount expected to be paid 
i.e. under sholi-term cash bonus, if the Company has a present legal or constructive obligations to 
pay this amount as a result of past service provided by the employees, and the amount of 
obligation can be estimated reliably. 

Leave encashment 

The employee's compensated absences, which is expected to be utilised or encashed within the 
next twclve months, is treated as sholi tcrm employee benefit. Accrual towards compensated 
absences at the end of the financial year is based on last drawn and outstanding leave 
absence at the end of the financ ia I year. 



3.20. Financial instrument 

A financial instrument is any contract that gives rise to a financial asset of one entity and a 
financial liability or equity instrument of another entity. 

Financial assets 

Initial recognition and measurement 

All financial assets arc recognised initially at fair value plus, in the case of financial assets not 
recorded at fair value through Statement of Profit and Loss, directly attributable transaction cost 
to the acquisition of the financial asset. Purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery 
of assets within a time frame established by regulation or convention in the market place (regular 
way trades) are recognised on the trade date, i.e., the date that the Group commits to purchase or 
sell the asset. 

Subsequent measurement 

For purposes of subsequent measurement, financial assets are classified in following categories; 
at amOliised cost 
at fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL) 
at fair value through other comprehensive income (FVTOCI) 

Debt instruments at amortised cost 

A 'debt instrument' is measured at the amortised cost if both of the following conditions are met: 

a) The asset is held within a business model whose objective is to hold assets for collecting 
contractual cash flows, and 
b) Contractual terms of the asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely 
payments of principal and interest (SPPI) on the principal amount outstanding. 

After initial measurement, such financial assets are subsequently measured at amol1ised cost 
using the effective interest rate (EIR) method. Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account 
any discount or premium on acquisition and fees or costs that are an integral pati of the EIR. The 
EIR amOliisation is included in other income in the statement of profit or loss. The losses arising 
from impairment are recognised in the statement of profit and loss. 

Debt instrument at FVTOCI 

A 'debt instrument' is classified at FVTOCI if both of the following criteria are met: 

a) The objective of the business model is achieved both by collecting contractual cash flows and 
selling the financial assets, and 
b) The asset's contractual cash flows represent SPPI. 

Debt instruments included within the FVTOCI category are measured initially as well as at each 
reporting date at fair value. Fair value movements are recognized in the other comprehensive 
income (OCI). However, the Group recognizes interest income, impairment losses & reversals 
and foreign exchange gain or loss in the Statement of profit and loss. On de-recognition of the 
asset, cumulative gain or loss previously recognised in OCI is reclassified from the equity to 
Statement of profit and loss. Interest earned whilst holding FVTOCI debt instrument is repOlied 
as interest income using the EIR method. 



Debt instrument at FVTPL 

FVTPL is a residual category for debt instruments. Any debt instrument, which does not meet the 
criteria for categorization as at amortized cost or as FVTOCI, is classified as at FVTPL. 

In addition, the Group may elect to designate a debt instrument, which otherwise meets amortized 
cost or FVTOCI criteria, as at FVTPL. However, such election is allowed only if doing so reduces 
or eliminates a measurement or recognition inconsistency (referred to as 'accounting mismatch '). 
The Group has designated celiain debt instrument as at FVTPL. 

Debt instruments included within the FVTPL category are measured at fair value with all changes 
recognized in the statement of profit and loss. 

Equity investments 

All equity investments in scope of Ind AS 109 are measured at fair value. Equity instruments 
which are held for trading are classified as at FVTPL. For all other equity instruments, the Group 
may make an irrevocable election to present in other comprehensive income subsequent changes 
in the fair value. The Group makes such election on an instrument-by-instrument basis. The 
classification is made on initial recognition and is irrevocable. 

If the Group decides to classify an equity instrument as at FVTOCI, then all fair value changes on 
the instrument, excluding dividends, are recognized in the OCI. There is no recycling of the 
amounts from OCI to statement of profit and loss, even on sale of investment. However, the 
Group may transfer the cumulative gain or loss within equity. 

Equity instruments included within the FVTPL category are measured at fair value with all 
changes recognized in the statement of profit and loss. 

De-recognition 

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a PaJt of a financial asset or patt of a Group of similar 
financial assets) is primarily de-recognised (i.e. removed from the Group's balance sheet) when: 

- The rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired, or 
- The Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the asset or has assumed an 
obligation to pay the received cash flows in full without material delay to a third paJty under a 
'pass-through' arrangement; and either (a) the Group has transferred substantially all the risks and 
rewards of the asset, or (b) the Group has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks 
and rewards of the asset, but has transferred control of the asset. 

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from an asset or has entered into a 
pass-through arrangement, it evaluates if and to what extent it has retained the risks and rewards 
of ownership. When it has neither transferred nor retained substantially all of the risks and 
rewards of the asset, nor transferred control of the asset, the Group continues to recognise the 
transferred asset to the extent of the Group's continuing involvement. In that case, the Group also 
recognises an associated liability. The transferred asset and the associated liability are measured 
on a basis that reflects the rights and obligations that the Group has retained. 

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over the transferred asset is measured 
at the lower of the original carrying amount of the asset and the maximum amount of 
consideration that the Group could be required to repay. 

3.21. Impairment of assets 



Impairment of financial assets 

Expected credit losses are recognized for all financial assets subsequent to initial recognition 
other than financial assets in FYTPL category. 

For financial assets other than trade receivables, as per lnd AS 109, the Group recognizes 12 
month expected credit losses for all originated or acquired financial assets if at the reporting date 
the credit risk of the financial asset has not increased significantly since its initial recognition. The 
expected credit losses are measured as lifetime expected credit losses if the credit risk on financial 
assets increases significantly since its initial recognition. 

The impairment losses and reversals are recognized in Statement of Profit and Loss. 

Trade Receivables 

The Group has evaluated the impairment provision requirement under lnd AS 109 and has listed 
down below major facts for trade and other receivables impairment provisioning: 

Trade receivable from NHAI are considered to be good and there are neither been any past 
instances of default and also management doesn't expect any default in case of Group receivables. 

Other Financial Assets mainly consists of Loans to employees and Security deposits and other 
deposits, interest accrued on Fixed deposits, loans to related pmiy, Retention money receivable 
from NHAI, Grant receivable from NHAI and other receivables and advances measured at 
amortised cost. 

Impairment of non-financial assets 

The Group assesses, at each reporting date, whether there is an indication that an asset may be 
impaired. If any indication exists, or when annual impairment testing for an asset is required, the 
Group estimates the asset's recoverable amount. An asset's recoverable amount is the higher of an 
asset's or cash-generating unit's (CGU) fair value less costs of disposal and its value in use. 
Recoverable amount is determined for an individual asset unless the asset does not generate cash 
inflows that are largely independent of those from other assets or Group's assets. When the 
carrying amount of an asset or CGU exceeds its recoverable amount, the asset is considered 
impaired and is written down to its recoverable amount. 

Financial liabilities 

Initial recognition and measurement 

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as financial liabilities at fair value through 
profit or loss, loans and borrowings, or payables, as appropriate. 

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and, 111 the case of loans and 
borrowings and payables, net of directly attributable transaction costs. 

The Groups financial liabilities include trade and other payables, loans and borrowings including 
bank overdrafts, financial guarantee contracts and derivative financial instruments. 

Subsequent meaSUI'emellt 

The measurement of financial liabilities depends on their 



Financial liabilities at fair value through pl'ofit or loss 

Financial liabilitics at fair value through profit or loss include financial liabilities held for trading 
and financial liabilities designated upon initial recognition as at fair value through profit or loss. 
Financial liabilities are classified as held for trading if they are incurred for the purpose of 
repurchasing in the near term. This category also includes derivative financial instruments entered 
into by the Group that are not designated as hedging instruments in hedge relationships as defined 
by Ind AS 109. 

Gains or losses on liabilities held for trading are recognised in the statement of profit and loss. 

Loans and borrowings 

After initial recognition, interest-bearing loans and borrowings are subsequently measured at 
amortised cost using the EIR method. Gains and losses are recognised in Statement of profit and 
loss when the liabilities are de-recognised as well as through the EIR amOliisation process. 

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or premium on acquisition and 
fees or costs that are an integral part of the EIR. The EIR amOliisation is included as finance costs 
in the statement of profit and loss. 

Financial guarantee contracts 

Financial guarantee contracts issued by the Group are those contracts that require a payment to be 
made to reimburse the holder for a loss it incurs because the specified debtor fails to make a 
payment when due in accordance with the terms of a debt instrument. Financial guarantee 
contracts are recognised initially as a liability at fair value, adjusted for transaction costs that are 
directly attributable to the issuance of the guarantee. Subsequently, the liability is measured at the 
higher of the amount of loss allowance determ ined as per impairment requirements of Ind AS 109 
and the amount recognised less cumulative amOliisation. 

Retention money payable 

Retention money payable is measured at fair value initially. Subsequently, they are measured at 
amortised cost using the EIR method. Gains and losses are recognised in Statement of Profit and 
Loss when the liabilities are derecognised as well as through the EIR amortisation process. 

Reclassification of financial assets 

The Group determines classification of financial assets and liabilities on initial recognition. After 
initial rccognition, no reclassification is made for financial assets which are equity instruments 
and financial liabilities. For financial assets which are debt instruments, a reclassification is made 
only if there is a change in the business model for managing those assets. Changes to the business 
model are expected to be infrequent. The Group's senior management determines change in the 
business model as a result of external or internal changes which are significant to the Group's 
operations. Such changes are evident to external parties. A change in the business model occurs 
when the Group either begins or ceases to perform an activity that is significant to its operations. 
If the Group reclassifies financial assets, it applies the reclassification prospectively from the 
reclassification date which is the first day of the immediately next reporting period following the 
change in business model. The Group does not restate any previously recognised gains, losses 
(including impairment gains or losses) or interest. 



The following table shows various reclassification and how they are accounted for: 

Original Revised classification Accounting tJ'eatment 
classification 
Amortised cost FVTPL Fair value is measured at reclassification date. 

Difference between previous 
amortized cost and fair value is recognised in 
Statement of profit and loss. 

FVTPL AmOliised cost Fair value at reclassification date becomes its 
new gross carrying amount. EIR is calculated 
based on the new gross carrying amount 

AmOliised cost FVTOCI Fair value is measured at reclassification date. 
Difference between previous amOliised cost 
and fair value is recognised in OCr. No change 
in EIR due to reclassification. 

FVTOCI Amortised cost Fair value at reclassification date becomes its 
new amOliised cost carrying amount. However, 
cumulative gain or loss in OCI is adjusted 
against fair value. Consequently, the asset is 
measured as if it had always been measured at 
amortised cost. 

FVTPL FVTOCI Fair value at reclassification date becomes its 
new carrying amount. No other adjustment is 
required. 

FVTOCI FVTPL Assets continue to be measured fair value. 
Cumulative gain or loss previously recognized 
in OCI is reclassified to Statement of profit and 
loss at the reclassification date. 

De-recognition 

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is discharged or 
cancelled or expires. When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same 
lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of an existing liability are substantially 
modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as the de-recognition of the original 
liability and the recognition of a new liability. The difference in the respective carrying amounts 
is recognised in the statement of profit and loss. 

Offsetting of financial instruments 

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount is reported in the 
consolidated balance sheet if there is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the recognised 
amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, to realise the assets and settle the 
liabilities simultaneously. 

3.22. Contributed Equity 

Units are classified as equity. Incremental costs attributable to the issue of units are directly 
recorded in equity, net of tax. 

3.23. Distribution to unit holders 



authorised when it is approved by the Board of Directors of the Investment Manager. A 
corresponding amount is recognised directly in equity. 

3.24. Cash and cash equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents in the balance sheet comprise cash at banks and on hand and short-term 
deposits with an original maturity of three months or less, which are subject to an insignificant 
risk of changes in value. 
For the purpose of the statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents consist of cash and 
short-term deposits, as defined above, net of outstanding bank overdrafts as they are considered 
an integral part of the Group's cash management. 

3.25. Asset held for sale 

Non-current assets or disposal groups comprising of assets and liabilities are classified as 'held 
for sale' when all of the foHowing criteria's are met: (i) decision has been made to sell. (ii) the 
assets are available for immediate sale in its present condition. (iii) the assets are being actively 
marketed and (iv) sale has been agreed or is expected to be concluded within 12 months of the 
Balance Sheet date. 

Subsequently, such non-current assets and disposal groups classified as held for sale are measured 
at the lower of its carrying value and fair value less costs to sell. Non-current assets held for sale 
are not depreciated or amortised. 

3.26. Earnings Per Unit (EPU) 

Basic earnings per unit are calculated by dividing the net profit for the year attributable to unit 
holders by the weighted average number of units outstanding during the year. 

For the purpose of calculating diluted earnings per unit, the weighted average numbers of units 
outstanding during the year are adjusted for the effects of all dilutive potential units. 

3.27. Recent pronouncements 

Ministry of Corporate Affairs ("MCA") notifies new standards or amendments to the existing 

standards under Companies (Indian Accounting Standards) Rules as issued from time to time. On 

March 31, 2023, MCA amended the Companies (Indian Accounting Standards) Amendment 

Rules, 2023, as below: 

Ind AS 1 - Presentation of Financial Statements - This amendment requires the entities to 
disclose their material accounting policies rather than their significant accounting policies. The 
effective date for adoption of this amendment is annual periods beginning on or after April I, 
2023. The Group has evaluated the amendment and the impact of the amendment is insignificant 
in the Group's financial statements. 

Ind AS 8 - Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors - This 
amendment has introduced a definition of 'accounting estimates' and included amendments to Ind 
AS 8 to help entities distinguish changes in accounting policies from changes in accounting 
estimates. The effective date for adoption of this amendment is annual periods beginning on or 
after April I, 2023. The Group has evaluated the amendment and there is no impact on its 
consolidated financial statements. 

Ind AS 12 - Income Taxes - This amendment has narrowed the scope of the initial recognition 
exemption so that it does not apply to transactions that give rise to 



differences. The effective date for adoption of this amendment is annual periods beginning on or 
after April 1, 2023. The Group has evaluated the amendment and there is no impact on its 
consolidated financial statement. 



IRB InvIT Fund 

Consoli<hlted Financial St;Itemrnts for thr year cnded Marcb 31. 2023 

~()t(' 4 : Property. p1:lOt and rquipmcnl 

P;lrliculars 

Gross Block 

Opening Balance 

Additions 

Deletion! adiustmenl 

Closing Balance 

D(,IH'C'C'iation 

Opt::ning Balance 

Additions 

Ddetion! adjustment 

Closing Balancc 
\('( Blod .. 

Intangihlc ass('{s 

Particulars 

Gross Block 

Opening Balance 

Additions 

Deletion! Adjustment 

Closing Balance 

D('pn~·C'ialion 

Opening Balance 

Additions 

Deletion! Adjustment 

Closing Balance 

:'\('t Block 

;"iot('s: 

Toll Collection Rights includes toll cquipments 

Intangible assets undrr devciopment 

P;lrticui;lrs 

Opening balance 

Additions during the ~'car 

Clpitalis~ciduring th~car 

Tot;1I 

Land 

As at 
March 3 t. 2023 

98.61 

98.61 

98.61 

As at 
i\1an:h 3 L 2022 

9R.61 

98.61 

9R.61 

Toll Collection J~ights 

As at As at 

March 31. 2023 March 31. 2022 

7.37.40592 7,37.117.39 

144.22 290.45 
2,25,036.26 192 

5,12,513.88 7,37.405.92 

2.61.930.01 2.00,353 68 

15.907.44 6U70 63 

2,25,036.26 ,70 

52.80I.!8 2.61.930.01 

4.59.712.70 4,75.475.91 

As at As at 

March 31. 2023 March 31, 2022 

14298 212.09 

149.34 

14298 218.45 

142.98 

Intangible assC'ts (\Vo"k in Progress) - Cost hav(' not excredrd and romplrtion is not overdue. 

Cos 1 incurrrd details 

Less than 1 year 

1-2 Years 

2-3 Years 

\1ore than 3 years 

Particulars 
As ~It 

March 31. 2023 
As at 

March 31. 2022 

142.98 

PI;IIlI and macllincl"y 

As at As at 
:Vlarch 31. 2023 :Vlar'ch 31. 2022 

467 467 

4.67 4.67 

3 10 2.68 

033 0.42 

3.43 3.10 

1.24 1.56 

Prrmium to NHAI 

Asat As at 
March 31. 2023 ~lal'ch 31. 2022 

6,67,304 55 6,67.30455 

6.67.304.55 6.67.304.S!' 

47.74004 41.238.96 

10.22451 6.50108 

57.964.55 47.740.04 

6.09.339.99 6.19,564.51 

Offie(' C'quipments 

As at 
;\la)"ch 31.2023 

7.92 

5.64 

2.28 

4.67 

o 14 

335 

IA6 

0.83 

As at 
March 31, 2022 

7.92 

7.92 

4.42 

0.25 

4.67 

3.25 

Tot;lI 

As at :\s at 
:Vlarch 31.2023 March 31, 2022 

14.04.71047 14.04.42194 

\4422 290.45 

2.2='.036.26 1.92 

11,79.818.43 14,04,710.47 

3.09,67005 2.41.592.64 

26.!3195 68.071.71 

2.25.036,26 5.70 

1,10.765.74 3.09.670.05 

10.69.052.69 10.95.040.42 

(R~. in Lakhs) 

Computcr Vehicles Furniture ;lnc! fixtnre Total 

~M ~M ~M ~M ~M ~M ~M 

March 31. 2023 March 31. 2022 March 31. 2023 March 31. 2022 March 31. 2023 March 31. 2022 March 31. 2023 

2.42 2.42 1.35 1.35 6.07 6.07 121.03 

0.95 2.00 8.59 

1.47 2.42 1.35 1.35 4.06 6.07 112.44 

1.79 1.69 0.67 0.67 4.25 401 1448 

0.01 0.10 0.17 0.24 () 65 

0.60 1.36 :\ 31 

1.20 1.79 0.67 0.67 3.06 4.25 9.81 

0.27 0.63 0.68 0.68 1.01 1.82 102.63 

As at 

:\Iarch 31. 2022 

121 03 

121.03 

13.47 

I 01 

14.48 

106.55 



IRB InvIT Fund 
Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended March 31,2023 

FINANCIAL ASSETS 

Note 5 : Investments 

A) Non - current investments 

Investments in Government or trust securities 

(unquoted) (at amortised cost) 
National saving certificates 

B) CUlTent investments 

a) Investments in mutual funds (quoted) 
(at fair value through profit and loss) 

Aditya Birla Sun Life Liquid Fund 

31,189.92 units @ Rs. 363.08 (March 31,2022 : 4,539,703.54 units @ Rs. 343.1252) 

L&T Liquid Fund 
Nil (March 31, 2022: 27,449.668 units@Rs.2,914.9581) 
Aditya Birla Sun Life Saving Fund * 
24,339.56 units @ Rs.470.36 (March 31,2022 : Nil) 
SBI Overnight Direct Growth Fund 
268,294.37 units @ Rs.3,649.25 (March 31,2022 : Nil) 
SBI Liquid fund 
87,207.0 I units @ Rs.3,523.30 (March 31,2022 : Nil) 
SBI Magnum Low Duration Fund Direct Plan * 
1,76,462.90 units @ Rs.3,065.09 (March 31,2022: 1,76,462.90 units @ Rs.2909.3029) 

* [(Mutual fund held for DSRA Rs. 5,523.20 lakhs (March 31, 2022: Rs. 5,133.84Iakhs)] 

Total (B) 

Total (A+B) 

Aggregate book value of quoted investments 
Market value of quoted investments 
Aggregate amount of un quoted investments 

As at 
March 31,2023 

0.40 

0.40 

113.25 

114.46 

9,790.72 

3,072.57 

5,408.74 

18,499.74 

18,500.14 

18,499.74 
18,499.74 

0.40 

(Rs. in Lakhs) 

As at 
March 31,2022 

0.40 

0.40 

15,576.87 

800.15 

5,133.84 

21,510.86 

21,511.26 

21,510.86 
21,510.86 

0.40 



JRB InvJT Fund 
Consolidated Financial Statemcnts for the year ended March 31, 2023 

Notc 6 : Othcr financial assets 
Receivable from government authorities (NI-IAI) 
Interest accrued on fixed deposits 
Retention money receivables 
Othcr receivables 
Security and other deposits 

Total 

Note 7 : Cash and cash equivalents 

Cash and bank balanccs 
Balances with banks: 

- on currcnt accounts 
- on escrow accounts 

Cash on hand 

Total 

Note 8 : Bank balances other than cash and cash equivalent 
- Unpaid distribution accounts 

- on escrow accounts 

- Original maturity ofless than 3 Months * 
- Original maturity of more than 3 months but less than 12 months 

Total 
* Lien marked by bank 

Note 9 : Loans 
(Unsecured, considered good, unless otherwise stated) 
Loans to employees 

Total 

Note 10 : Income tax assets (net) 
Advance income-tax (net of provision for tax of Rs_ 488_80 lakhs_ March 
31,2022: Rs_ 104.13Iakhs) 

Total 

Note 11 : Other cun-ent assets 
Advance with suppliers 
Prepaid expenses 
Duties and taxes receivables 
Total 

As at March 31, 2023 

Current 

32,297.34 
6.78 

410.69 
630.89 

79.15 

33,424.85 

Non-current 

1,16,684.68 

1,16,684.68 

(Rs. in Lakhs) 
As at March 31, 2022 

Current 

8,214.94 
3.62 

233.42 
705.63 

64.24 

9,221.85 

As at 
March 31, 2023 

43.68 
2,246.04 

35.66 

2,325.38 

33.86 

723.00 

518.90 

1,275.76 

5.93 

5.93 

613.54 

613.54 

19.41 
9,897.11 
9,916.52 

Non-current 

(Rs. in Lakhs) 

As at 
March 31, 2022 

253.52 
1,114.11 

64.80 

1,432.43 

48.28 
64,701.32 

2,807.50 

35.19 

67,592.29 

3.91 

3.91 

611.72 

611.72 

32.22 
5.57 

65.85 
103.64 



IRB InvIT Fund 
Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended March 31,2023 

Note 12 : Equity 

I. llnit capital 

580,500,000 (March 31, 2022: 580,500,0(0) units (issue pricc : 
Rs.1(2) 

Initial settlement amount 

Rights of Onit holders 

As at 
I\lal'ch 31, 2023 

4.91,393.25 

4,91,393.25 

0.10 

(Rs. in Lakhs) 

As at 
March 31, 2022 

5, I 0,259.50 

5,10,259.50 

0.10 

Subject to the provisions of the InvlT Regulations, the Indenture of Fund, and applicable rules, regulations and guidelines, the rights ofthe unit holders include: 

a) right to receive income or distributions with respect to the units held: 

b) right to attend the annual generalmceting and other meetings of the unit holders of the Fund; 

c) right to vote upon any matterslresolutions proposed in relation to the Fund; 

d) right to receive periodic information having a bearing on the operations or performance of the Fund in accordance with the !twIT Regulations; and 

e) right to apply to the Fund to take up certain issues at meetings for unit holders approval. 

In accordance with the !twIT Regulations, no unit holders shall enjoy superior voting or any other rights over any other unit holders, and there shall not be multiple classes 
of units. There shall be only one denomination of units. Notwithstanding the above, subordinate units may be issued only to the Sponsor and its Associates, where such 
subordinate units shall carry only inferior voting or any other rights compared to the other units. 

Limitation to the Liability of the "nit holders 

The liability of each unit holders towards the payment of any amount (that may arise in relation to the Fund including any taxes, duties, fines, levies, liabilities, costs or 
expenses) shall be limited only to the extent of the capital contribution of such unit holders and after such capital contribution shall have been paid in full by the unit 
holders. the unit holders shall not be obligated to make any further payments. The unit holders(s) shall not have any personal liability or obligation with respect to the Fund. 

II. Reconciliation of the number of "nits outstanding and the amount of unit capital: 

At the beginning of the year 

Issued during the year 

Less: Capital reduction during the year 

At the end of the year 

Details of unit holders holding more than 5% units: 

IRB Infrastructure Developers Limited 

Government Of Singapore 

Aditya Birla Sun Lifc TrustclO Private Limited AIC Aditya 
Birla Sun Lite Equity Hybrid '95 Fund 

Details of Sponsor units 

IRB Infrastructure Developers Limited 

Note: 13 : Other equity 

Retained earnings 
At the beginning of the year 
Proflt/(Ioss) tor the year 
Other comprehensive incomc/(Ioss) for the year 

Rc-mcasurcmcnt gains/ (losses) on defined bencllt plans 
Interest distribution (refer notc 46) 
At the end of the year 

As at March 31,2023 

No. of units 
Amount Rs. in 

laldls 

58.05.00.000 5.10.259.50 

18,866.25 

58,05,00,000 4,91,393.25 

As at March 31, 2023 

No. of units 

9,27.05,000 

4,39,77,500 

3,71,00,000 

% of total unit 
capital 

15.97% 

7.58% 

6.40% 

As at March 31, 2023 

No. of units 

9,27,05,000 

As at 
March 31, 2023 

(96,34129) 
36,958.02 

(2939) 
(31.347.00) 
(90,759.66) 

% Holding 
15.97% 

(Rs. in Lakhs) 

As at 
March 31,2022 

(95,850.79) 
30,265.99 

10.01 
(30.76650) 
(96,341.29) 

As at March 31, 2022 

No. of units 
Amount Rs. in 

lakhs 

58.05.00.000 5.31.l5750 

20,898.00 

58.0S.00,OOO 5,10,259.S0 

As at March 31, 2022 

No. of units 

9.27.05,000 

4.52,45,000 

3.71.00.000 

% of total unit 
capital 

15.97% 

7.79% 

6.40% 

As at March 31, 2022 

No. of units % Holding 

9.27,05.000 15.97% 



IRB InvIT Fund 
Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended March 31,2023 

Note: 14 : Borrowings 
Non-current borrowings 

Term loans (Secured) 
Indian rupee loan from banks 

Less: current maturities expected to be settled within 12 month from balance sheet date 

Indian rupee loan from financial institutions 

Less: current maturities expected to be settled within 12 month from balance sheet date 

Unamortised transaction cost 

From other parties (secured) 
Deferred premium obligation 

Interest payable on premium deferment 

Total 

1. Indian rupee loan from banks/ financial institutions 

As at 
March 31, 2023 

2,32,280.45 
(10,773.00) 

2,21,507.45 

18,800.00 

(94.00) 

18,706.00 

(1,039.65) 

33,694.45 

20,067.61 

2,92,935.86 

(Rs. in Lakhs) 
As at 

March 31, 2022 

1,42,205.45 
(5,425.00) 

1,36,780.45 

(946.42) 

32,065.45 

16,265.66 

1,84,165.14 

i) Secured by pari pasu charge on escrow account and on receivable of fund arising out of principal and interest payment of the loans by 
Fund to subsidiaries. 

ii) Pledge of shares held of 51 % of share holding in the total paid-up equity share capital of IRB laipur Deoli Tollway Limited, IRB 
Pathankot Amritsar Toll Road Limited and VK I Expressway Limited. 

iii) Interest rates on Indian rupee loan is ranging from 7.25% p.a. to 8.90% p.a. (Previous year: 7.25% p.a. to 8.15% p.a.). The Indian rupee 
loans from banks/ financial instititutions is repayable in unstructured quarterly/ half yearly instalment as per the repayment schedule 
specified in loan agreement with the Lenders. 

2. Deferred premium obligation 

National Highways Authority ofindia has approved deferment of premium obligation which carries interest rate @ 2% above the RBI bank 
rate. Bank guarantee has been provided to NHAI. The repayment is in accordance with the cash surplus accruing to the Company over the 
concession period. 

There have been no breaches in the financial covenants with respect to borrowings. 
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Note 15 : Other financial liabilities 

Prcmium obligation! negative grant to NHAI 

Unclaimcd distribution 

Deposits 

Retention money payable 

Revenue share payable 

Employee benefits payable 

Other payable 

Capital creditors 

Total 

Note 16 : Provisions 
Provision for employee benefits 

- Leave encashment 

- Gratuity (refer note 44) 

Others 

Resurfacing expenses * 
Total 

As at March 31, 2023 

Current 

18,700.83 

33.86 

1.60 

702.97 

2,196.01 

123.36 

5,572.95 

27,331.58 

7.90 

1,553.95 

1,561.85 

Non-current 

1,696.48 

4,87,397.96 

33.85 

6,272.95 

6,306.80 

(Rs. in Lakhs) 
As at March 31, 2022 

Current 

64,935.85 

48.28 

8.12 

291.06 

13,580.36 

207.49 

359.00 

79,430.16 

5.82 

20.80 

1,272.84 

1,299.46 

Non-cUlTent 

5.06,031.31 

1,696.49 

5,07,727.80 

239.68 

1,258.81 

1,498.49 

* The above provisions are based on current best estimation of expenses that may be required to fulfil the resurfacing obligation as pcr the 
service concession agreement with regulatory authorities. It is expected that significant portion of the costs will be incurred over the 
period. The actual expense incurred may vary from the above. No reimbursements are expected from any sources against the ahove 
obligation. 

The movement in resurfacing expenses is as follows: 

Particulal's 

Opening balance 

Add: Provision made during the year 

Less: Utilised during the year 

Total 

Note: 17 : Deferred tax liahilities 

DefelTed tax liabilities: 

Difference in depreciation and other differences in block of Property, plant and equipment as 
per tax books & financial books 

Deferred tax liabilities 

Note 18 : Othcr liabilitics 
Advancc fi'OIU customers 
Deferred revenue 
Duties and taxes payable 

Total 

Note: 19: Borrowings 

Current maturities of long-tenu borrowings 

- Indian rupee loan from banks 

- Indian rupee loan from financial institutions 

Notc : 20 : T.-ade payables 

Total outstanding dues of micro cnterprises and small 
enterprises (refer note 32) 

Total outstanding dues of creditors other than micro and 
small enterprises 

Total 

Terms and conditions of the above financial liabilities: 

As at March 31, 2023 

CUlTcnt 

712.02 
160.57 

872.59 

Non-cUlTcnt 

13.236.06 

13,236.06 

Trade payables arc non-interest bearing and arc normally settled on 90 day terms. 

As at 
Mal'ch 31, 2023 

2,531.65 

7,039.39 

(1,744.14) 

7,826.90 

As at 
March 31, 2022 

11,756.54 

4,845.11 

( 14,070.00) 

2,531.65 

37.5 I 

37.51 

As at March 31, 2022 

CUlTcnt 

3222 

238.62 

270.84 

As at 
Mal'eh 31, 2023 

10,773.00 

94.00 

10,867.00 

14.38 

10,744.35 

10,758.73 

Non-cun'cnt 

As at 
March 31, 2022 

5,425.00 

5,425.00 

12.83 

1,981.51 

1,994.34 
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Notc 21 : Rcvcnuc frol11 opcrations 

Income arising out of toll collection (net of revenue share paid to NHAI) 
Toll collection charges (net of additional revenue share paid to NHAI) 
Contract revenue (utility shifting) 
Interest income on annuity 
Operation and maintenance revenue 
Other operating income 

Total 

Disaggrcgatcd I'cvcnuc information 
The table below presents disaggregated revenue from contracts with customers 

Incomc from services (Revcnuc from contracts with Customcrs) 
Scrvices transferrcd over time 
Income from tolI colIection 
Contract revcnuc (Utility shifting) 
Interest income on annuity 
Operation and maintenance revenue 
Toll colIection charges 
Revenuc fl'om contracts with customcl's 
Othcr opcrating rcvcnuc 
Other operating income 
Total rcvenue from operation 

Pcrformance obligation 
Income from toll collcction 

For the year 
ended 

Mal'ch 31, 2023 

90,190.51 
128.96 

4,536.78 
6,151.65 

576.66 
42,587.93 

1,44,172.49 

90,190.51 
4,536.78 
6,151.65 

576.66 
128.96 

1,01,584.56 

42,587.93 
1,44,172.49 

(Rs. in Lakhs) 

For the year 
ended 

Mal'ch 31, 2022 

1,28,857.01 
96.94 

802.32 

9,400.35 
1,39,156.62 

1,28,857.01 
802.32 

96.94 
1,29,756.27 

9,400.35 
1,39,156.62 

The performance obligation in service of toll collection is recorded as per rates notified by NHAI and approved by management and 
payment is generally due at the time of providing services. 

Contract revcnllc 
The' performance obligation under contractual agreements is due on completion of work as per terms of contracts. 

Contract balances 

Contract assets 

• Amount include toll receivable 

Contract Liabilities 
Contract liabilities 

1,50,689.45 

1,50,689.45 

2,196.01 
2,196.01 

There arc no reconciling items in the revenue recognised in the statement of profit and loss with contracted price. 

Note 22 : Othel' income 

Interest income on 
- Bank deposits 
- Others 

Profit on sale of investments (net) 
Change in fair value on mutual funds 
Other non operating income 
Total 

Notc 23 : Opcrating cxpcnscs . 

Operation and maintenance expenses 
Site and other direct expenses 
Total 

33.69 
48.87 

897.36 
303.11 
727.38 

2,010.41 

51,832.54 
666.68 

52,499.22 

8,778.42 

8,778.42 

8,721.74 
8,721.74 

36.86 
354.46 
233.58 
199.30 
53.53 

877.73 

4,531.11 
1,367.85 
5,898.96 
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Note 24 : Employee benefits expense 

Salaries, wages and bonus 
Contribution to provident and other funds 
Gratuity expenses 
Staff welfare expenses 

Total 

Note 25 : Depreciation and amortisation expenses 

Depreciation on propeliy, plant and equipment 
AmOliisation on intangible assets 
Total 

Note 26 : Finance costs 

Interest expense 
- Banks and financial institutions 
- Premium deferment 
- Unwinding of discount on provision of MMR 
Other finance costs (Including unamOliised transaction cost) 
Total 

Note 27 : Other expcnscs 
Power and fuel 
Rent 
Rates and taxes 
Travelling and conveyance 
Communication cost 
Prihting and stationery 
Advertisement expenses 
Directors sitting fees (including GST ) 
Corporate Social Responsibilities 
Legal and professional expenses 
Payment to Auditor (including GST) 
Bank charges 
Miscellaneous expenses 
Total 

Payment to auditor (including GST) 
As auditors: 
- Statutory audit fees 
- Limited review fees 
- Tax audit fees 
In other capacity: 
- Other services (certification fees) 
Reimbursement of expenses 

For the year 
ended 

March 31, 2023 

1,391.85 
100.77 
24.59 

145.39 
1,662.60 

0.65 
26,131.95 
26,132.60 

14,832.78 
3,801.95 

561.11 
62.20 

19,258.04 

3.82 
5.74 
2.27 
0.99 
0.31 
7.91 

21.83 
56.00 

896.13 
34.53 

5.13 
4.59 

1,039.25 

11.96 
14.05 

1.06 

2.59 
1.32 

30.98 

(Rs. in Lakhs) 

For the year 
ended 

March 31,2022 

2,167.74 
154.86 
38.31 

233.23 
2,594.14 

1.04 
68,071.71 
68,072.75 

10,840.71 
2,767.37 

314.00 
262.29 

14,184.37 

1.34 
8.81 

97.81 
0.42 
1.30 
0.02 

15.67 
18.22 

733.57 
45.29 

8.37 
240.25 

1,171.07 

22.07 
17.88 

3.98 
1.37 

45.29 
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Note 28 : Earnings per unit (EPlJ) 

The following reflects the income and share data used in the basic and diluted EPU computations: 

Profit / (loss) attributable to Unit holders for basic and diluted earnings 

Weighted average number of Units in calculating basic and diluted EPU 
Basic earning per Unit (Rupees!unit) 

Diluted earning per Unit (Rupees/unit) 

Note 29 : Components of other comllrehensive income 

The disaggregation of changes to OCI by each type of reserve in equity is shown below: 

Re-measurement gains/ (losses) on defIned benefit plans (Refer note 44) 

Total 

Note 30: Commitment and Contingent liability 

a. Commitments 

a) Commitment for acquisition of toll equipment & machineries 

b) Other commitments 

b. Contingent liability 
Contingent liabilities not provided for 

There are no contingent liabilities as as March 3 1,2023 (March 31,2022: Nil). 

For the year 

ended 
March 31, 2023 

36,958.02 
58,05,00,000 

6.37 
6.37 

For the year 
ended 

March 31, 2023 

(29.39) 

(29.39) 

As at 
March 31, 2023 

(Rs in Lakhs) 

For the year 
ended 

Mllrch 31, 2022 
30,265.99 

58,05,00,000 

5.21 

5.21 

(Rs. in Lakhs) 

For the year 

ended 
March 31, 2022 

10.01 

10.01 

(Rs. in Lakhs) 

As at 
March 31,2022 

1.24 

1.24 

i) The Group's pending litigations comprise of claims against the Group primarily by the commuters and regulators. The Group has reviewed all its pending litigations and 
proceedings and has adequately provided for where provisions are required. Thc Group has not provided for or disclosed contingent liabilities for matters considered as remote 

for pending litigations/public litigations(PIL)!claims wherein the managcment is conlldent, based on the internal legal assessment and advice of its lawyers that these litigations 

would not result into any liabilities. The Group does not expect the outcome of these proceedings to have a material adverse effect on the consolidated financial statements. 

ii) There are numerous interpretative issues relating to the Supreme Court (SC) judgement on Provident fund dated 28th February, 2019. Management believed and evaluated that 

the impact is not material. The Group will update its provision, on receiving li.lrther clarity on the subject. 

Note 3 t : Segment reporting 

The Group's activities comprise of Toll Collection in various parts of India. Based on the guiding principles given in Ind AS - 108" Operating Segments", this activity falls within 

a single operating segment and accordingly the disclosures of the standard have no! separately been given. 

Note 32 : Trade payable 

a) Details of dues to micro and small entcrprises as (lcr MSMED Act, 2006 

The following details regarding Micro and small Enterprises has been determined to the extent such parties has been identitlcd on the basis of information available with the 

Group. 

(Rs in I akhs) " 

Particulars 
As at As at 

March 31, 2023 March 31, 2022 

Principal amount remaining unpaid to any supplier as at the year end 1438 12.83 
Interest due thereon - -

Amount of interest paid by the Company in terms of section 16 of the MSMFD, along with the amount of the payment made to the 
suppl ier beyond the appointed day during the accounting period. 

Amount of interest due and payable for the period of dclay in making payment (which have been paid but beyond the appointed day 

during the period) but without adding the interest specilled under the MSMED, 2006 
-

Amount of interest accrued and rcmaining unpaid at the end of the accounting period -

The amount of further interest remaining due and payable even in the succeeding years, until such date when the interest dues as above 

are actually paid to the small enterprise for the purpose of disallowance as a deductible expenditure under the MSMED Act, 2006 -
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Particulars 

MSME Undisputed Dues 

Unbilled amount 

Less than I year 
1-2 Years 
2-3 Years 

More than 3 years 

Total dues to micro and small enterprises as per MSMED Act, 2006 

There are no disputed dues to micro and small enterpriscs as per MSMED Act, 2006. 

b) Ageing of creditors other than micro enterprises and small enterprises as at 

Particulars 

Undisputed Dues 

Unbilled amount 
Less than I year 
1-2 Years 
2-3 Years 

More than 3 years 

Total dues to creditors other than micro enterprises and slllall enterprises as at 

There are no disputed dues to creditors other than micro enterprises and small enterprises. 

Note 33 : Fair values 

The carrying values offlnancials instruments of the group arc reasonable and approximations affair values 

As at 
March 31, 2023 

14.38 

As at 
March 31, 2023 

151.83 
10,406.71 

28.59 

154.60 

2.61 

10,744.35 

As at 
March 31, 2022 

12.83 

As at 
March 31, 2022 

368.31 
1,35948 

62.67 

191.05 

1,981.51 

(Rs. in Lakhs) 

As at March 31, 2023 As at March 31, 2022 

Financial assets 
Financial assets measured at amortised cost 
Loans 

Other financial assets 

Cash and cash equivalents 

Bank balance other than cash and cash equivalents 
Investments 

Financial assets measured at fair value through statement of Profit & Loss 

Investments 

Total 

Financial liabilities 

Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost 

Borrowings 

Trade payables 

Other financial liabilities 

Carrying amount 

5.93 

1,50,109.53 

2,325.38 
1,275.76 

040 

18,499.74 
1,72,216.74 

3,03,802.86 

10,758.73 

5,14,729.54 
8,29,291.13 

Fair Value 

5.93 

1,50, I 09.53 

2,325.38 

1,275.76 

OAO 

18,499.74 
1,72,216.74 

3,04,842.51 

10,758.73 

.'.1~.729.54 

8.3U,330.78 

Carrying amount Fair Value 

3.91 3.91 

9,221.85 9,221.85 

1,432.43 1,432.43 
67,592.29 67,592.29 

0.40 040 

21,510.86 21,510.86 
99,761.74 99,761.74 

1,89.590.14 1,90,536.56 
1,994.34 1,994.34 

5,87,157.96 5,87,157.96 
7,78,742.44 7,79,688.86 

The management assessed that cash and cash equivalents, trade receivables, trade payables, bank overdrans and other current liabilities approximate their carrying amounts 
largely due to the short-term maturities of these instruments. 

The fair value of the financial assets and liabilities is included at the amount at which the instrument could be exchanged in a current transaction between willing parties, other 

than in a forced or liquidation sale. 

The Group is required to present the Statement of total assets at fair value and Statement of total returns at fair value as per SEBI Circular No. CJR/IMD/DF/I 1412016 dated 

October 20, 2016 as a part of these Consolidated fInancial statements - Refer Statement of Net assets at fair value and Statement of Total Returns at fair value. 

Note 34 : Fair value hierarchy 

All financial instruments for which fair value is recognised or disclosed are categorised within the fair value hierarchy described as follows, based on the lowest level input that is 

significant to the fair value measurement as a whole. 

Lewl I Quoted (unadjusted) price is active market for identical assets or liabilities 

Level 2: Valuation technique for which the lowest level input that has a significant effect on the fair value measurement arc observed, either directly or indirectly 

Level 3: Valuation technique for which the lowcst level input has a significant cffect on the fair value measurement is not based on observable market data. 

The following table presents fair value hierarchy of assets and liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis: 

(Rs in Lakhs) 

As at Fair vHlue measurement at end of the reporting year using 
March 31, -----------------------

2023 Level I Level 2 Level 3 

Investments in mutual hmd 

(Rs. in Lakhs) 

As at Fair vulue measurement at end of the reporting year using 

Investments in mutual fund 

There has been no transfer between Level I, Level 2 & Level 3 during the year 
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Note 35 : Financial risk management objectives and Jlolicies 

The Group's risk management policies arc established to identify and analyse the risks f;lced by the Group, to set appropriate risk limits and controls, and to monitor risks and 

adherence to limits. Risk management policies and systems arc reviewed regularly to reflect changes in market conditions and the Group's activities. 

The Board of Directors has overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of the Group's risk management framework. 

In performing its operating, inVesting and financing activities, the Group is exposed to the Credit risk, Liquidity risk and Currency risk. 

Market risk 

Market risk is the risk that the fair yalue of future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market prices. Market risk comprises three types of 

risk: interest rate risk, currency risk and other price risk, such as equity price risk and commodity risk. Financial instruments affected by market risk include loans and 

borrowings and deposits. 

Credit risk 

Credit risk is the risk that a counter party will not meet its obligations under a financial instrument or customer contract, leading to a financial loss. The Fund is exposed to credit 

risk from its investing activities including investments, trade receivables, loans, deposits with banks and other financial instruments. As at March 31,2023, and as at March 31, 

2022 the credit risk is considered low since substantial transactions of the Fund are with its subsidiaries. 

Interest rate risk 

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates. The Group's exposure to the 

risk of changes in market interest rates relates primarily to the Group's long-term debt obligations with floating interest rates. 

Interest rate sensitivity 

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonably possible change in interest rates on that portion of loans and borrowings affected, after excluding the credit 

exposure for which interest rate swap has been taken and hence thc interest rate is fixed. With all other variables held constant, the fund's profit before tax is affected through the 
impact on floating rate borrowings, as follows: 

Increase in basis points 

-INR 

Elfect on profit before tax 

-INR 

Decrease in basis points 

-INR 

EfTect on profit before tax 

-INR 

Liquidity risk 

For the year 

ended 
March 31, 2023 

50 

1,507.10 

50 

(1,507.10) 

(Rs. in Lakhs) 

For the year 

ended 
March 31,2022 

50 

700.88 

50 

(70088) 

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group may not he able to meet its present and future cash and collateral obligations without incurring unacceptable losses. The Group's 

objective is to, at all times maintain optimum levels of liquidity to meet its cash and collateral requirements. The Group closely monitors its liquidity position and deploys a 

robust cash management system. It maintains adequate sources of financing including debt and overdraft from banks at an optimised cost. 

The table below summarises the maturity profile orthe Group's iinancial liabilities based on contractual undiseounted payments: 

(Rs. in Lakhs) 

As at !\larch 31, 2023 Less than 1 year 1 to 5 years > 5 years Total 

Borrowings 31,861.22 1,68,758.53 3,45,107.67 5,45,727.42 

Other tlnancialliabilities 27,331.58 L14.78 1.49 3,72,616.47 5,14,729.54 

Trade payables 

Total 69,951.52 2,83,540.03 7,17,724.13 10,71,215.68 

(Rs. in Lakhs) 

As at !\larch 31, 2022 Less than 1 year 1 to 5 years > 5 years Total 

Borro\vings 15,587.81 88,911.63 1,91,111.09 2,95,610.53 

Other iinancialliabilities 81,126.63 79,035.57 4,26,995.76 5,87,157.96 

Trade payables 1,994.34 1,994.34 

Total 98,708.78 1,67,947.20 6,18,106.85 8,84,762.83 

At present, the Group does expects to repay all liabilities at their contractual maturity. In order to meet such cash commitments, the operating activity is expected to generate 
sufficient cash inflows. 
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Note 36 : Capital management 

Capital includes equity attributable to the equity holders to ensure that it maintains an efficient capital structure and healthy capital ratios in order to support its business and 
maximise shareholder value. The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it, in light of changes in economic conditions or its business requirements. To 
maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the dividend payment to shareholders, return capital to shareholders or issue new shares, No changes were made in 
the objectives, policies or processes during the year ended March 31,2023 and March 31,2022, 
The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio, which is net debt divided by total capital plus net debt Net debt is calculated as loans and borrowings less cash and cash 
equivalents. 

Borrowings (Note 14 & 19) 

Less: Cash and cash equivalents (Note 7) 

Net debt 

Equity (Note 12& 13) 

Total equity 

Capital and net debt 

Gearing ratio ('Yo) 

As at 
March 31, 2023 

3,04,842,51 

(2,32538) 

3,02,517.13 

4,00,633,69 

4,00,633.69 

7,03,150.82 

43.02% 

(Rs, in Lakhsl 
As at 

Mareh 31, 2022 
1,90,536,56 

(1,43243) 

1,89,104.13 

4,13,918,31 

4,13,918.31 

6,03,022.44 

31.36% 

In order to achieve this overall objective, the Group's capital management, amongst other things, aims to ensure that it meets financial covenants attached to the interest-bearing 
loans and borrowings that define capital structure requirements. Breaches in meeting the financial covenants would permit the bank to immediately call loans and borrowings. 
There have been no breaches in the financial covenants of any interest-bearing borrowings in the current year. 

Note 37 : Details of Project management fees and Investment management fees 

Details of fees paid to project manager and investment manager as required pursuant to SEBI Circular No, CIRIMD/DFIl27i2016, dated November 29,2016 are as under: 

i) Project management fees 

In accordance with the Project Implementation Agreements, the fees and remuneration payable by the Project SPYs to the Project Manager has been worked out and agreed upon 
for the duration of current financial year, between the Project Manager, Investment Manager and the respective Project SPY, on an arm's length basis, after taking into account 
the extent of work to be done in respect of maintenance and other services to be provided by the Project Manager to such Project SPY. 

ii) Investment management fees 

Pursuant to the Invcstment Management Agreement, the Investment Manager is entitled to an Investment Management fees to be calculated @ I % per annum, exclusive of GST, 
of the consolidated toll revenue (net of premium paid I revenue shared with NHAI) of the Fund at the end of the reporting period subject to a floor ofRs. 100 million and a cap of 
Rs. 250 million. 

Note 38: Significant accounting judgement, estimates and assumptions 

The preparation of the Group's financial statements requires management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of revenue, expenses, 
assets and liabilities, and the accompanying disclosures, and the disclosure of contingent liabilities, Uncertainty about these assumptions and estimates could result in outcomes 
that require a material adjustment to the carrying amount of assets or liabilities affected in future years, 

Estimates and assumptions 

Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimateS arc recognized in the year in which the estimates are revised and 
future periods ar~ affected. 

The Group based its assumptions and estimates on parameters available when the financial statemenb \\cre prepared. Existing circllmstances and assumptions about future 
developments, however, may change due to market changes or circumstances arising that are beyond the control of the Group, Such changes are reflectcd in the assumptions 
when they occur. 

Classification of unit holders' funds 

Under the provisions of the InvlT Regulations, the Group is required to distribute to unit holders not less than ninety percent of the net distributable cashflows of the Group for 
each financial ycar. Accordingly, a portion of the unit holders'funds contains a contractual obligation of the Fund to pay to its unit holders cash distributions. The unit holders' 
funds could therefore have been classilled as compound lInancial instrument which contain both equity and liability components in accordance with Ind AS 32- Financial 
Instruments: Presentation, However, in accordance with SEBI Circulars (NoCIR/IMD/DFIlI4/2016 dated October 20,2016 and No. CIR/IMDIDF/I27/2016 dated 29-Nov-2016) 
issued under the InvlT Regulations, the unit holders' funds have been classified as equity in order to complv with the mandatory requirements of Section Ii of Annexure A to the 
SEl3I Circular dated October 20, 2016 dealing with the minimum disclosures for key 11nancial statements, In line with the above, the dividend payable to unit holders is 
recognised as liability when the same is approved by the Investment Manager. 

i) Major maintenance expenses I Resurfacing expenses 

As per the Service Concession Agreements, the Group is obligated to carry out resurfacing of the roads under concession, Provision required for resurfacing expenses are 
measured at the present value of the expenditure required to settle the present obligation at the end of the reporting period, The discount rate used to determine the present value 
is a pre-tax rate that reflects the riSKS specillc to the liability, The increase in the provision due to the passage of time is recognised as 11nance cost, in the statement of profit and 
loss in accordance with Ind AS 37 "Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets", 
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ii) Fair value and disclosures 

SEBI Circulars issued under the InvlT Regulations require disclosures relating to net assets at f;,ir value and total retuflls at fair value (refer Statement of net assets at fair value 
and Statement of total returns at fair value). In estimating the fair value of road projects (which constitutes substantial portion of the total assets), the Group engages independent 

qualified external valuers to perform the valuation. The management works closely with the valuers to establish the appropriate valuation techniques and inputs to the model. The 
management r~pol1s the valuation report and findings to the Board of the Investment Manager half yearly to explain the cause oi'lluctuations in the fair value of1he road projects 

The inputs to the valuation models arc taken from observable markets where possible, but where this is not feasible, a degree of judgment is required in establishing fair values. 
Judgments include considerations of inputs such as Debt-equity ratio, WACC, Tax rates, Inflation rates, and uncertainties relating to COVID -19 etc 

iii) Taxes 

Current tax 

There are many transactions and calculations undertaken during the ordinary course of business for which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain. Where the final tax 

outcome of these matters is different from the amounts initially recorded, such differences will impact the current and deferred tax provisions in the period in which the tax 
determination is made. The assessment of probability involves estimation ofa number oHactors including future taxable income. 

Deferred tax 

The subsidiary companies shall be claiming deduction under section 80-IA of the Income 'I ax Act, 1961. There are signiticant timing differences that result in deferred tax assets! 

liabilities and which shall be reversing during the said tax holiday period. Consequently, the Company has not recognized any deferred tax asset/liability on such non-taxable 

income. 

iv) Defined benefit plans (gratuity benefits) 

A liability in respect of defined benefit plans is recognised in the balance sheet and is measured as the present value of the defined benefit obligation at the reporting date. The 

present value of the defined benefit obligation is based on expected future payments at the reporting date, calculated annually by independent actuaries. Consideration is given to 

expected future salary levels, experience of employee departures and periods of service. 

v) Amortization of intangible assets 

The intangible assets which are recognized in the form of Right to charge users of the infrastructure asset are amortized by taking proportionate of actual revenue received for the 

year over Total Projected Revenue from project to Cost of Intangible assets. The estimation of total projection revenue requires significant assumption about expected grO\,th 

rate and traffic projection for future. All assumptions are reviewed at each reporting date. 

vi) Impairment of intangible assets 

Impairment exists when the carrying value of an asset or cash generating unit exceeds its recoverable amount, which is the higher of its I>,ir value less costs of disposal and its 

value in use. The recoverable amounts for the intangible assets are based on value in use of the underlying projects. The value in usc calculation is based on a DCF model. The 

cash nows are derived from budgets i forecasts over the life of the projects. 

Note 39: Revenue share/ PremiulII payment to NHAI 

(a) During the year ended March 31, 2023, the Group has paid/accrued Rs. 14,373.09 lakhs (March 31, 2022: Rs. 45,398.81 lakhs) as Revenue Share to National Highwavs 

Authority of India ("NHAI") out of its toll collection in accordancc with the Concession Agreements entered with NHAI. Income from Operations in the financials for the above 
periods is net olTlhe above Revenue Share to NHAI. 

(b) Subsidiary companies i.e. IRBTC and MVR have been awarded contracts on a DBFOT basis. As per the terms of the concession agreement the group is obligated to pay 
NlIAI as additional concession fce over the concession period. Accordingly, the liability for the entire amount of concession fee payable has been created and the corresponding 

amount is shown as Toll Collection Rights under the head Intangible Assets. 

(c) Due to dispute on the dcferred premium calculation of previous years between the Company rthe concessionaire') and the NHAI, the concessionaire has flied appeal with the 
Hon'ble High Court of Delhi for resolution against the NHArs demand of advance premium of Rs. 16.98 crore in aggregate and interest on it. As pCI' the interim order of the 

Division Bench of Iion'ble High Court, withdrawals fro," herow Account are not permitted till the final order in the matter. The Division Bench or \ lon'ble High Court, while 

disposing off the petitions, had continued with the embugo on withdrawals from the Escrow Account. The Iion'ble High Court further referred the matter to Arbitration Tribunal 

for adjudication and interim felice if any, to the Parties based on their applications. 
During the arbitration proceedings, the Hon'ble Arbitral Tribunal, in its Interim Award, had removed the existing embargo on the operations of the Escrow Account and 

permitted the withdrawals towards taxes, O&M payments and debt servicing by the Company aggregating to Rs. 193 crores and also allowed withdrawals for payment of 
undisputed premium! re\'enue share to NHAI. Moreover, the lIon'ble Arbitral Tribunal permitted the operations of the escrow account to continue as per the waterfall mechanism 

provided in the Escrow agreement. The matter is currently pending before the Arbitral Tribunal. 

Note 40 : Project acquisition 

Pursuant to the Share Purchase Agreement dated October 13,2022, the Trust has acquired the subsidi3lY company viz. VK I Expressway Limited ('Project SPV'). Accordingly, 

the revenue and corresponding expenses in Project Spy has been included from October 13, 2022 to December 31, 2022 in the Consolidated Financial Statements. For details, 
kindly refer note 43. 

Note 41 : Corporate Social Responsibility 

For the year ended March 31, 2023 
(a) Gross amount required to be spent by the Company during the year 
(b) Amount spent during the year on: 

Particulars 

(i) Construction/acquisition of any asset 
(ii) On purposes other than (i) above 

For the year ended March 31, 2022 
(a) Gross amount required to be spent by the Company during the year 

(b) Amount spent during the year on: 

Particulars 

(i) Construction/acquisition of any asset 
(ii) On purposes other than (i) above 

In cash 

56.00 

Yet to be paid in 

cash 

Yet to be paid in 

cash 

(Rs. in lakhs) 

55.94 

Total 

56.00 

Total 
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"iote 42 : Other Statutory information 
i) The Group have not traded or inv(:sted in Crypto currency or Virtual Currency during the financial year. 

ii) The Group docs not hold benami property and no proceedings under Henami transaction (Prohibition) Act 1988 have bcen initiated against the Group. 

iii) The Group do not have any transactions with companies struck off. 

iv) The Group have not any such transaction which is not recorded in the books of accounts that has been surrendered or disclosed as income during the year in the tax 
assessments under the Income Tax Act, 1961 (such as, search or surveyor any other relevant provisions of the Income Tax Act, 1961 

v) The Group have not received any fund from any person(s) or entity(ies), including foreign entities (Funding Party) with the understanding (whether recorded in writing or 
otherwise) that the Group shall: 

(a) directly or indirectly lend or invest in other persons or entities identified in any manner whatsoever by or on behalf of the Funding Party (Ultimate Beneficiaries) or 

(b) provide any guarantee, security or the like on behalf of the Ultimate Beneficiaries. 

vi) The Group have not advance or loaned or invested (either from borrowed fund or share premium or any other source or kind offund) by the company to or in any person(s) or 
entity(ies), including foreign entities (Funding Party) with the understanding (whether recorded in writing or otherwise) that the Group shall: 

(a) directly or indirectly lend or invest in other persons or entities identified in any manner whatsoever by or on behalf of the Group (Ultimate Beneficiaries) or 

(b) provide any guarantee, security or the like on behalf of the Ultimate Beneficiaries. 

vii) The Group did not have any long-term contracts including derivative contract for which there were any material foreseeable losses. 

ix) The Group has not declared a wilful defaulter by any bank! financial institution or any other lender during the year. 
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Note 43 : Statement of related party transactions: 

i list of Related Parties o " 
IRB Infrastructure Developers Limited (lRBlDL) (Sponsor & Projcct 

i. Parties to the Fund 
Manager) 

IRB Infrastructure Private Limitcd (lRBFL) (Investment Manager) 

IDBI Trusteeship Services Limited (ITSL) (Trustee) 

ii. Promoters! Directors of the parties to the IRB InvlT Fund specified in (i) above 

Pa.oticulars 

Promoters 

IRB Infrastructure Developers Limited 

(Sponsor & Project manager) 

Mr. Virendra D. Mhaiskar 

Mrs. Deepali V. Mhaiskar 

Virendra D. Mhaiskar HUF 

Mr. Virendra D. Mhaiskar 

Mrs. DeepaJi V. Mhaiskar 

Mr. Chandrashekhar S. Kaptan 

Mr. Sunil H. Talati 

IRB Infrastructure 

Private Limited 

(Investment mana"er) 

IRB Infrastructurc 

Devclopers Limited 

Mr. Vinod Kumar Menon 

Mr. Rajindcr Pal Singh 

Mr. Sunil Tandon 

Mr. Nikesh Jain (\Ve.[ 

16.03.2022) 

IDBI Trusteeship Services Limited (Trustee 

of the IRB lnvlT Fund) 

IDBI Bank Limited 

Life Insurance Corporation of India 

General Insurance Corporation ofIndia 

Mr. J. Samuel Joseph 

Mrs. Jayshree Ranade (w.e.r 20.09.2021) 

Mr. Pradeep Kumar Jain (IV.e.f. 24.03.2022) 

Mr. Pradeep Kumar Malhotra ( w.e. f. 

17.0L2023) 

Mr. San deep J. Shah 
Mr. Rushabh Gandhi (\V.e.f. Mrs. Baljinder Kaur Mandai ( IV.e.[ 

Directors 

Director of 
Subsidia.oy 

Companies 

Rein tives of 

Directors 

Ms. Priti Savla (IV.e.f. 10.02.2022) 

Mr. Jose Angel Tamariz Martel Goncer (IV.e.r 

29.12.2021 ) 

Mr. Ravindra DhariIVal (w.e.f. 05.08.2022) 

Mr. Carlos Ricardo Ugarte Cruz Coke (till 

05.082022) 

Mr. Mukeshlal Gupta (till 29.12.2021 ) 
Mr. Sudhir Rao l'loshing (till 29.12.2021) 
Mrs. Bcena Raja (till 10.0~2022) 

Mr. Vinodkumar Mcnon 

Mr. Bajrang Lal Gupta 

Mr. Sumit 8anerjee 

Mr. Ompml""h Singh 
Mr. Rushabh Gandhi 

Mr. Darsh"n Sangurdckar (\V.c.f. 12.12.2021) 
Mrs. Kshama Vengsarkar (lV.e.f. 12.12.2021) 
Mrs. Becna Raja (till 11.12.2021) 

Mrs. Surabhi Banerjee 
Mrs. Na\'ana Gandhi 

31.03.2023) 17.01.2023) 
Mrs. Anusha Date (w.e.[ 

31.03.2023) 
Mr. Satyajit Tripathy (till 17.09.2021) 

Mr. Ravishankar G. Shinde (till 15032022) 

Mrs. Madhuri 1 Kulkarni (till 06.12.2022) 

Mrs. Padilla Betai (till 31.12.2022) 
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Notc 43 :Statcmcnt of rclatcd party transactions: 

SI". 
Particulars Rclation 

No. 

Rclatcd party transactions for the vcar cnd 

1 Projcct Managcr Fccs 

IRBIDL Project Manager 

2 Contract expenses 

IRBIDL Project Manager 

3 
Invcstment Management fees paid 
(including indircct taxes) 

IRBFL Investment Manager 

4 Secured advance given 

IRBIDL Project Manager 

5 Secured advance recovered 

IRBIDL Project Manager 

6 Interest income 

IRBIDL Project Manager 

7 Director sitting fees Director 

Mr.Vinodkumar Menon 

Mr.Sumit Ban3ljee 

Mr. Bajrang Lal Gupta 

Mrs. Heena Raja 

Mr. Rushabh Gandhi 

Mrs. Kshama Vengsarkar 

Mr. Darshan Sangurdekar 

Mr. Omprakash Singh 

8 Trusteeship Fecs 

ITSL Trustee 

Rs in lakhs 

Ycar cndcd Ycar endcd 
March 31, 2023 March 31, 2022 

8,575.55 27,139.00 

8,575.55 27,139.00 

41,784.26 -

41,784.26 

1,180.00 1,278.15 

1,180.00 1,278.15 

- 25,729.79 

- 25,729.79 

- 25,729.79 

- 25,729.79 

- 335.08 

- 335.08 

18.14 15.44 

3.25 3.07 

2.00 3.30 

3.00 2.50 

- 3.10 

1.52 1.37 

0.94 0.20 

4.70 1.20 

2.73 0.70 

29.50 29.50 

29.50 29.50 



Rs in lakhs 

Sr. 
Particulars Relation 

Yeal' ended Yeal' ended 
No. March 31,2023 March 31,2022 

9 Distribution in the form of interest 5,770.53 5,659.55 

IRBIDL Sponsor 5,006.07 4,913.37 

Mr. Virendra D. Mhaiskar Director of Sponsor 660.96 648.72 

Mrs. Deepali V. Mhaiskar Director of Sponsor 85.95 82.15 

Mr. Sudhir Rao Hoshing Director of Sponsor 8.64 6.56 

Mr. Sunil Talati Director of Sponsor 0.54 0.53 

Mr. Vinodkumar Menon 
Director of Investment 

1.62 1.59 
Manager 

Mr. B L Gupta 
Director of subsidiary 

0.54 0.53 
companies 

Mr. Sumit Banerjee 
Director of subsidiary 

2.97 2.92 
companies 

Mrs. Surabhi Baneljee Relative of Director 1.62 1.59 

Mrs. Nayana Gandhi Relative of Director 1.62 1.59 

10 
Distribution in the form of return of 

3,472.44 3,843.60 
capital 

IRBIDL Sponsor 3,012.91 3,337.38 

Mr. Virendra D. Mhaiskar Director of Sponsor 397.80 440.64 

Mrs. Deepali V. Mhaiskar Director of Sponsor 51.16 55.80 

Mr. Sudhir Rao Hoshing Director of Sponsor 5.20 3.84 

Mr. Vinodkumar Menon 
Director of Investment 

0.98 1.08 
Manager 

Mr. Sunil Talati 
Director of Sponsor & 

0.33 0.36 
Project Manager 

Mr. B L Gupta 
Director of subsidiary 

0.33 0.36 
companies 

Mr. Sumit Banetjee 
Director of subsidiary 

1.79 1.98 
companies 

Mrs. Surabhi Banerjee Relative of Director 0.98 1.08 

Mrs. Nayana Gandhi Relative of Director 0.98 1.08 



IRB InvIT Fund 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for year ended March 31, 2023 
Note 43 :Statement of related party tJ'ansactions : 

Sr. 
Particulars Relation 

No. 

Related narty balances: 

1 Trade Payables 

IRBFL Investment Manager 

IRBIDL Project Manager 

2 Retention money payable 

IRBIDL Project Manager 

Rs. in lakhs 

As on As on 
March 31, 2023 March 31, 2022 

10,238.07 1,037.62 

177.00 647.33 

10,061.07 390.29 

342.24 -

342.24 -

During the year ended March 31,2023, pursuant to the Share Purchase Agreement dated October 13,2022, the 
Fund has acquired VKl Expressway Limited from IRBIDL. 

Summary of valuation report dated August 5,2022 issued by the independent valuer under the SEBI (InvIT) 
Regulations is as follows :-

Fair Enterprise value and equity value of VK 1 Expressway Limited as on July 31,2022 is as under :-

Rs. in lakhs 

Fair enterprise 
Equity value 

Name of the SPY (including 
value 

shareholder loan) 

VK I Expressway Limited ('VK 1 ') 1,32,540.00 37,670.00 

After considering the aforesaid Valuation Report submitted by the relevant independent valuer and pursuant to the 
negotiations between the Investment Manager and the Sponsor, VK 1 was acquired from the Sponsor. The aggregate 
purchase consideration agreed upon of Rs. 34,200 lakhs was utilised for acquisition of 100% of the equity share 
capital of VK I and for payment of the shareholder loan provided to VK 1 by the Sponsor. This aggregate 
consideration is at ~ 9% discount to the Equity Value (i.e., the value of the equity and the shareholder loan of the 
project). 

The project was acquired through external borrowings of Rs. 18,800 lakhs and balance out of internal accruals. 

The following approach and assumptions have been considered for the valuation exercise:-

a. The Free Cash Flows to Firm under the Discounted Cash Flow Method has been used for the purpose of 
valuation of the above SPY. 

b. The Weighted Average Cost of Capital for the above SPY has been considered as the discount rate for the above 
SPY for the purpose of valuation. 

The Fund has not acquired any asset from related patiy during the previous year ended March 31, 2022. 



IRB InvIT Fund 
Consolidated Financial Statements fOI' the year cnded March 31, 2023 

Note 44 : Gratuity and other post cmployment benefit plans 
(a) Defined contdbution plan 

The following amount recognized as an expense in Statement of profit and loss on account of provident fund and other funds. There are no 
other obligations other than the contribution payable to the respective authorities. 

Contribution in defined plan 

(b) Defined benefit plan 

For the year 
ended 

March 31, 2023 

100.77 

(Rs. in Lakhs) 

For the year 
ended 

March 31, 2022 

154.86 

The Group has a funded defined benefit gratuity plan with LIe. The gratuity plan is govemed by the Payment of Gratuity Act, 1972. Under 
the act, employee who has completed five years of service is entitled to specific benefit. The level of benefits provided depends on the 
member's length of service and salary at retirement age. Every employee who has completed five years or more of service gets a gratuity on 
departure at IS days salary (last drawn salmy) for each completed year of service as per the provision of the Payment of Gratuity Act, 1972. 

The following tables summarise the components of net benefit expense recognised in the Statement of Profit and Loss and the funded status 
m1d ml10unts recognised in the balance sheet for the Gratuity plan. 

Statement of profit and loss 
Net employee benefit expense recognised in the employee cost 
Current service cost 
Past service cost 
Interest cost on benefit obligation 
(Gain) / losses on settlement 
Net benefit expense recognised in statement of profit and loss (A) (before tax) 

Amount recorded in Other comprehensive income (OCI) 
Remeasurement during the year due to : 
Actuarial loss / (gain) arising from change in finm1cial assumptions 
Actuarial loss / (gain) arising from change in Demographic Assumptions 
Actuarial loss / (gain) arising on account of experience changes 
Retum on plan assets 
Amount recognised in OCI during the year (B) (before tax) 

Total cha'"ge recognised dul"ing the year in statement of profit and loss and OCI (A+B) 

Actual return on plan assets 
Interest Income Plan Asset 
Actuarial Gains/(Losses) on Plan Assets 
Actual Return on Plan Assets 

Reconciliation of net liability / asset 
Opening defined benefit liability / (assets) 
On traI1sfer of employees 
Expense charged to profit & loss account 
Amount recognised in outside profit and loss statement 
Actual Benefits paid 
Closing net defined benefit liability / (asset) 

Change in Fair Value of Plan Assets during the Period: 
Fair value of Plan Assets, Beginning of Period 
Actual Enterprise's Contributions· 
Actual Benefits Paid* 
Actuarial Gains/(Losses) 
Fair Value of I)lan Assets, End of Period 

Balance sheet 
Benefit liability / (asset) 
Defined benefit obligation 
Fair value of plan assets 
Present value of unfunded obligations 

For the year 
ended 

March 31, 2023 

12.02 
4,19 

8.38 

24.59 

(7.81) 

37.42 
(0.21) 
29.39 

53.99 

0.21 
0.21 

260.48 
(135.93) 

24.59 
29.61 
(5.33) 

173.42 

144.69 
(5.33) 

0.21 
139.57 

173.42 
139.57 
33.85 

(Rs. in Lakhs) 

For the year 
ended 

March 31, 2022 

23.88 

14.43 

38.31 

17.21 

(27.22) 

(10.01) 

28.30 

238.40 

38.31 
(10.01) 
(6.22) 

260.48 

260.48 

260.48 



nm InvIT Fund 
Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended March 31, 2023 

Changes in the present value of the defined benefit obligation arc as follows: 
Opening defined benefit obligation 
Cunent service cost 
Past service cost 
On transfer of employees 
Interest on defined benefit obligation 
Remeasurement during the period due to : 
Actuarial loss / (gain) arising from change in financial assumptions 
Actuarial loss / (gain) arising from change in Demographic Assumptions 
Actuarial loss / (gain) arising on account of experience changes 
Benefits paid 

Closing defined benefit obligation 

Net liability is bifurcated as follows: 
Cunent 
Non-cunent 
Net liability 

Category of Assets 
Other (including assets under Schemes of Ins.) 
Total 

260.48 
1202 
4.19 

(135.93) 
8.38 

(7.81 ) 

37.42 
(5.33) 

173.42 

33.85 
33.85 

100.00% 

100.00% 

238.40 
23.88 

14.43 

17.21 

(27.22) 
(6.22) 

260.48 

20.80 
239.68 

260.48 

0.00% 
0.00% 

The principal assumptions used in determining gratuity benefit obligation for the Group's plans are shown below: 

Discount rate 
Expected rate ofretum on plan assets (p.a.) 
Salary escalation 

Mortality pre-retirement 

A quantitative analysis for significant assumption is as shown below: 
Indian gratuity plan: 

Assumptions -Discount rate 
Sensitivity Level 
Impact of Increase in 50 bps Oil defined benefit obligation 
Impact of Decrease in 50 bps on defined benefit obligation 
Assumptions - Salary Escalation rate 
Sensitivity Level 
Impact on defined benefit obligation 
Impact oflncrease in 50 bps on defined benefit obligation 
Impact of Decrease in 50 bps on defined benefit obligation 

-----------------------------
For the year 

ended 
March 31, 2023 

7.45% 
7.45% 
10.00% 

Indian Assured 
Lives Mortality 

(2012-14) 

For the year 
ended 

March 31, 2023 

0.50% 
165.57 
181.91 

0.50% 

18167 

165.72 

For the year 
ended 

March 31, 2022 

6.95% - 7.05% 
NA 

10.00% 

Indian Assured 
Lives Mortality 

(2012-14) 

For the year 
ended 

March 31, 2022 

0.50(~/o 

248.00 
271.86 

0.50% 

272.16 

249.16 

The estimates of future salary increases, considered in actuarial valuation, take account of inflation, seniority, promotion and other relevant 

factors, such as supply and demand in the employment market. 

The following payments are expected contributions to the defined benefit plan in future years 

Within the next 12 months (next annual reporting period) 
Between 2 and 5 years 
Between 6 and 10 years 
Total expected payments 

The weighted average duration of the defined benefit plan obligation at the end of the reporting 
period 

For the yea,' 
ended 

March 31, 2023 
13.21 
52.21 
75.64 

141.07 

9.29 year to 10.39 
years 

(Rs. in Lakhs) 

For the year 
ended 

March 31, 2022 
20.79 
75. IS 
94.38 

190.32 

9.27 -1036 
years 



IRE InvlT Fund 

Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended March 31,2023 

Note 45: Disclosure pursuant to Appendix - A to Ind AS I J - Service Concession Arrangements ('SeA') 

(A) Disclosures with regard to Toll Collection Rights (Intangible Assets) 

Start of concession 
End of concession Period of 

period under 
T)'pe of Length (in period under 

End of concession 
concession 

Name of Conccssionai."c concession Location 
Concession lane kms) concession 

period as per 
since the 

agreement Valuation report 
(Appointed date) 

agreement appOinted date 

IRE Pathankot Amritsar Toll Road Limited December 30. 20 I 0 Punjab DBFOT 102.42 Kms December 30. 2030 January 2, 2038 :20 years 

IRE Jaipur Deoli Tollway Limited June 14,2010 Rajasthan DEFOT 146.30 Kms June 13,2035 October 21. 2040 25 years 
M.V.R.lnfrastructure And Tollways Limited August 14, 2006 Tamilnadu BOT 68.625 Kms August 13,2026 Janumy 12, 2027 20 years 

IRB Tumkur Chitradurga Tollway Limited June 4, 2011 Kamataka DBFOT 114 kms June 3. 2037 December 29, 2042 26 years 
IRB Talegaon Amravati Tollway Limited September 30,20 I 0 Maharashtra BOT 166.725 Kms May ?O, 2037 June 2,2037 22 years 

Note: 

(I) The above BOT! DBFOT projects shall have following rights/ obligations in accordance with the Concession Agreement entered into with the Respective Government 
Authorities:-

a. Rights to use the Specified assets 
b. Obligations to provide or rights to expect provision of services 

c. Obligations to deliver or rights to receive at the end of the Concession. 

(2) The actual concession period may vary based on terms of the respective concession agreements. 

(E) Disclosures with regard to Hybrid Annuity Project 

Name of Concessionaire: 

Description of the arrangement: 

Significant terms of the arrangement: 

Period of concession: 
Stmi of concession period under concession agreement (Appointed date): 

Remuneration: 

Investment grant from concession grantor: 
Investment return to grantor at end of concession: 

Investment and renewal obligations: 

Repricing dates: 
Basis upon which rc-pricing or re-negotiation is determined: 

Financial assets: 

a) Current (Rs. in lakhs I 
b) Non-current (Rs. in i;li,J::-;) 

Note: 
In HAM projects. revenue is received / receivable as under: 

YK I Expressway Private Limited 

Eight lane 23.74 Km section of Expressway between Vadodara and Kim in Gujarat on a 
Hybrid Annuity Mode (HAM) basis 

15 years Ii'om COD 

January 18, 2019 
Annuity, interest and O&M 

Yes 

Yes 
Nt) 

Halfyeariy for O&M 

Inllation price index as defined in Concession Agreement 

Rs. 16,903.31 lakhs 

Rs. 117,637.37 lakhs 

(i) 40% of the total bid project cost with adjustment relating to Price Index Multiple. 5h<111 be due and payable to the Group in 5-10 equal instalments during the construction 
period in accordance with the provisions of the SCA. 

(ii) The remaining bid project cost. with adjustment relating to Price Index jv1ultiple. shall be due and payable in 30 hi-annual installments commencing from the 180th day of 
COD in accordance with the provision of the SCA. 

(iii) Interest shall be due and receivable on the reducing balance of Completion Cost at an interest rate equal to the applicable Bank Rate plus 3%. Such interest shall be due 
and receivable bi~annua!ly along with each installment specified in of seA. 



IRB InvlT Fund 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for year ended March 31, 2023 

Note 46 : Distribution made 

Distributed during the year as : 
Interest 
Return on capital 

Note 47 : Income tax 

The major components of income tax expense for the year ended March 31, 2023 and March 31, 2022 are: 

CUrl'cnt income tax: 
Current income tax charge 

Deferred tax: 
MAT Credit entitlement/ reversal 
Income tax expense reported in the statement of profit or loss 

For the year ended 
March 31, 2023 

31,347.00 
18,866.25 
50,213.25 

(Rs in Lakhs) 

For the yea I' ended 
March 31, 2022 

30,766.50 
20,898.00 
51,664.50 

(Rs. in Lakhs) 
For the year cndcd For the year ended 

March 31, 2023 March 31, 2022 

473.35 75.27 

(3751) 3,257.84 
435.84 3,333.11 

Reconciliation of tax expenses and the accounting of profit multiplied by Indian domestic tax rate for March 31, 2023 and March 31, 2022 are: 

Profitl(loss) before tax 
Tax rate 
Expected income tax at India's statutory rate 
Impact of exemption uls 1O(23FC) of the Income Tax Act, 1961 available to the Trust 
MAT liability on book profit 
Deferred tax (MAT credit reversal) 
Income tax expense reported in the statement of profit and loss 

Note 48 : 

(Rs. in Lakhs) 
For the year ended For the year ended 

March 31, 2023 Mat'ch 31, 2022 

37,393.86 
25.47% 

(9,524.22) 
9,524.22 

473.35 
(37.51) 
435.84 

33,599.10 
25.47% 

(8,55769) 
8,557.69 

75.27 
3,257.84 
3,333,11 

The Code on Social Security. 2020 ('Code') relating to employee benefits during employment and post-employment benefits received Presidential assent in September 
2020. The Code has been published in the Gazette oflndia. However, the date on which the Code will come into effect has not been notified The Group will assess the 
impact of the Code when it comes into effect and will record any related impact in the period the Code bccomes effective. 

Note 49: 
The Group has presented these financial information (for all the periods presented there in) in accordance with the requirement of Schedule 111- of the Companies Act, 
2013 including amendments thereto, effective from April 1, 2021. 

Note 50 : Previous year compar'atives 

Previolls year's figures have been regrouped/reclassified, wherever necessary, to confinn to currcnt year's c1assillcation. 



IRB luvlT Fund 
Notes to Consolidated Finandal Statements for year ended March 31, 2023 

Note 51 : Subsequent events 

The Board of Directors of the Invcstmcnt Manager have approved 41h Distribution ofRs. 2.00 per unit which comprises ofRs. 1.70 per unit as interest and Re. 0.30 per unit 
as return of capital in their meeting held on May 8, 2023 

Signature to Note I to 51 

As per our repori of even date ___ ~, 

For Suresh Surana & Associates LLP /?;';r>-~A~" 
Chartered Accountants 1/ 0~/ ~ '\; 

I; '''/ \"?..A '\ 
Finn's Reg no. 121750W/W-IOOOIO ii 3;1 Chartered l';j,~ 

!Y
'~ ~\'I.t\Accountan\Jfj 

VJJ\ ~\;~~1'f 
~",,37Lr._~' 

Ramcsl up a ---= ~ 
Partner 
Membership no : 102306 

Place: Mumbai 

Date: May 08, 2023 

For and on behalf oflRB Infrastructure Private Limited 

(1"'7'mITF""~ 
Vinod Kumar Mcnon iu~li 
Wholetime Director & CEO Director & CFO 
DIN: 03075345 DIN: 08089312 

Swapna Vcngurlckar 
Company Secretary 
Membership No A32376 

Place: Mumbai 

Date: May 08, 2023 



INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT 

To, 
The Unit holders of IRB InvlT Fund 

Report on the Audit of the Standalone Financial Statements 

Opinion 

We have audited the accompanying standalone financial statements of IRB InvlT Fund ("the 
Fund"), which comprise the Balance Sheet as at March 31, 2023, the Statement of Profit and Loss 
including the Other Comprehensive Income, the Statement of Changes in Unit Holders' Equity and 
the Statement of Cash Flows for the year then ended and the Statement of Net Assets at fair 
value as at March 31,2023 and the Statement of Total Returns at fair value and the Statement of 
Net Distributable Cash Flows ('NDCFs') for the year then ended, and notes to the standalone 
financial statements including a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory 
information (hereinafter referred to as "the standalone financial statements"). 

In our opinion and to the best of our information and according to the explanations given to us, 
the standalone financial statements give the information required by the Securities and Exchange 
Board of India (Infrastructure Investment Trusts) Regulations, 2014 as amended from time to time 
including any guidelines and circulars issued thereunder in the manner so required and give a true 
and fair view in conformity with Indian Accounting Standards (Ind AS) and/or any addendum thereto 
as defined in the Rule 2(1)(a) of the Companies (Indian Accounting Standards) Rule, 2015 and other 
accounting principles generally accepted in India, of the state of affairs of the Fund as at March 
31,2023, its profit and total comprehensive income, movement of the unit holders' funds and its 
cash flows for the year ended March 31, 2023, its net assets at fair value as at March 31, 2023, 
its total returns at fair value and the net distributable cash flows for the year ended on that date. 

Basis for Opinion 

We conducted our audit of the standalone financial statements in accordance with the Standards on 
Auditing (SAs) issued by Institute of Chartered Accountants of India ("ICAI"). Our responsibilities 
under those Standards are further described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the 
Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Fund in accordance with the 
Code of Ethics issued by the ICAI and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in 
accordance with the ICAI's Code of Ethics. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is 
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion on the standalone financial 
statements. 

Registored Offico: 



Key Audit Matters 

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in 
our audit of the standalone financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed 
in the context of our audit of the standalone financial statements as a whole, and in forming our 
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. We have determined 
the matters described below to be the key audit matters to be communicated in our report. 

Sr.No. Key Audit Matter How our audit addressed the key audit 
matter 

1 Assessing Impairment of investments and loans in Our audit procedures included the 
subsidiary companies (note 3.09, 4.1, 4.2 and 5.4) following: 

As at March 31, 2023, the carrying values of Fund's 
investment in subsidiaries amounted to Rs.232,840.02 
Lakhs. Further, the Fund has granted loans to its 
subsidiaries amounting to Rs.425,255.80 Lakhs (Rs. 
393,860.16 Lakhs). 

Management reviews regularly whether there are any 
indicators of impairment of such investments! loans by 
reference to the requirements under Ind AS. 
Management performs its impairment assessment by 
comparing the carrying value of these investments! 
loans made to their recoverable amount to determine 
whether impairment needs to be recognized. 

For impairment testing, value in use has been 
determined by forecasting and discounting future cash 
flows of subsidiary companies. Further, the value in use 
is highly sensitive to changes in critical variable used 
for forecasting the future cash flows including traffic 
projections for revenues and discounting rates. The 
determination of the recoverable amount from 
subsidiary companies involves significant judgment and 
accordingly, the evaluation of impairment of 
investmentslloans in subsidiary companies has been 
determined as a key audit matter. 

- Assessed the appropriateness of 
the Fund's valuation methodology 
applied in determining the 
recoverable amount. In making 
this assessment, we also 
evaluated the objectivity, 
independence and competency of 
specialists involved in the process; 

- Assessed the assumptions around 
the key drivers of the cash flow 
forecasts, discount rates, revenue 
projection based on the 
independent expert's traffic study 
reports, etc. by management and 
independent valuer, including 
considerations due to current 
economic and market conditions 
including effects of COVID-19 
pandemic; 

- Assessed the appropriateness of 
the weighted average cost of 
capital used in the determining 
recoverable amount by engaging 
valuation expert; 

- Discussed!Evaluated potential 
changes in key drivers as 
compared to previous year! actual 
performance with management in 
order to evaluate whether the 
inputs and assumptions used in 
the cash flow forecasts were 
suitable, including considerations 



2 Computation and disclosures as prescribed in the 
InvlT regulations relating to Statement of Net 
Assets and Total Returns at Fair Value 

(as described in note 36 and in Statement of Net 
assets at fair value and Statement of total retums at 
fair value of the standalone financial statements) 

As per the provisions of InvlT Regulations, the Fund is 
required to disclose Statement of Net Assets at Fair 
Value and Statement of Total Returns at Fair Value 
which requires fair valuation of assets. For this 
purpose, fair value is determined by forecasting and 
discounting future cash flows. The inputs to the 
valuation models are taken from observable markets 
where possible, but where this is not feasible, a degree 
of judgement is required in establishing fair values. 
Judgements include considerations of inputs such as 
WACC, Tax rates, Inflation rates etc. 

Accordingly, the aforementioned computation and 
disclosures are determined to be a key audit matter in 
our audit of the standalone financial statements. 

due to current economic and 
market conditions including effects 
of COVlD-19 pandemic. 

Assessed the recoverable value 
headroom by performing sensitivity 
analysis of key assumptions used. 

Tested the arithmetical accuracy of 
the model. 

- As regards loans granted to 
subsidiary companies, we have 
obtained and considered 
management evaluations of 
recoverability of loans granted to 
its subsidiary companies. 

Our audit procedures include the 
following-

Read the requirements of SEBI InvlT 
regulations for disclosures relating to 
Statement of Net Assets at Fair Value 
and Statement of Total Returns at Fair 
Value. 

Assessed the appropriateness of 
independent valuer's and 
management's valuation methodology 
applied in determining the fair values. 

Tested controls implemented by 
management to determine inputs for fair 
valuation as well as assumptions used 
in the fair valuation. 

We involved valuation speCialists to: 

a) Assess the valuation reports issued 
by the independent valuer engaged 
by the management and compared 
key property related data used as 
input with actual data. 

b) Assess the key assumptions 
included in the cash flow forecasts 
by management and independent 
valuer, including considerations due 
to current economic and market 
conditions includinQ effects of 



COVID-19 pandemic. 

c) Discuss changes in key drivers as 
compared to actual performance 
with management in order to 
evaluate whether the inputs and 
assumptions used in the valuation 
models by management and 
independent valuer were 
reasonable, including 
considerations due to current 
economic and market conditions 
including effects of COVID-19 
pandemic. 

Tested the arithmetical accuracy of 
computation in the Statement of Net 
Assets and Total Returns at Fair Value 

Reviewed and verified the disclosures in 
the standalone financial statements for 
compliance with the relevant 
requirements of InvlT Regulations. 

3 Related party transactions and disclosures Our audit procedures, included the 
(as described in note 22 of the standalone financial following: 
statements) 

The Fund has undertaken transactions with its related 
parties in the normal course of business. These 
include making new loans to SPVs, interest on such 
loans, fees for services provided by related parties to 
Fund etc. as disclosed in Note 22 of the standalone 
financial statements. 

We identified the accuracy and completeness of 
related party transactions and its disclosure as set out 
in respective notes to the standalone financial 
statements as a key audit matter due to the 
significance of transactions with related parties during 
the year ended March 31, 2023 and regulatory 
compliance thereon. 

- Obtained, read and assessed the Fund's 
policies, processes and procedures in 
respect of identifying related parties, 
evaluation of arm's length, obtaining 
necessary approvals, recording and 
disclosure of related party transactions, 
including compliance of transactions and 
disclosures in accordance with InvlT 
regulations. 

- We tested, on a sample basis, related 
party transactions with the underlying 
contracts and other supporting 
documents for appropriate authorization 
and approval for such transactions. 

- We read minutes of Unit holders 
meeting, Board and its relevant 
committee meetings and minutes of 
meetings of those charged with 
governance of the Manager in 
connection with transactions with 
related parties affected during the year 
and Fund's assessment of related party 



transactions being in the ordinary 
course of business at arm's length and 
in accordance with the InvlT 
regulations. 

- Assessed and tested the disclosures 
made in accordance with 
requirements of Ind AS and 
regulations. 

Information Other than the Standalone Financial Statements and Auditor's Report Thereon 

The management of IRB Infrastructure Private Limited ("Investment Manager") is responsible for the 
preparation of the other information. The other information comprises the information included in the 
Management Discussion and Analysis, Investment Manager's Report including Annexures to 
Investment Manager's Report and Investment Manager's Information, but does not include the 
standalone financial statements and our auditor's report thereon. 

Our opinion on the standalone financial statements does not cover the other information and we do 
not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon. 

In connection with our audit of the standalone financial statements, our responsibility is to read the 
other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent 
with the standalone financial statements or our knowledge obtained during the course of our audit or 
otherwise appears to be materially misstated. 

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this 
other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard. 

Management's Responsibility for the Standalone Financial Statements 

The Management of IRB Infrastructure Private Limited (,Investment Manager'), is responsible for the 
preparation of these standalone financial statements that give a true and fair view of the financial 
position as at March 31, 2023, financial performance including other comprehensive income, 
movement of the unit holders' funds and cash flows for the year ended March 31, 2023, its net 
assets at fair value as at March 31,2023, its total retums at fair value and the net distributable cash 
flows of the Fund for the year ended March 31, 2023, in accordance with accounting principles 
generally accepted in India, including the Indian Accounting Standards (lnd AS) and/or any 
addendum thereto as defined in Rule 2(1 )(a) of the Companies (Indian Accounting Standards) 
Rules, 2015, as amended read with the Securities and Exchange Board of India (Infrastructure 
Investment Trusts) Regulations, 2014 as amended from time to time including any guidelines and 
circulars issued thereunder (together referred to as the "lnvlT Regulations"). This responsibility also 
includes maintenance of adequate accounting records in accordance with the provisions InvlT 
Regulations for safeguarding of the assets of the Fund and for preventing and detecting frauds and 
other irregularities; selection and application of appropriate accounting policies; making judgments 
and estimates that are reasonable and prudent; for ensuring the accuracy and completeness of the 
accounting records, relevant to the preparation and presentation of the financial statements that give 
a true and fair view and are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

the 
InvlT 



In preparing the standalone financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the 
Fund's ability to continue as a going concem, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going 
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to 
liquidate the Fund or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so. 

The Investment Manager is also responsible for overseeing the Fund's financial reporting process. 

Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of Standalone Financial Statements 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a 
whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's 
report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a 
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with SAs will always detect a material 
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered 
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the 
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements. 

As part of an audit in accordance with SAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain 
professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also: 

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the standalone financial statements, 
whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those 
risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 
opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than 
for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, 
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 

• Obtain an understanding of internal financial controls relevant to the audit in order to design 
audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of 
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of such controls. 

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of 
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by management. 

• Conclude on the appropriateness of management's use of the going concern basis of 
accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists 
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Fund's ability to 
continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are 
required to draw attention in our auditor's report to the related disclosures in the financial 
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are 
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor's report. However, future 
events or conditions may cause the Fund to cease to continue as a going concern. 

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including 
the disclosures, and whether the standalone financial statements represent the underlying 
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation. 



Materiality is the magnitude of misstatements in the standalone financial statements that, individually 
or in aggregate, makes it probable that the economic decisions of a reasonably knowledgeable user 
of the financial statements may be influenced. We consider quantitative materiality and qualitative 
factors in (i) planning the scope of our audit work and in evaluating the results of our work; and (ii) to 
evaluate the effect of any identified misstatements in the standalone financial statements. 

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned 
scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in 
intemal control that we identify during our audit. 

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with 
relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all 
relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and 
where applicable, related safeguards. 

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine those matters 
that were of most significance in the audit of the standalone financial statements of the current 
period and are therefore, the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor's report 
unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare 
circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the 
adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest 
benefits of such communication. 

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements 

Based on our audit and as required by InvlT Regulations, we report that: 

a) We have obtained all the information and explanations which, to the best of our knowledge 
and belief were necessary for the purpose of our audit; 

b) The balance sheet, and statement of profit and loss including other comprehensive income 
dealt with by this report are in agreement with the books of account of the Fund; and 

c) In our opinion, the aforesaid standalone financial statements comply with the Accounting 
Standards (Ind AS) and/or any addendum thereto as defined in Rule 2(1 )(a) of the 
Companies (Indian Accounting Standards) Rules, 2015, as amended. 

FOR SURESH SURANA & ASSOCIATES LLP 
Chartered Accountants 
Firm's;fe . No. 121750W/w-100010 

~ ~tij, . 
Rame 
Partner 

Membership NO.:102306 
UDIN: 2.3 i02306 B61 vv' KS ZLt Lt 2=7-
Place: Mumbai 

Dated: 08 May 2023 



IRB l"vlT Fund 
Standalone Balance Sheet as at March 31, 2023 

I ASSETS 
(1) Non-current assets 

Financial assets 
i} Investments 
ii) Lo'.ns 

Total non-current assets 

(2) Current assets 
Financial assets 

i) Investments 
ii) Cash and cash equivalents 

Particulars 

iii Bank balance other than (ii) above 

IV loans 
v) other financial assets 

CUrrent tax assets (net) 
Other current assets 

Total current assets 

TOTAL ASSETS 

" EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 
Equity 
Unit capital 
Other equity 

Total unit holder's equity 

(1) Non-current liabilities 
Financial liabilities 

Borrowings 

Total non- current liabilities 

(2) Current liabilities 
Financial liabilities 

i) Borrowings 

ii) Trade payables 

a) total outstanding dues of micro enterprises and sma!1 enterprises 

b} total outstanding dues of creditors other than micro enterprises and 

small enterprises 

iii Ot!:er tinancialliabilities 
Other liabllrties 

Tota! current liabilities 

Total liabilities 

TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 

Summary of significant accounting policies 

See accompanying notes to the standalone financial statements. 

As per our report of even date 

For Suresh Surana & Associates LLP 
Chartered Accountants 

Firm's Registration Number: 

Partner 

Membership No.: 102306 

Place: Mumbai 
Date: May 08, 2023 

Note No. 

4.1 
4.2 

5.1 
5.2 
5.3 
5.4 
5.5 
6 

7 

8 
9 

10 

11.1 

11.2 

11.3 
12 

As at 
March 31, 2023 

2,32,840.02 
3,91,492.76 
6,24,332.78 

15,313.92 
105.22 

516.86 
34,036.27 
18,688.59 

1.20 
0.28 

68,662,34 

6,92,995.12 

4,91,393.35 
23,300.20 

5,14,693.55 

1,72,514.52 
1,72,514.52 

5,519.00 

9.37 

189.95 

33.86 
34.88 

5,787.06 

1,78,301.58 

6,92,995.12 

( Rs. in lakhs) 

As at 
March 31, 2022 

2,20,017.92 
3,67,930.05 

5,87,947.97 

21,510.85 
316.53 

48.28 
26,236.27 
30,744.56 

2.19 
0.27 

78,858.95 

6,66,806.92 

5,10,259.60 

14,532.86 
5,24,792.46 

1,35,834.03 
1,35,834.03 

5,425.00 

9.43 

662.36 

48.28 
35.36 

6,180.43 

1,42,014.46 

6,66,806.92 

For and on behalf of IRBlnfrastructure Private Limited 
(Investment Manager of IRB InvlT Fund) 

Vinod Kumar Menon 

Wholetime Director & CEO 
DIN: 03075345 

Place: Mumbai 
Date: May 08,2023 

\.. ... V"'" 

~z. 
Director & CFO 
DIN: 08089312 

Swapna Vengurlekar 
Company Secretary 

Membership No: A32376 



IRB InvlT Fund 

Standalone Statement of profit and loss for the year ended March 31, 2023 

Income 

Revenue from c;Jerations 

Other income 

TOTAL INCOME 

Expenses 

Finance costs 

Investment Manager fees 

Annual listing fees 

Trustee fees 

Other expenses 

Particulars 

Impairment of investment in subsidiaries ( Refer note25) 

TOTAL EXPENSES 

Profit before tax 

Tax expenses 

Current tax 

Deferred tax 

TOTAL TAX EXPENSES 

Profit for the year (A) 

Other comprehensive income / (loss) for the year (net of tax) (B) 

Total comprehensive loss for the year, net of tax: (A+B) 

Earnings per unit 

Basic 

Diluted 

Summary of significant accounting policies 

See accompanying notes to the standalone financial statements. 

As per our report of even date 

For Suresh Surana & Associates LLP 

Chartered Accountants 

Firm's Registration Number: 

Membership No.: 102306 

Place: Mumbai 

Date: May 08 , 2023 

Note No. 

13 

14 

15 

16 

3 

For the year ended 

March 31, 2023 

51,522.43 

6,180.20 

57,702.63 

11,624.44 

1,180.00 

79.29 

29.50 

152.56 

4,522.50 

17,588.29 

40,114.34 

40,114.34 

40,114.34 

6.91 

6.91 

( Rs. in lakhs) 

For the year ended 

March 31, 2022 

54,455.82 

312.22 

54,768.04 

11,103.00 

1,278.15 

60.81 

29.50 

76.47 

6,918.56 

19,466.49 

35,301.55 

35,301.55 

35,301.55 

6.08 

6.08 

For and on behalf of IRB Infrastructure Private Limited 

(Investment Manager of IRB InvlT Fund) 

Vinod Kumar Menon 

Wholetime Director & CEO 

DIN: 03075345 

Place: Mumbai 

Date: May 08, 2023 

v. 

~ 
Rushabh Gandhi 

Director & (Fa 

DIN: 08089312 

Swapna Vengurlekar 

Company Secretary 

Membership No: A32376 



IRB InvlT Fund 

Standalone Statement of Cash flows for the year ended March 31, 2023 

(Rs. in lakhs) 

Particulars 
For year ended For year ended 

March 31, 2023 March 31, 2022 

A. Cash flow from operating activities 

Profit before tax 40,114.34 35,301.55 

Adjustments to reconcile profit before tax to net cash ffows: 

Finance costs 11,439.14 11,103.00 

Impairment of investment in subsidaries 4,522.50 6,918.56 

Change in Fair value on investments (272.78) (199.51) 

Day one gain on fair valuation of loan from subsidiaries (5,384.57) 

Interest unwinding on loan 185.30 

Profit on sale of investments (510.37) (112.28) 

Interest income on Fixed depOSits (12.33) 

Transaction costs on loan given 32.93 29.90 

Operating profit/(Ioss) before working capital changes 50,114.16 53,041.22 

Movement in working capital: 

Decrease/{increase) in others financial assets 12,056.28 (13,171.08) 

Decrease/{increase) in other assets 0.01 

Increase/(decrease) in trade payables (472.47) 509.00 

Increase/{decrease) in other financial liabilities (14.42) 4.23 

Increase/(decrease} in other current liabilities (0.51) 24.43 

Cash generated from/(used in) operations 61,683.04 40,407.81 

Direct taxes paid (net of refunds) 0.99 5.13 

Net cash flows from/(used in) operating activities 61,684.03 40,412.94 

B. Cash flows from investing activities 

Purchase of units of mutual funds (92,233.95) (53,706.77) 

Proceeds on sales of units of mutual funds 99,214.02 47,213.70 

Investment in subsidiary (17,344.60) 

Long term loan given to subsidiaries (45,947.80) 

Short term loan given to subsidiaries (10,915.91) (46,063.00) 

Repayment of long term loan given to subsidiaries 19,236.38 31,022.75 

Repayment of short loan given to subsidiaries 
I 

6,231.70 45,942.00 

Bank earmarked balance (468.58) (4.23) 

Interest received on fixed deposits 12.03 

Net cash flows fromJ(used in} investing activities (42,216.71) 24,404.45 

C. Cash flow from financing activities 

Repayment of unit capital to the unit holders (18,866.25) (20,898.00) 

Distribution to unit holders (31,347.00) (30,766.50) 

Proceeds from long term borrowings 18,800.00 

Repayment of long term borrowings (5,425.00) (5,425.00) 

Loan taken from subsidiary companies 28,692.00 

Finance cost paid (11,532.38) (10,949.76) 

Net cash flows from/(used in) financing activities (19,678.63) (68,039.26) 

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents (A+B+C) (211.31) (3,221.87) 

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 316.53 3,538.39 

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year (refer 5.2) 105.22 316.53 

Summary of significant accounting policies (Refer note no. 3) 

See accompanying notes to the standalone financial statements. 



IRS InvlT Fund 

Standalone Statement of Cash flows for the year ended March 31, 2023 

Notes: 

1. All figures in bracket are outflow. 

2. Taxes paid are treated as arising from operating activities and are not bifurcated between investing and financing activities. 

3. Reconciliation between opening and closing balances for liabilities arising from financing activities 

(Rs. in lakhs) 

Particular long term borrowing 

1- Apr - 2021 1,46,530.79 _ .. _-_ .. 
Cash flow 

-Interest (10,949.76) 

- Net of proceeds and repayment of long term borrowings (5,425.00) 

Accrual for the year 11,103.00 

31- Mar - 2022 1,41,259.03 

Cash flow 

-Interest (11,532.38) 

- Net of proceeds and repayment of long term borrowings 42,067.01 

Accrual for the year 11,439.14 

Non cash movement 

- Day one gain on fair valuation of loan from subsidiaries netaff interest 
(5,199.28) 

unwinding on loan 

31 - Mar - 2023 1,78,033.52 

4. Statement of Cash flows has been prepared under Indirect Method as per Ind AS 7 "Statement of Cash Flows" as notified under section 133 of the 

Companies Act, 2013. 

As per our report of even date 

For Suresh Surana & Associates LlP 

Chartered Accountants 

Membership No.: 102306 

Place: Mumbai 

Date: May 08 , 2023 

For and on behalf of IRS Infrastructure Private Limited 

(Investment Manager of IRS InvlT Fund) 

Vinod Kumar Menon 

Wholetime Director & CEO 

DIN: 03075345 

Place: Mumbai 

Date: May 08 , 2023 

Director & (FO 

DIN: 08089312 

swapna Vengurlekar 

Company Secretary 

Membership No: A32376 



IRB InvlT Fund 

Standalone Statement of changes in unit holders equity for the year ended March 31,2023 

Particulars 

a. Unit Capital 

At the beginning of the year 

Issued during the year 

Less: Capital reduction during the year (Refer Note 28 )* 

At the end of the year 

Number of units 

At the beginning of the year 

Issued during the year 

At the end of the year 

b. Initial settlement amount 

At the beginning of the year 

Received during the year 

At the end of the year 

c. Other Equity 

At the beginning of the year 

Profit / (loss) for the year 

Interest distribution (Refer Note 28 ) * 
At the end of the year 

As at 

March 31, 2023 

5,10,259.50 

(18,866.25) 

4,91,393.25 

58,05,00,000 

58,05,00,000 

0.10 

0.10 

14,532.86 

40,114.34 

(31,347.00) 

23,300.20 

( Rs. in lakhs) 

As at 

March 31, 2022 

5,31,157.50 

(20,898.00) 

5,10,259.50 

58,05,00,000 

58,05,00,000 

0.10 

0.10 

9,997.81 

35,301.55 

(30,766.50) 

14,532.86 

* Pertains to the distributions made during the financial year along with the distribution related to the last quarter of FY 2021-22 and does 

not include the distribution relating to the last quarter of FY 2022-23 which will be paid after March 31, 2023. 

Summary of significant accounting policies (refer note no.3) 

See accompanying notes to the standalone financial statements. 

As per our report of even date 

For 5uresh 5urana & Associates LLP 

Chartered Accountants 

Firm's Registration Number: 

!~ \' 

~~~/ 
Rame~a 
Partner 

Membership No.: 102306 

Place: Mumbai 

Date: May 08 , 2023 

For and on behalf of IRB Infrastructure Private Limited 

(Investment Manager of IRB InvlT Fund) 

Vinod Kumar Menon 

Wholetime Director & CEO 

DIN: 03075345 

Place: Mumbai 

Date: May 08 , 2023 

~ 
Rushabh Gandhi 

Director & CFO 

DIN: 08089312 

Swapna Vengurlekar 

Company Secretary 

Membership No: A32376 



IRB InvlT Fund 

DISClOSURES PURSUANT TO SEBI CIRCULARS 

(SEBI Circular No. CIR/IMD/DF/114/2016 dated 20'Oct-2016 and No. CIR/IMD/DF/127/2016 dated 29-Nov-2016 

A. Statement of Net Asset at Fair Value 

(Rs. in lakhs) 

As at March 31, 2023 As at March 31, 2022 

Particulars Book value Fairvalue Book value Fair value 

A. Assets 6,92,995.12 7,61,065.53 6,66,806.92 7,28,805.34 

B. Liabilities (at book value) 1,78,301.58 1,78,301.58 1,42,014.46 1,42,014.46 

C. Net Assets (A-B) 5,14,693.55 5,82,763.95 5,24,792.46 5,86,790.88 

D. Number of units (in Lakhs) 5,805.00 5,805.00 5,805.00 5,805.00 

E. NAV (C/D) (Amount in Rs.) 88.66 100.39 90.40 101.08 

S. Statement of total returns at Fair Value 

(Rs. in lakhs) 

Particulars For the year ended March 31, 2023 For the year ended March 31, 2022 

Total Comprehensive Income 
40,114.34 35,301.55 

(As per the Statement of Profit and Loss) 

Add/{less}: Other Changes in Fair Value 68,070.40 61,998.42 

Total Return 1,08,184.74 97,299.97 

Notes: 

Fair value of assets as at March 31, 2023 and other changes in fair value for the year then ended as disclosed in the above tables are derived based on the fair 

valuation reports issued by the independent valuer appointed under Regulation 21 of the InvlT Regulations. 

As per our report of even date 

For Suresh Surana & Associates llP 

Chartered Accountants 

Firm's Registration Number: 

~HI~ 
Rameshf,1 

Partner 

Membership No.: 102306 

Place: Mumbai 

Date: May 08 , 2023 

For and on behalf of IRS Infrastructure Private limited 

(Investment Manager of IRB InvlT Fund) 

Vinod Kumar Menon 

Wholetime Director & CEO 

DIN: 03075345 

Place: Mumbai 

Date: May 08 , 2023 

V'" 

~ Rushabh Gandhi 

Director & CFO 

DIN: 08089312 

Swapna Vengurlekar 

Company Secretary 

Membership No: A32376 



IRB InvlT Fund 

Standalone Statement of Net Distributable Cash Flows (NDCFs) 

(Rs. in lakhs) 

Sr. No. Particulars 
For the year ended For the year ended 

March 31, 2023 March 31, 2022 

1 
Cash flows received from Project SPVs in the form of Interest (Refer note 1 

47,983.32 41,284.74 
& 2) 

2 Cash flows received from Project SPVs in the form of Dividend - -

Any other income accruing at the Trust level and not captured above, 
3 including but not limited to interest/return on surplus cash invested by the 795.63 312.22 

Trust 

4 
Cash flows received from the project SPVs towards the repayment of the 

18,893.37 31,022.75 
debt issued to the Project SPVs by the Trust (Refer note 3) 

5 Total cash inflow at the Trust level (A) 67,672.32 72,619.71 

Less: 

6 Any payment of fees, interest and expense incurred at the Trust level, (12,880.49) (12,547.93) 
including but not limited to the fees of the Investment Manager 

7 Income tax (if applicable) at the Standalone Trust Level - -

8 Repayment of external debt (5,425.00) (5,425.00) 

9 Total cash outflows I retention at the Trust level (B) (18,305.49) (17,972.93) 

10 Net Distributable Cash Flows (C) = (A+B) 49,366.83 54,646.78 

Note: 

I) The cmbargo on the Escrow bank account for ITCTt was uplilied as per the Interim order of the Hon'ble Arbitral Tribunal. However. the 
withdrawals pertaining to past periods towards debt servicing of Rs. 11,193.00 lakhs (net of Rs. 4,402.39 lakhs considered in earlier period) has 
not been considered in the above Net Distributable Cash Flow. The said accruals are utilised towards acquisition ofVK I project. 

2) Excludes interest due but not received of Rs.3,539.11 lakhs ( Previous year Rs.13, 171.08 lakhs) for the year ended March 31. 2023. 

3) Netted - olTwith long-term unsecured loan given to project SPY's. (Refer note 22) 

4) During the year. an amount of Rs. 50,213.25 lakhs (Previous year Rs. 51,664.50 lakhs) has already been distributed to unit holders. ( Refer note 
28 ) 



IRB InvIT Fund 

Summary of signiticant accounting policies and other explanatory information for the year ended March 31,2023 

Nature of Opel-ations 

The IRB InvIT Fund (the "Fund" / "Trust") is a trust constituted by "'The Indenture of Trust" dated October 16, 2015 
registered under the Registration Act, 1908 and under the Securities Exchange Board of India (Infrastructure Investment 
Trust) Regulations, 2014. The Fund is settled by the Sponsor, IRB Infrastructure Devclopers Limited ("IRB" or the 
"Sponsor"), an infrastructure development company in India. The Trustee to the Fund is IDBI Trusteeship Services Limited 

(the "Trustee") and Investment manager for the Fund is IRB Infrastructure Private Limited (the "Investment Manager"). 

The Fund has been formed to invest in infrastructure assets primarily being in the road sector in India. All of the Fund's road 

projects are implemented and held through special purpose vehicles ("Project SPVs") 

Sr. No. PI'ojcct SPY Name 

I IRB Surat Dahisar Tollway Limited (ISDTL) 

2 IRB Jaipur Deoli Tollway Limited (IJDTL) 

3 IDAA Infrastructure Limited (IDAAIL) 

4 IRB Pathankot Toll Road Limited (IPATRL) 

5 IRB Talegaon Amravati Tollway Limited (ITATL) 

6 IRB Tumkur Chitradurga Tollway Limited (ITCTL) 

7 M.Y.R Infrastructure and Tollways Limited (MITL) 

8 
VK I Expressway Limited (formely known as VK I 

Expressway Private Limited) (VK I) "'# 

* Acquired vide Share Purchase agreement dated October 13,2022 

# The company has been converted from private limited to public limited company w.e.f. 27.04.2023. 

The registered o1lice of the Investment Manager is IRB Complex, Chandivali Farm, Chandivali village, Andhcri- East, 

MlIInbai-4000n. 

The financial statements wcre authorised lor issue in accordance with resolution passed by the Board of Directors of the 

Il1vcstment manager on May 08, 2023. 

2 Basis of pl'cpal'atioll 

The financial statements of IRB InvlT Fund have been prepared in accordance with Indian Accounting Standards as defined 
in Rule 2(1 lea) of the Companies (Indian Accounting Standards) Rules, 2015. as amended, prescribed under Section 133 of 

the Companies Act, 2013 ("Ind AS") read with SEBI (Infrastructure Investment Trusts) Regulations, 2014, as amended and 

the circulars issued thereunder ("lnvlT Regulations") and other accounting principles generally accepted in India. 

The tinancial statcments have been prepared on an accrual basis and under thc historical cost convention except for certain 
financial assets and liabilities (refer accounting policy regarding financial instruments) which have bcen measured at fair 

value. 

The financial statements arc presented in Indian Rupee ('INR') which is the functional currency of the Fund and all values arc 

rounded to the nearest lakhs, except when otherwise indicated. Wherever the amount represented '0' (zero) construes value 

less than Rupees five hundred. 



3 Summary of significant accounting policies 

3.01 lise of estimates 

The preparation of financial statcments in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles requires managemcnt to 
make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent 

liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the results of operations during the reporting period end. Although these 
estimates arc based upon management's best knowledge of current events and actions, actual results could differ hom these 
estimates. 

3.02 Current versus non-current classification 

The Fund presents assets and liabilities in the balance sheet based on current I non-current classification. 
An asset is treated as current when it is: 
- Expected to be realised or intended to be sold or consumed in normal operating cycle 
- Held primarily for the purpose of trading 
- Expected to be realised within twelve months after the reporting period, or 
- Cash or cash equivalent unless restricted from being exchanged or used to settle a liability for at least twelve months after 
the reporting period. 

All other assets are classified as non-current. 

A liability is current when: 
- It is expected to be settled in normal operating cycle 
- It is held primarily for the purpose of trading 
- It is due to be settled within twelve months after the reporting period, or 
- There is no unconditional right to defer the settlement of the liability for at least twelve months after the reporting period. 

All other liabilities are classified as non-current. 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are classified a, non-current assets and liabilities. 
The operating cycle is the time between the acquisition of assets for processing and their realisation in cash and cash 
equivalents. The Fund has identified twelve months as it, operating cycle. 

3.03 Revcnue recognition 

Revenuc is rccognised to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Group and the revenuc can 

be reliably measured, regardless of when the paymcnt is being made. Revenue is measured at the transaction price of the 
consideration received or receivable. excluding the estimates of variable consideration that is allocated to that perfiml1<lnce 
obligation, taking into account contractually defined terms of payment and excluding taxcs or duties collectcd on behalf of the 
government 

The specifIC recognition criteria described below must also be met before revenue is recognised: 

Interest incomc ; 

Revenue is recognised on a time proportion basis taking into account the amount outstanding and the rates applicable For all 

debt instruments measured either at amortised cost or at fair value through other comprehensive income, interest income is 
recorded using the effective intercst rate (EIR) 

Dividends; 

Revenue is recognised when the Fund's right to receive the payment is established, which is generally when shareholders 
approve the dividend. 



3.04 Taxes 

Current income tax 

Current income tax assets and liabilities are measured at the amount expected to be recovered li'om or paid to the taxation 
authorities. The tax rates and tax laws used to compute the amount are those that are enacted or substantively enacted at the 
reporting date in the countries where the Fund operates and generates taxable income. 
Current income tax relating to items recognised outsidc the Statement of Profit and Loss is recognised outside the Statcment 
of Profit and l.oss (either in other comprehensive income or in equity). Current tax items are recognised in correlation to the 
underlying transaction either in OCI or directly in equity. Management periodically evaluates positions taken in the tax 
returns with respect to situations in which applicable tax regulations are subject to interpretation and establishes provisions 
where appropriate. 

Deferred tax 

Deferred tax is provided using the liability method on temporary differences between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and 
their canying amounts for llnancial reporting purposes at the reporting date. 

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary differences, except: 
- When the delerred tax liability arises li'om the initial recognition of goodwill or an asset or liability in a transaction that is 
not a business combination and at the time ofthe transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss. 

- In respect of taxable temporary differences associated with investments In subsidiaries, when the timing of the reversal of 
the temporary differences can be controlled and it is probable that the temporary differences will not reverse In the foreseeable 
future. 

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporaty differences, the carry forward of unused tax credits and any 
unused tax losses. Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available 
against which the deductible temporaty differences. and the carry forward of unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be 
utilised, except: 

- When the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible temporary difference arises from the initial recognition of an asset or 
liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time of the transaction affects neither the accounting 
prollt nor taxable profit or loss. 

The canying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each reporting date and reduced to the extent that it is no longcr 
probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allo\\' all or part of the deferred tax asset to be utilised. 
Unrecognised deferred tax assets arc re-assessed at each reporting date and are recognised to the extent that it has become 
probable that future taxable prollts will allow the deterred tax asset to be recovered. 

Deterred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that arc expected to apply in the year when the asset is realised 
or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting 
date. 

Deferred tax relating to items recognised outside statement of profit and loss is recognised outside statement of profit and loss 
(either in other comprehensive income or in equity). Delerred tax items are recognised in correlation to the underlying 
transaction either in OCI or directly in equity. 

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabil ities are offset if a legally enforceable right exists to set off current tax assets against 
current tax liabilities and the deferred taxes relate to the same taxable entity and the same taxation authority. 



Goods and St~n'icc tax paid on acquisition of asscts or on incurring expcnscs 

Expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of goods and service tax paid, except: 
When the tax incurred on a purchase of assets or services is not recoverable from the tax authority, in which case, the tax paid 
is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or as part of the expense item, as applicable. 

When receivables and payablcs arc stated with the amount of tax included. The net amount of tax recoverable from, or 
payable to, the tax authority is included as part of receivables or payables in thc balance sheet. 

3.05 Borrowing costs 

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of an asset that necessarily takes a 
substantial period of time to get ready for its intended use or sale are capitalised as part of the cost of the asset. All other 
borrowing costs arc expensed in the period in which they occur. Borrowing costs consist of interest and other costs that an 
entity incurs in connection with the borrowing of funds. Borrowing eost also includes exchange differences to the extent 
regarded as an adjustment to the borrowing costs. 

3.06 Provisions 

Provisions are recognised when the Fund has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past cvent, it is 
probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the obi igation and a reliable 
estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. When the Fund expects some or all of a provision to be reimbursed, for 
example, under an insurance contract, the reimbursement is recognised as a separate asset, but only when the reimbursement 
is virtually certain. The expense relating to a provision is presented in the Statement of Profit and Loss net of any 
reimbursement. 
If the effect of the time value of money is material, provisions are discounted using a cutTen! pre-tax rate that reflects, when 
appropriate, the risks specific to the liability. When discounting is used, the increase in the provision due to the passage of 
time is recognised as a finance cost. 

3.07 Contingent liabilities and contingent assets 

A contingent liability is a possible obligation that arises from past events whose existence will be conlinned by the occurrence 
or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events beyond the control of the Fund or a present obligation that is not 
recognised because it is not probable that an outflow of resources will be rcquired to settle the obligation. A contingent 
liability also arises in cxtremcly rare cases where there is a liability that cannot be recognised because it cannot be measured 
reliably. The Fund does not recognise a contingellliiability but discloses its existence in the financial statements. 
A contingent assets is not recognised unless it becomes virtually certain lhal an inllow of economic benelits will arise. When 
an inllow of economic benefits is probable, contingent assets arc disclosed in the financial statements. 
Contingent liabilities and contingent assets arc reviewed at each balance sheet date. 

3.08 Financial instrument 

A financial instrument is any contract that gives rise to a financial asset of one entity and a financial liability or equity 
instrument of another entity. 

Financial assets 

Tnitiall-ecognition and mcasurement 

All financial assets are recognised initially at fair value plus, in the case of financial assets not recorded at fair value through 
Statement of Profit and Loss, directly attributable transaction cost to the acquisition of the financial asset. Purchases or sales 
of financial assets that require delivery of assets within a time frame established by regulation or convention in the market 
place (regular way trades) arc recognised on the trade date, i.e., the date that the Fund cOlllmits to purchase or sell the asset. 



Subsequent measurement 

For purposes of subsequent measurement- financial assets are classified in following categories; 
- at amortised cost 
- at fair value through proilt or loss (FVTPL) 
- at fair value through other comprehensive income (FVTOCI) 

Financial Assets at amortised cost 

A financial asset is measured at the amortised cost if both the following conditions are met: 
a) The asset is held within a business model whose objective is to hold assets for collecting contractual cash flows, and 
b) Contractual terms or the asset give rise on specified dates to cash Hows that are solely payments of principal and interest 
(SPPI) on the principal amount outstanding. 

This category is the most relevant to the Fund. All the Loans and other receivables under financial assets (except Investments) 
are non-derivative ilnancial assets with lIxed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market. 

After initial measurement such lInancial assets are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate 
(EIR) method. Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or premium on acquisition and fees or costs 
that are an integral part of the EIR. The losses arising ii'om impairment are recognised in the Statement ofProJit and Loss. 

Financial Assets at Fair Value through Statement of Profit and Loss / Other comprehensive income 

All investments in scope of Ind AS 109 are measured at fair value. The Fund has investment in Debt oriented mutual fund 
which are held for trading, are c1assi1led as at FVTPL. The Fund makes such election on an instrument by instrument basis. 
The classillcation is made on initial recognition and is irrevocable. The gain / loss on sale of investments are recognised in the 
Statement of Profit and Loss. 
Instrumcnts included within the FVTPL category are measured at fair value with all changes recognized in the Statement of 
Pro lit and Loss. 

Duccognilion 

/\ financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset or part of a the Fund of similar financial assets) is primarily 
derecognised (i.e. removed from the Fund's balance sheet) when' 
The rights to receive cash 110ws ii'om the asset have expired, or 
The Fund has transferred its rights to receive cash flO\\'s from the asset or has assumed an obligation to pay the received cash 
110ws in full without material delay to a third party undcr a 'pass-through' arrangement: and either (a) the Fund has transferred 
substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset or (b) the Fund has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the 
risks and rewards of the asset, but has transferred control of the asset. 

When the Fund has transferred its rights to receive cash 11o\\'s from an asset or has entered into a pass-through arrangement, it 
evaluates if and to what extent it has retained the risks and rewards of ownership. When it has neither transferred nor retained 
substantially all of the risks and rewards or the asset, nor transferred control of thc asset, the Fund continucs to recognise the 
transferred asset to the extent of the Fund's continuing involvement. In that case, the Fnnd also recognises an associated 
liability. The transferred asset and the associated liability are measured on a basis that reHects the rights and obligations that 
the Fund has retained. 



3.09 Impairment of assets 

Impairment of financial assets 

Expected credit losses are recognized for all financial assets subsequent to initial recognition other than financial assets in 
FVTPL category. 

For financial assets other than trade reccivables, as per Ind AS 109, the Fund recognizes 12 month expected crcdit losses for 
all originated or acquired financial assets if at the repOiting date the credit risk of the financial asset has not increased 
significantly since its initial recognition. The expected credit losses are measured as lifetime expected credit losses if the 
credit risk on financial assets increases significantly since its initial recognition. 

The impairment losses and reversals are recognized in Statement of Prollt and Loss. 

Impainnent of non-financial assets 

The Fund assesses, at each reporting date, whether there is an indication that an asset may be impaired. If any indication 
exists, or when annual impairment testing for an asset is required, the Fund estimates the asset's recoverable amount. An 
asset's recoverable amount is the higher of an asset's or cash-generating unit's (CGU) fair value less costs of disposal and its 
value in use. Recoverable amount is determined for an individual asset unless the asset does not generate cash inflows that arc 
largely independent of those from other assets or Fund's assets. When the carrying amount of an asset or CGU exceeds its 
recoverable amount, the asset is considered impaired and is written down to its recoverable amount. 

Financial liabilities 

Initialt'eeognition and measurement 

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, loans and 
borrowings, or payables, as appropriate. 
All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and, in the case of loans and borrowings and payablcs, net of 
directly attributable transaction costs. 
The Fund's financial liabilities include trade and other payablcs, loans and borrowings including bank overdrafis, financial 
guarantee contracts and derivative financial instruments. 

Subsequent measurement 

The measurement of financial liabilities depends on their classification, as described below: 

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss 

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss include linancial liabilities held for trading and financial liabilities 
designated upon initial recognition as at fair value through profit or loss. Financial liabilities arc classified as held for trading 
if they arc incurred for the purpose of repurchasing in the ncar teflll. This category also includes derivative financial 
instruments entercd into by the Fund that are not designated as hedging instruments in hedge relationships as defined by Ind 
AS 109. 

Gains or losses on liabilities held fOl' trading are recognised in the statement of profit and loss. 

Loans and borrowings 

This is the category most relevant to the Fund. After initial recognition, interest-bearing loans and borrowings are 
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the EIR method. Gains and losses arc recognised in profit or loss when the 
liabilities arc dc-recognised as well as through the EIR amortisation process. 
Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or premium on acquisition and fees or costs that are an 
integral part of the ElK The ElR amortisation is included as finance costs in the statement of profit and loss. 



Dc-recognition 

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is discharged or cancelled or expires. When an 
existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of an 
existing liability arc substantially modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as the de-recognition of the original 
I iabil ity and the recognition of a new I iabil it)'. The dilfercnce in the respective carrying amounts is recognised in the statement 
of prallt and loss. 

Offsetting of linancial instruments 

Financial assets and lInancial liabilities arc offset and the net amcunt is rep0l1cd in the standalone bdance sheet if there is a 
currently enforceable legal right to offset the recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, to realise the 
assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously. 

3.1 0 Investment in snbsidiaries 

Investments (equity instruments as well as subordinate debt) in subsidiaries are carried at cost less accumulated impairment 
losses, if any. Where an indication of impairment exists, the carrying amount of the investment is assessed and written down 
immediately to its recoverable amount. On disposal of investments in subsidiaries, the difference between net disposal 
proceeds and carrying amounts are recognised in the Statement of Prollt and Loss. 

3.11 Foreign cnrrcncies 

The Fund's financial statements are presented inlNR, which is also the Fund's functional currency. The Fund does not have 
any foreign operation and has assessed the functional currency to be INR. 

Transactions and balances 

Transactions in foreign currencies are initially recorded by the Fund at their respective functional currency spot rates at the 
date the transaction first qualiiies for recognition. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are 
translated at the functional currency spot rates of exchange at the reporting date. 

Differences arising on settlement or translation of monetary items are recognised in the statement of profit or loss. 

Non-monetary items that arc measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates 
at the dates of the initial transactions. 

3.12 Fair value measurement 

The Fund measures linancial instruments, such as, derivatives at fair value at each balance sheet date. 

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between 
market participants at the measurement date. The fair value measurement is based on the presumption that the transaction to 
sell the asset or transfer the liability takes place either: 
~ In the principalmarkct for the asset or liability, or 
~ In the absence of a principal market. in the most advantageous market for the asset or liability. 
The principal or the most advantageous market must be accessible by the Fund. 

The fair value of an asset or a liability is measured using the assumptions that market participants would use when pricing the 
asset or liability, assuming that market participants act in their economic best interest. 
A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account a market participant's ability to generate economic 
benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to another market pm1icipant that would use the asset in 
its highest and best use. 
The Fund uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the circumstances and for which sufficient data are available to 
measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant observable inputs and minimising the use ofullobservable inputs. 



All assets and liabilities for which j~1ir value is measured or disclosed in the financial statements arc categorised within the 

fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a 

whole: 
~ Level I Quoted (unadjusted) market prices in active markets for idcntical assets or liabilities 
~ Level 2 - Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement is 
directly or indirectly observable 
~ Level 3 - Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement is 

unobservable. 

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial statements on a recurring basis, the Fund determines whether 
transfers have occurred between levels in the hierarchy by re-assessing categorisation (based on the lowest level input that is 
significant to the fair value measurement as a whole) at the end of each rep0I1ing period. 
The Fund's Management determines the policies and procedures for both recurring fair valuc measurement, such as derivative 

instruments and unquoted financial assets measured at fair value, and for non-recurring measurement, such as assets held for 

distribution in discontinued operations. 

At each reporting date, the Management analyses the movements in the values of assets and liabilities which are required to 
be remeasured or re-assessed as per the Fund's accounting pol icies. For this analysis, the Management verifies the major 

inputs applied in the latest valuation by agreeing the information in the valuation computation to contracts and other relevant 
documents. 
The management also compares the change in the fair value of each asset and liability with relevant external sources to 
determine whether the change is reasonable. 
On an annual basis, the Management of Investment Manager presents the valuation results to the Audit Committee and the 
Fund's independent auditors. This includes a discussion of the major assumptions used in the valuations. 
For the purpose of fair value disclosures, the Fund has determined classes of assets and liabilities on the basis of the nature, 

characteristics and risks of the asset or liability and the level of the filir value hierarchy as explained above. 

This note summarises accounting policy for fair value. Other fair value related disclosures are given in the relevalllnotes. 

- Disclosures for valuation methods, significant estimates and assumptions (note 36 ) 

- Financial instruments (including those carried at amortised cost) (note 23 and 24 ) 

- Quantitative disclosure of j~lir value measurement hicrarchy (note 23 and 24 ) 

3.13 Contributed Equity 

Units are classified as equity. Incremental costs attributable to the issue of units are directly recorded in equity. net of tax. 

3.14 Distribution to unit holders 

The Fund recognises a liability to make cash distributions to unit holders when the distribution is authorised and a legal 
obligation has been created. As per the InvlT Regulations. a distribution is authorised when it is approved by the Board of 
Directors of the Investment Manager. A corresponding amount is recognised directly in equity. 

3.15 Cash and cash equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents in the balance sheet comprise cash at banks and on hand and short-term deposits with an original 
maturity of three months or less, which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value. 
For the purpose of the statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents consist of cash and short-term deposits, as defined 

above, nct of outstanding bank overdrafts as they are considered an integral part of the Fund's cash management. 



3.16 Eamings })CI' Unit (EPl!) 

Basic earnings per unit arc calculated by dividing the net profit for the year attributable to unit holders by the weighted 
average number of units outstanding during the year. 

For the purpose of calculating diluted earnings per unie the weighted average number of units outstanding during the year are 
adjusted for the effects of all dilutive potential units. 

3.17 New pronouncements issued but not effective 

Ministry of Corporate Affairs ("MCA") notifies new standards or amendments to the existing standards under Companies 
(Indian Accounting Standards) Rules as issued from time to time. On March 31, 2023, MCA amended the Companies (Indian 
Accounting Standards) Amendment Rules, 2023, as helow: 

Ind AS I - Presentation of Financial Statements - This amendment requires the entities to disclose their material accounting 
policies rather than their significant accounting policies. The effective date for adoption of this amendment is annual periods 
beginning on or after April I, 2023. The Fund has evaluated the amendment and the impact of the amendment is insignificant 
in the Fund's financial statements. 

Ind AS 8 - Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors - This amendment has introduced a definition 
of 'accounting estimates' and included amendments to Ind AS 8 to help entities distinguish changes in accounting policics 
fi-OJll changes in accounting estimates. The effective date for adoption of this amendment is annual periods beginning on or 
after April 1,2023. The Fund has evaluated the amcndment and there is no impact on its fInancial statements. 

Ind AS 12 - Income T,!xes - This amendment has narrowed the scope of the initial recognition exemption so that it does not 
apply to transactions that give rise to equal and offsetting temporary differences. The effective date for adoption of this 
amendment is annual periods beginning on or after April I. 2023. The Fund has evaluated the amendment and there is no 
impact on its financial statement. 



IRB InvlT Fund 

Standalone Notes to Financial Statements for the year ended March 31,2023 

Note 4: Financial assets (Non-current) 

4.1 Investments 

A) Investments at cost 

Particulars 

Investments in equity instruments of subsidiaries (unquoted) 

510,842,000 (March 31,2022 - 510,842,000) equity shares of IRS Surat Dahisar Tollway 

Limited 

131,750,000 (March 31, 2022 - 131,750,000) equity shares of IRS Jaipur Deoli Tollway 

Limited ll ) 

198,120,003 (March 31, 2022 - 198,120,003) equity shares of IDAA Infrastructure Limited 

98,600,000 (March 31, 2022 - 98,600,000) equity shares of IRB Pathankot Amritsar Toll Road 

Limited 121 

49,250,000 (March 31, 2022 - 49,250,000) equity shares IRS Talegaon Amravati Tollway 

Limited 

155,500,002 (March 31, 2022 - 155,500,002) equity shares IRS Tumkur Chitradurga Tollway 

Limited 

6,910,170 (March 31, 2022 - 6,910,170) equity shares M.V.R. Infrastructure & Tollways 

Limited 

12,25,00,000 (March 31, 2022 - Nil) equity shares VK1 Expressway Limited 13) 

Less: Provision for impairment loss 

Investments in subsidiaries (unquoted) 

B) Investments at cost 

Investments in sub debt of subsidiaries (unquoted) interest free 

IRB Jaipur Deoli Tollway Limited 

IRS Pathankot Amritsar Toll Road Limited 

IRB Talegaon Amravati Tollway Limited 

IRS Tumkur Chitradurga Tollway Limited 

Subordinated debt to related parties 

Total non-current investments ( A + B ) 

(1) 67,192,500 equity shares have been pledged with banks for availing term loan. 

(2) 50,286,000 equity shares have been pledged with banks for availing term loan. 

As at 

March 31, 2023 

53,232.48 

13,175.00 

19,812.00 

9,909.00 

4,925.00 

15,550.00 

10,902.00 

17,344.60 

(11,441.06) 

1,33,409.02 

39,525.00 

29,581.00 

14,775.00 

15,550.00 

99,431.00 

2,32,840.02 

As at 

March 31, 2022 

53,232.48 

13,175.00 

19,812.00 

9,909.00 

4,925.00 

15,550.00 

10,902.00 

(6,918.56) 

1,20,586.92 

39,525.00 

29,581.00 

14,775.00 

15,550.00 

99,431.00 

2,20,017.92 

(3) 62,475,000 equity shares have been pledged with banks for availing term loan for subsidiary company, VK1 Expressway Limited 

Aggregate amount of unquoted investments 

Aggregate provision for impairment 

4.2 Loans 

(Secured, considered good, unless otherwise stated) 

Loans to related parties (Refer note 22) 

- Interest bearing 

Less: Current maturities of loan to related parties 

Total-(A) 

(Unsecured, considered good, unless otherwise stated) 

Loans to related parties (Refer note 22) 

- Interest bearing 

Total- (B) 

Add: Una mortised transaction cost ( C) 

Total (A+B+C) 

2,44,281.08 

11,441.06 

3,16,415.51 

(13,137.16) 

3,03,278.35 

87,941.18 

87,941.18 

273.23 

3,91,492.76 

2,26,936.48 

6,918.56 

3,26,436.88 

(10,021.37) 

3,16,415.51 

51,208.38 

51,208.38 

306.16 

3,67,930.05 



IRB InvlT Fund 

Standalone Notes to Financial Statements for the year ended March 31,2023 

Note 5 : Financial assets (current) 
5.1 Investments 

Particulars 

Investments at fair value through Profit & loss 
Investments in mutual fund (quoted) 

Aditya Birla Sun Life Liquid Fund 
March 31, 2023 - Nil (March 31, 2022 . 4,539,703.543 Units @ Rs.343.1252) 

L& T Liquid Fund 
March 31, 2023 - Nil (March 31, 2022 - 27,449.668 Units @ Rs.2,914.9581) 

SBI Overnight Direct Growth Fund 
March 31, 2023 . 268,294.368 Units @ Rs.3,649.2457 (March 31, 2022 - Nil) 

Aditya Birla Sun Life Saving Fund * 
March 31, 2023 . 24,339.564 Units @ Rs. 470.2589 (March 31, 2022 - Nil) 

SBI Magnum Low Duration Fund Direct Fund * 
March 31, 2023 - 176,462.900 units @ Rs. 3,065.0878 (March 31, 2022 - 176,462.900 units 
@ Rs. 2,909.3029) 

'[(Mutual fund held for DSRA Rs. 5,523.20 lakhs ( March 31,2022 :Rs. 5,133.84Iakhs)j 

Aggregate book value of quoted investments 
Aggregate market value of quoted investments 

5.2 Cash and cash equivalents 
Cash on hand 
Balances with banks: 
- In current accounts 

-In escrow account * 

• Escrow account as hypothecated against secured loan. 

5.3 Other bank balances 
Debt service reserve account with banks {earmarked balance 
- Maturity more than 3 months but less than 12 month 
Balances with Banks in : 
Unpaid distribution accounts 

5.4 loans 
(Secured, considered good, unless otherwise stated) 

Current maturities of long term loans to related parties 
(Unsecured, considered good, unless otherwise stated) 
Loans to related parties (Refer note 22) 

5.5 Other financial assets 
(Unsecured, considered good, unless otherwise stated) 

Interest accrued on fixed deposits 
Interest receivable from related parties 

Note 6 : Current tax assets (net) 
Advance income tax (net of provision for tax Rs. Nil (March 31, 2022: Rs. Nil)) 

Note 7 : Other current assets 
(Unsecured, considered good unless otherwise stated) 
Prepaid expenses 

As at 
March 31, 2023 

9,790.72 

114.46 

5,408.74 

15,313.92 

15,313.92 
15,313.92 

0.06 

0.85 
104.31 
105.22 

483.00 

33.86 
516.86 

13,137.16 

20,899.11 
34,036.27 

0.31 
18,688.28 
18,688.59 

1.20 

1.20 

0.28 
0.28 

As at 
March 31, 2022 

15,576.86 

800.15 

5,133.84 

21,510.85 

21,510.85 
21,510.85 

0.09 

2.48 
313.96 
316.53 

48.28 
48.28 

10,021.37 

16,214.90 
26,236.27 

30,744.56 
30,744.56 

2.19 
2.19 

0.27 
0.27 



IRB InvlT Fund 

Standalone Notes to Financial Statements for the year ended March 31, 2023 

Note 8: Equity 

I. Unit capital 

Particulars 

a. Issued, subscribed and fully paid up unit capital 

580,500,000 (March 31, 2022 - 580,500,000) 

b. Initial settlement amount 

At the end olthe year 

c. Terms I rights attached to units 

Rights of unit holders 

As at 

March 31, 2023 

4,91,393.25 

0.10 

4,91,393.35 

( Rs. in lakhs) 

As at 
March 31, 2022 

5,10,259.50 

0.10 

5,10,259.60 

Subject to the provisions of the InvlT Regulations, the Indenture of Fund, and applicable rules, regulations and guidelines, the rights of the unit holders 

include: 

a) right to receive income Of distributions with respect to the units heidi 

b) right to attend the annual genera! meeting and other meetings of the unit holders of the Fund; 

c) right to vote upon any matters / resolutions proposed in relation to the Fund; 

d) right to receive periodic information having a bearing on the operations or performance of the Fund in accordance with the InvlT Regulations; and 

e) right to apply to the Fund to take up certain issues at meetings for unit holders approval. 

In accordance with the InvlT Regulations, no unit holders shall enjoy superior voting or any other rights over any other unit holders, and there shall not be 

multiple classes of units. There shall be only one denomination of units. Notwithstanding the above, subordinate units may be issued only to the Sponsor and 

its Associates, where such subordinate units shall carry only inferior voting or any other rights compared to the other units. 

Limitation to the Liability of the unit holders 

The liability of each unit holders towards the payment of any amount (that may arise in relation to the Fund including any taxes, duties, fines, levies, liabilities, 

costs or expenses) shall be limited only to the extent of the capita! contribution of such unit holders and after such capital contribution shall have been paid in 

full by the unit holders, the unit holders shall not be obligated to make any further payments. The unit holders(s) shall not have any personal liability or 

obligation with respect to the Fund. 

II. Reconciliation of the number of units outstanding and the amount of unit capital: 

At the beginning of the year 

Issued during the year 

less: Capital reduction during the year (Refer note 28) 

At the end of the year 

Details of Sponsor units: 

IRS Infrastructure Developers limited 

Details of unit holding more than 5% units: 

IRS infrastructure Developers limited 

Government Of Singapore 

Aditya Bir!a Sun life Trustee Private Lirnited 

Ale Aditya Birla 5un Life Equity Hybrid '95 Fund 

Note:9 Other Equity 

Particulars 

Retained earnings 

At the beginning of the year 

Profit I (loss) for the year 

interest distribution (Refer Note 28 ) 

Total Other Equity (A+B) 

Retained earnings 

As at March 31,2023 

No. of units in lakhs Amount Rs. in lakhs 

5,805.00 5,10,259.50 

18,866.25 

5,805.00 4,91,393.25 

As at March 31,2023 

No. of units in lakhs I % holding 

927.05 1 15.97% 

As at March 31,2023 

No. of units in lakhs % holding 

927.05 15.97% 

439.78 7.58% 

371.00 6.40% 

As at March 31,2022 

No. of units in lakhs Amount Rs. in lakhs 

5,805.00 5,31,157.50 

20,898.00 

5,805.00 5,10,259.50 

As at March 31,2022 

No. of units in lakhs I % holding 

927.05 1 15.97% 

As at March 31,2022 

No. of units in lakhs 

927.05 

452.45 

371.00 

As at 

March 31, 2023 

14,532.86 

40,114.34 

(31,347.00) 

23,300.20 

% holding 

15.97% 

7.79% 

6.40% 

( Rs. in lakhs) 

Asat 

March 31, 2022 

9,997.81 

35,301.55 

(30,766.50) 

14,532.86 

Retained earnings are the plOfits that the Fund has earned til! date, !ess any transfers to general reserve, dividends or other distributions paid to unit holders. 
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Particulars 

Note 10: Non·current financial liabilities 

Borrowings 

Secured 

Term loans 

Indian rupee loan from banks 

Less: Current maturities 

Indian rupee loan from financial institutions 

Less: Current maturities 

Sub Total (c) 

Less: Una mortised transaction cost (Secured borrowings) 

Unsecured 

Loans to related parties (Refer note 22) 

- interest free 

Secured Term loans 

As at 

March 31, 2023 

1,36,780.45 

(5,425.00) 

1,31,355.45 

18,800.00 

(94.00) 

18,706.00 

1,039.65 

23,492.72 

1,72,514.52 

( Rs. in lakhs) 

As at 

March 31, 2022 

1,42,205.45 

(5,425.00) 

1,36,780.45 

946.42 

1,35,834.03 

i) Secured by pari passu on escrow account and on receivable of fund arising out of principal and interest payment of the loans by Fund to 

subsidiaries. 

ii) Pledge of shares held of 51% of share holding in the total paid·up equity share capital of IRB Jaipur Deoli Tollway Limited and IRB Pathankot 

Amritsar Toll Road Limited 

iii) Interest rates on Indian rupee loan ranges from 7.25 % to 8.90% (Previous year interest rates ranges from 7.25% to 8.15%). The Indian rupee loan 

from banks & financial institutions is repayable in unstructured quarterly instalment as per the repayment schedule specified in loan agreement 

with the Lenders. 

iv) There have been no breaches in the financial covenants with respect to borrowings. 

Unsecured loans from related parties 

The unsecured interest free loans taken from related parties is repayabie in next two / three years from Balance Sheet date. 

Note 11 : Current financial liabilities 

11.1 Borrowing 

Secured loan 

Current maturities of long·term borrowings 

-Indian rupee loan from banks 

. Indian rupee loan from financial institutions 

Total 

11.2 Trade Payables 

a) total outstanding dues of micro enterprises and small enterprises ( Refer note 20) 

b) Total outstanding dues of creditors other than micro and small enterprises 

Total 

11.3 other financial liabilities 

Unpaid distribution 

Note 12 : Other current liabilities 

Statutory dues payable 

5,425.00 

94.00 

5,519.00 

9.37 

189.95 

199.32 

33.86 

33.86 

34.88 

34.88 

5,425.00 

5,425.00 

9.43 

662.36 

671.79 

48.28 

48.28 

35.36 

35.36 
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Particulars 

Note 13 : Revenue from operations 

Operating income 

Interest income 

Note 14 : Other income 

Interest income on 

Interest income on bank deposits 

Interest income on income tax refund 

Profit on sale of investments 

Day one gain on fair valuation of loan from subsidiaries (Refer note 30) 

Change in fair value on investments 

Note 15 : Finance costs 

Interest expense 

- Term loan from bank / financial institutions 

Other borrowing cost 

Interest unwinding on loan 

Other finance costs ( including Unamortised transaction cost) 

Note 16 : Other expenses 

Legal and professional fees 

Payment to auditor (refer note below) 

Miscellaneous expenses 

Payment to auditor (including GST) 

As auditors: 

- Statutory audit fees 

- Limited review fees 

- Tax audit fees 

In other capacity: 

- Other services (certification fees) 

Reimbursement of expenses 

For the year ended 

March 31, 2023 

51,522.43 

51,522.43 

12.33 

0.15 

510.37 

5,384.57 

272.78 

6,180.20 

11,332.33 

185.30 

106.81 

11,624.44 

134.38 

15.22 

2.96 

152.56 

8.50 

4.25 

1.42 

0.35 

0.70 

15.22 

( Rs. in lakhs) 

For the year ended 

March 31, 2022 

54,455.82 

54,455.82 

0.43 

112.28 

199.51 

312.22 

10,840.71 

262.29 

11,103.00 

54.20 

15.49 

6.78 

76.47 

8.50 

4.25 

1.42 

0.62 

0.70 

15.49 
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Note 17 : Earnings per unit (EPU) 

The following reflects the income and unit data used in the basic and diluted EPU computations: 

Profit attributable to unit holders of the Fund for basic & diluted earnings 

Weighted average number of unit for basic & diluted EPU (in lakhs) 

Basic earning per unit (Amount in Rs.) 

Diluted earning per unit (Amount in Rs.) 

Note 18 : Capital and other commitments 

There are no capital and other commitments as at March 31, 2023 (March 31,2022 : Rs. NIL). 

Note 19 :Contingent liabilities 

There are no contingent liabilities as at March 31, 2023 (March 31,2022 : Rs. NIL). 

Note 20 : Trade Payables 

a) Details of dues to micro and small enterprises as per MSMED Act, 2006 

As at 

March 31, 2023 

40,114.34 

5,805.00 

6.91 

6.91 

( Rs. in lakhs) 

As at 

Warch 31, 2022 

35,301.55 

5,805.00 

6.08 

6.08 

The following details regarding Micro and small Enterprises has been determined to the extent such parties has been identified on the basis of information available with 

the Fund. 

Particulars 

Principal amount remaining unpaid to any supplier as at the period end 

Interest due thereon 

Amount of interest paid by the Trust in terms of section 16 of the MSMED, along with the amount of the payment 

made to the supplier beyond the appointed day during the accounting period 

Amount of interest due and payable for the period of delay in making payment (which have been paid but beyond the 

appointed day dUring the period) but without adding the interest specified under the MSMED, 2006 

Amount of interest accrued and remaining unpa id at the end of the accounting period 

The amount of further interest remaining due and payable even in the succeeding years, until such date when the 

interest dues as above are actually paid to the small enterprise for the purpose of disallowance as a deductible 

expenditure under the MSMED Act, 2006 

MSME ageing schedule as at 

Particulars 

Undisputed Dues 

UnbiHed amount 

Less than 1 year 

1-2 Years 

More than 3 years 

Total dues to micro and small enterprises as per MSMED Act, 2006 

There are no disputed dues to micro and small enterprises as per MSMED Act, 2006 

As at 

March 31, 2023 

9.37 

Asat 

March 31, 2023 

9.37 

9.37 

( Rs. in lakhs) 

As at 

March 31, 2022 

9.43 

( Rs. in Jakhs) 

Asat 
March 31, 2022 

9.43 

9.43 
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b) Ageing of creditors other than micro enterprises and small enterprises as at 

Particulars 

Undisputed Dues 

Unbil!ed amount 

less than 1 year 

1-2 Years 

2-3 Years 

More than 3 years 

Total dues to micro and small enterprises as per MSMED Act, 2006 

There are no disputed dues to creditors other than micro enterprises and small enterprises. 

Note 21 : Operating segment 

Asat 

March 31. 2023 

12.95 

177.00 

189.95 

(Rs. in lal<hs) 

Asat 
March 31, 2022 

15.03 

647.33 

662.36 

The Fund is engaged in to invest in infrastructure assets primarily being in the road sector in India which in the context of Ind AS 108 - Operating Segments is considered as 

the only segment. The Fund's activities are restricted within India and hence no separate geographical segment disclosure is considered necessary. 
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Note 22 : Related party transaction 

List of Related Parties 

i. Subsidiaries / SPVs IRB Surat Dahisar Tollway Limited (ISDTL) 

IRB Jaipur Deoli Tollway Limited (IJDTL) 

IDAA Infrastructure limited ( lDAAll) 

IRS Pathankot AmritsarTo!! Road limited (IPATRL) 

IRS Talegaon Amravati Tollway limited (fTATl) 

IRS Tumkur Chitradurga Tollway Limited ( ITCTL) 

M.V.R. Infrastructure & Tallways limited (MITL) 

VKl Expressway limited (VK1) (formerly known as VKl Expressway Private limited) 

ii. Parties to the Fund * 

* As per InvlT regulations 

IRS Infrastructure Developers Limited (IRBIDl) (Sponsor & Project Manager) 

IRS Infrastructure Private Limited (IRBFl) (Investment Manager) 

lOBI Trusteeship Services Limited (ITSL) (Trustee) 

iii. Promoters I Directors of the parties to the Fund specified in (ii) above 

Particulars 
IRS Infrastructure Developers limited (Sponsor & IRS Infrastructure Private limited 

Project Manager) (Investment manager) 

Mr. Virendra D. !\I,haiska~ 

Promoters Mrs. Deepali V. Mhaiskar IRB Infrastructure Developers Limited 

Virendra O. Mhaiskar HUF 

Mr. Virendra D. Mhaiskar Mr. Vinod KUmar Menon 

Mrs. Oeepali V. f\1haiskar Mr. Rajinder Pal Singh 

Mr. Chandrashekhar S. Kaptan Mr. Sunil Tandon 

Mr. Sunil H. Talati Mr. Nikesh Jain (w.e.f. 16.03.2022) 

Mr. Sandeep J. Shah Mr. Rushabh Gandhi ( w.e.f. 31.03.2023) 

Mr. Jose Angel Tamariz Martel Goncer (w.e.f. 
Mrs. Anusha Date (w.eJ. 31.03.2023) 

29.12.2021 ) 

Directors 

Ms. Priti Savla ( w.e.f. 10.02.2022 ) 

Mr. Ravindra Dhariwal (w.e.f. 05.08.2022) 

Mr. Mukeshlal Gupta (till 29.12.2021) 

Mr. Sudhir Raa Hashing (til! 29.12.2021) 

Mrs. Heena Raja (till 10.02.2022) 

Mr. Carlos Ricardo Ugarte Cruz Coke (till 

05.08.2022 ) 

lOBI Trusteeship Services limited 

(Trustee of the IRS InvlT Fund) 

lOBI Bank limited 

life Insurance Corporation of India 

General Insurance Corporation of India 

Mr. J.Samuel Joseph 

Mrs. Jayshree Ranade (w.e.f. 20.09.2021) 

Mr. Pradeep Kumar Jain (v.,r.e.f. 24.03.2022) 

Mr. Pradeep Kumar Malhotra (w.e.f. 17.01.2023) 

Mrs. Baljinder Kaur Mandai (w.e.f.17.01.2023) 

Mr. Satyajit Tripathy (till 17.09.2021) 

Mr. Ravishankar G. Shinde (till 15.03.2022) 

Mrs. Madhuri J. Kulkarni (till 06.12.2022) 

Mrs. Padma Betai (till 31.12.2022) 
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Related party transaction during the year 

(Rs in lakhs) 

Sr. No. Particulars Relation 
Year ended Year ended 

March 31, 2023 March 31, 2022 

1 Repayment of secured loan (long term) 10,021.38 3,910.93 

IRB Jaipur Deoli Tollway limited (IJDTl) Subsidiary 3,762.07 593.04 

IRB Pathankot Amritsar Toll Road limited (IPATRl) Subsidiary 2,948.51 299.53 

M.V.R. Infrastructure & Tollways limited (MITl) Subsidiary 3,310.80 3,018.36 

2 Unsecured loan given (long term) 45,947.80 -
IRB Jaipur Deoli Tollway limited (IJDTl) Subsidiary 5,938.00 

IRB Pathankot Amritsar Toll Road limited (IPATRl) Subsidiary 6,113.00 -
IRB Talegaon Amravati Tollway limited (ITATl) Subsidiary 4,089.00 

IRB Tumkur Chitradurga Tollway limited (ITCTl) Subsidiary 12,895.00 

VK1 Expressway limited (VK1) Subsidiary 16,912.80 

3 Repayment of unsecured loan (long term) 9,215.00 27,111.82 

IRB Surat Dahisar Tollway limited (ISDTl) Subsidiary - 11,006.23 

IRB Jaipur Deoli Tollway limited (IJDTl) Subsidiary - 8,000.00 

IDAA Infrastructure limited (IDAAll) Subsidiary 4,166.58 

IRB Talegaon Amravati Tollway limited (ITATl) Subsidiary - 2,900.00 

M.V.R. Infrastructure & Tollways limited (MITL) Subsidiary 9,215.00 1,039.01 

4 Unsecured loans given (Short term) 10,915.91 46,063.00 

IRB Surat Dahisar Tollway limited (ISDTl) Subsidiary 12,000.00 

IRB Jaipur Deoli Tollway limited (IJDTl) Subsidiary 57.00 8,336.00 

IDAA Infrastructure limited (IDAAll) Subsidiary 392.00 

IRB Pathankot Amritsar Toll Road limited (lPATRl) Subsidiary 1,959.20 

IRB Talegaon Amravati Tollway Limited (lTATl) Subsidiary 4,023.21 

IRB Tumkur Chitradurga Tollway limited (ITCTl) Subsidiary 3,655.00 

I 
M.V.R. Infrastructure & Tollways Limited (MITl) Subsidiary 1,221.50 25,335.00 

5 Repayment of unsecured loan given (Short term) 6,231.70 45,942.00 

IRB Surat Dahisar Tollway limited (ISDTl) Subsidiary 24,365.00 

IRB Jaipur Deoli Tollway Limited (IJDTL) Subsidiary 8,336.00 

IDAA Infrastructure limited (IDAAll) Subsidiary 392.00 

IRB Tumkur Chitradurga Tollway limited (ITCTl) Subsidiary 3,000.00 

M.V.R. Infrastructure & Tollways limited (MITL) Subsidiary 3,231.70 12,849.00 

6 Unsecured loan taken (long term) 28,692.00 -
IRB Surat Dahisar Tollway limited (ISDTl) Subsidiary 11,204.00 -

IDAA Infrastructure Limited (IDAAll) Subsidiary 17,488.00 

7 Interest income 51,555.36 54,485.72 

IRB Surat Dahisar Tollway limited (ISDTl) Subsidiary - 2,039.73 

IRB Jaipur Deoli Tollway limited (IJDTl) Subsidiary 12,540.45 14,119.76 

IDAA Infrastructure limited (IDAAll) Subsidiary 365.85 

IRS Pathankot Amritsar Toll Road limited (IPATRL) Subsidiary 13,942.30 14,073.71 

IRB Talegaon Amravati Tollway limited (lTATl) Subsidiary 6,069.65 5,891.65 

IRB Tumkur Chitradurga Tollway limited (ITCTL) Subsidiary 13,240.59 13,171.08 

M.V.R. Infrastructure & Tollways limited (MITl) Subsidiary 4,860.09 4,823.94 

VK1 Expressway Limited (V~l) Subsidiary 902.28 



(Rs in lakhs) 

Sr. No. Particulars Relation 
Year ended Year ended 

March 31, 2023 March 31, 2022 

8 Other income -Interest unwinding-loan 5,384.58 

IRB Surat Dahisar Tollway limited (ISDTL) Subsidiary 2,588.49 

IDAA Infrastructure limited (IDAAIL) Subsidiary 2,796.09 

9 Finance cost -Interest unwinding on loan 185.30 -
IRB Surat Dahisar Tollway limited (ISDTL) Subsidiary 12.93 

IDAA Infrastructure limited (IDAAIL) Subsidiary 172.37 

10 Investment Management fees (including indirect taxes) 1,180.00 1,278.15 

IRB Infrastructure Private limited (iRBFL) 
Investment 

1,180.00 1,278.15 
Manager 

11 Distribution in the form of interest 5,763.78 5,652.92 

IRB Infrastructure Developers limited (IRBIDL) 
Sponsor & Project 

5,006.07 4,913.37 
Manager 

Mr. Virendra D. Mhaiskar 
Director of Sponsor 

& Project Manager 
660.96 648.72 

Mrs. Deepali V. Mhaiskar 
Director of Sponsor 

& Project Manager 
85.95 82.15 

Mr. Sudhir Rao Hoshing 
Director of Sponsor 

& Project Manager 
8.64 6.56 

Mr. Sunil Talati 
Director of Sponsor 

& Project Manager 
0.54 0.53 

Director of 

Mr. Vinod Kumar Menon Investment 1.62 1.59 

Manager 

12 Distribution in form of capital 3,468.38 3,839.10 

IRB Infrastructure Developers limited (IRBIDL) 
Sponsor & Project 

3,012.91 3,33738 
Manager 

Mr. Virendra D. Mhaiskar 
Director of Sponsor 

& Project Manager 
397.80 440.64 

Mrs. Deepali V. Mhaiskar 
Director of Sponsor 

& Project Manager 
51.16 55.80 

Mr. Sudhir Rao Hashing 
Director of Sponsor 

& Project Manager 
5.20 3.84 

Mr. Sunil Talati 
Director of Sponsor 

& Project Manager 
0.33 0.36 

Director of 

Mr. Vi nod Kumar Menon Investment 0.98 1.08 

Manager 

13 Trustee fee 29.50 29.50 

IDBI Trusteeship Services limited (ITSL) Trustee 29.50 29.50 



IRS InvlT Fund 

Standalone Notes to Financial Statements for the year ended March 31 , 2023 

Related party outstanding balances 

( Rs. in lakhs) 

Particulars Relation 
As at As at 

Sr. No. 
March 31, 2023 March 31, 2022 

1 Equity Investment 1,44,850.08 1,27,505.48 

IRS Surat Dahisar Tollway Limited (ISDTL) Subsidiary 53,232.48 53,232.48 

IRS Jaipur Deoli Tollway Limited (IJDTL) Subsidiary 13,175.00 13,175.00 

IDAA Infrastructure Limited (IDAAIL) Subsidiary 19,812.00 19,812.00 

IRB Pathankot Amritsar Toll Road Limited (IPATRL) Subsidiary 9,909.00 9,909.00 

IRB Talegaon Amravati Tollway Limited (iTATL) Subsidiary 4,925.00 4,925.00 

IRB Tumkur Chitradurga Tollway Limited (ITCTL) Subsidiary 15,550.00 15,550.00 

M.V.R. Infrastructure & Tollways Limited (MITL) Subsidiary 10,902.00 10,902.00 

VKl Expressway Limited (VK1) Subsidiary 17,344.60 -

2 Subordinated debt 99,431.00 99,431.00 

IRB Jaipur Deoli Tollway Limited (iJDTL) Subsidiary 39,525.00 39,525.00 

IRB Pathankot Amritsar Toll Road Limited (IPATRL) Subsidiary 29,581.00 29,581.00 

IRB Talegaon Amravati Tollway Limited (ITATL) Subsidiary 14,775.00 14,775.00 

IRB Tumkur Chitradurga Tollway Limited (iTCTL) Subsidiary 15,550.00 15,550.00 

3 Secured loan receivable (Long term) 3,16,415.51 3,26,436.88 

IRB Jaipur Deoli Tollway Limited (IJDTL) Subsidiary 87,713.63 91,475.70 

IRB Pathankot Amritsar Toll Road Limited (IPATRL) Subsidiary 89,653.37 92,601.88 

IRB Talegaon Amravati Tollway Limited (ITATL) Subsidiary 37,153.84 37,153.84 

IRB Tumkur Chitradurga Tollway Limited (ITCTL) Subsidiary 93,712.76 93,712.76 

M.V.R. Infrastructure & Tollways Limited (MITL) Subsidiary 8,181.91 11,492.70 

4 Unsecured loan receivable (Long term) 87,941.18 51,208.38 

IRB Jaipur Deoli Tollway Limited (IJDTL) Subsidiary 12,845.71 6,907.71 

IRB Pathankot Amritsar Toll Road Limited (IPATRL) Subsidiary 21,603.04 15,490.04 

IRB Talegaon Amravati Tollway Limited (ITATL) SubSidiary 10,094.47 6,005.47 

IRB Tumkur Chitradurga Tollway Limited (ITCTL) Subsidiary 20,233.07 7,338.07 

M.V.R. Infrastructure & Tollways Limited (MITL) Subsidiary 6,252.09 15,467.09 

VK1 Expressway Limited (VK1) Subsidiary 16,912.80 -

5 Unsecured loan receivable (Short term) 20,899.11 16,214.90 

IRB Jaipur Deoli Tollway Limited (IJDTL) Subsidiary 57.00 -

IRB Pathankot AmritsarToll Road Limited (IPATRL) Subsidiary 1,959.20 

IRB Talegaon Amravati Tollway Limited (iTATL) Subsidiary 4,023.21 

IRB Tumkur Chitradurga Tollway Limited (ITCTL) Subsidiary 920.20 265.20 

M.V.R. Infrastructure & Tollways Limited (MITL) Subsidiary 13,939.50 15,949.70 

6 Interest recievable 18,688.28 30,744.56 

IRB Tumkur Chitradurga Tollway Limited (ITCTL) Subsidiary 18,688.28 30,744.56 

7 Unsecured loan payable (Long term) 23,492.72 -
IRB Surat Dahisar Tollway Limited (ISDTL) Subsidiary 8,628.44 

IDAA Infrastructure Limited (IDAAIL) Subsidiary 14,864.28 

8 Trade payables 177.00 647.33 

IRB Infrastructure Private Limited (IRBFL) Investment Manager 177.00 647.33 
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• During the year ended March 31, 2023, pursuant to the Share Purchase Agreement dated October 13, 2022, the Fund has acquired VK1 Expressway 

Limited (VK1) from IRBIDl. 

Summary of valuation report dated August 5, 2022 issued by the independent valuer under the SEBI (InvIT) Regulations is as follows :-

Fair Enterprise value and equity value of VK1 Expressway Limited (VK1) as on July 31,2022 is as under :-

(Rs in lakhs) 

Equity value 

Name of the SPV Fair enterprise value (including shareholder 

loan) 

VK1 Expressway Limited (VK1) 1,32,540.00 37,670.00 

After considering the aforesaid Valuation Report submitted by the relevant independent valuer and pursuant to the negotiations between the Investment 

Manager and the Sponsor, VKl Expressway Limited (VK1) was acquired from the Sponsor. The aggregate purchase consideration agreed upon of Rs. 

34,200 lakhs was utilised for acquisition of 100% of the equity share capital of VK1 Expressway Limited (VK1) and for payment of the shareholder loan 

provided to VK1 Expressway Limited (VK1) by the Sponsor. This aggregate consideration is at ~ 9% discount to the Equity Value (i.e., the value of the equity 

and the shareholder loan of the project). 

The project was acquired through external borrowings of Rs. 18,800 lakhs and balance out of internal accruals . 

• The following approach and assumptions have been considered for the valuation exercise:-

a. 

b. 

The Free Cash Flows to Firm under the Discounted Cash Flow Method has been used for the purpose of valuation of the above SPV. 

The Weighted Average Cost of Capital for the above SPV has been considered as the discount rate for the above SPV for the purpose of 

valuation. 
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Note 23 : Fair Values 

Financial assets and liabilities 

The carrying values of finandals instruments of the Fund are reasonable and approximations of fair values. 

The accounting classification of each category of financial instruments, their carrying amounts and the categories of financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value, are set out 

below: 

Financial assets 

Financial assets measured at amortised cost 

Loans 

Other financial assets 

Cash and cash equivalents 

Other Bank balances 

Financial assets measured at fair value through statement of profit & loss 

Investments in mutual funds 

Financial liabilities 

Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost 

Trade payables 

Borrowings 

Other financialliabHities 

Carrying amount 

AS at 
March 31, 2023 

4,25,529.03 

18,688.59 

105.22 

516.86 

15,313.92 

199.32 

1,78,033.52 

33.86 

As at 

March 31, 2022 

3,94,166.32 

30,744.56 

316.53 

48.28 

21,510.85 

671.79 

1,41,259.03 

48.28 

(Rs. in lakhs) 

Fair Value 

Asat 

March 31, 2023 

4,25,255.80 

18,688.59 

105.22 

516.86 

15,313.92 

199.32 

1,79,073.17 

33.86 

As at 

March 31, 2022 

3,94,166.32 

30,744.56 

316.53 

48.28 

21,510.85 

671.79 

1,41,259.03 

48.28 

The management assessed that the fair value of loans, other financial assets, cash and cash equivalents, other bank balance,trade payab!es, borrrowings and other current 

liabilities approximate their carrying amounts largely due to the short-term maturities of these instruments. 

The fair value of the financial assets and !labilities is included at the amount at which the instrument could be exchanged in a current transaction between willing parties, other than 

in a forced or liquidation sa!e. 

The Fund is required to present the Statement of total assets at fair value and Statement of tota! returns at fair value as per SEBI Circular No. ClR/IMD/DF/114/2016 dated October 

20,2016 as a part of these financial statements - Refer Statement of Net assets at fair value and Statement of Tota! Returns at fair value. 

Note 24 : Fair Value Hierarchy 

AI! financial instruments for which fair value is recognised or disclosed are categorised wIthin the fair value hierarchy described as follows, based on the lowest level input that is 

significant to the fair value measurement as a whole. 

Levell: QUoted (unadjusted) price is active market for identical assets or liabilities 

Level 2: Valuation technique for which the lowest level input that has a significant effect on the fair value measurement are observed, either directly or indirectly 

Leve! 3: Valuation technique for which the lowest level input has a significant effect on the fair value measurement is not based on observable market data. 

The following table presents fair value hierarchy of assets and liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis as of March 31, 2023 : 

Assets 

Investments in mutual funds(Quoted) 

Asat 

March 31, 2023 

15,313.92 

(Rs. in lakhs) 

Fair value measurement at end of the reporting year 

using 

level 1 level 2 level 3 

15,313.92 

The follOWing table presents fair value hierarchy of assets and liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis as of March 31, 2022 : 

Assets 

Investments in mutua! funds{Quoted) 

There has been no transfer between Leve!l, Level 2 & Level 3 during the year. 

As at 

March 31, 2022 

21,510.85 

(Rs. in lakhs) 

Fair value measurement at end of the reporting year 

using 

level 1 level 2 level 3 

21,510.85 
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Note 25 : Disclosure Pursuant To Ind As 36 "Impairment Of Assets" 

Based on a review of the future discounted cash flows of the subsidiaries, the recoverable amount is higher than the carrying amount of the investments except for the investments 

in IDAA and IRBSD and accordingly, provision for impairment aggregating to Rs. 4,522.50 Lakhs (Previous Year: Rs. 6,918.56lakhs ) recognised in the statement of profit and loss 

for the year ended March 31, 2023. 

Note 26: Financial risk management objectives and poliCies 

The fund's risk management policies are established to identify and analyse the risks faced by the fund, to set appropriate risk limits and controls, and to monitor risks and 

adherence to limits. Risk management policies and systems are reviewed regularly to reflect changes in market conditions and the fund's activities. 

The Board of Directors of Investment Manager have overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of the fund's risk management framework. 

In performing its operating, investing and financing activities, the fund is exposed to the Credit risk, liquidity risk and Market risk. 

a. Market Risk 

Market risk is the risk that the fair value of future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market prices. Market risk comprises three types of risk: 

interest rate risk, currency risk and other price risk, such as equity price risk and commodity risk. Financial instruments affected by market risk include loans and borrowings, 

deposits. 

Credit risk 

Credit risk is the risk that a counter party will not meet its obligations under a financial instrument or customer contract, leading to a financial loss. The Fund is exposed to credit 

risk from its investing activities induding loans to subsidiaries, deposits with banks and other financial instruments. As at March 31, 2023, the credit risk is considered low since 

substantia! transactions of the Fund are with its subsidiaries. 

Interest Rate Rfsk 

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates. The fund's exposure to the risk 

of changes in market interest rates relates primarily to the fund's long-term debt obligations with floating interest rates. 

Interest rate sensitivity 

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonably possible change in interest rates on that portion of loans and borrowings affected, after the excluding the credit 

exposure for which interest rate swap has been taken and hence the interest rate is fixed. With all other variables held constant, the Fund's profit before tax is affected through the 

impact on floating rate borrowings, as follows: 

Increase in basis pOints 

-INR 

Effect on profit before tax 

-INR 

Decrease in basis points 

-INR 

Effect on profit before tax 

-INR 

b. liquidity risk 

For year ended 

March 31, 2023 

50 

769.66 

50 

(769.66) 

IRs. in lakhs) 

For year ended 

March 31, 2022 

50 

700.88 

50 

(700.88) 

liquidity risk is the risk that the Fund may not be able to meet its present and future cash and collateral obligations without incurring unacceptable losses. The Fund's objective is 

to, at all times maintain optimum levels of liqUidity to meet its cash and collateral requirements. 

The Fund closely monitors its liquidity position and deploys a robust cash management system. It maintains adequate sources of financing including debt and overdraft from banks 

at an optimised cost. 

The liquidity risk is managed on the baSis of expected maturity dates of the financial liabilities. The average credit period taken to settle trade payables is about 30 to 90 days. The 

other payables are with short-term durations. The carrying amounts are assumed to be a reasonable approximation of fair value. The follOWing table analyses financial liabilities by 

remaining contractual maturities: 

IRs. in lakhs) 

March 31, 2023 less than 1 year 1 to 5 years > 5 years Total 

Borrowings 18,914.13 94,591.50 1,80,316.43 2,93,822.06 

Other financial liabilities 33.86 33.86 

Trade payables 199.32 199.32 

Total 19,147.31 94,591.50 1,80,316.43 2,94,055.24 
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(Rs. in lakhs) 

March 31, 2022 less than 1 year 1 to 5 years > 5 years Total 

Borrowings 15,587.81 57,111.63 1,55,847.85 2,28,547.29 

Other financial liabilities 48.28 48.28 

Trade payables 671.79 671.79 

Total 16,307.88 57,111.63 1,55,847.85 2,29,267.36 

At present, the fund does expects to repay a!lliabilities at their contractual maturity. In order to meet such cash commitments, the operating activity is expected to generate 
sufficient cash inflows. 

Note 27 : Capital management 

Capital includes equity attributable to the equity holders to ensure that it maintains an efficient capital structure and healthy capital ratios in order to support its business and 
maximise shareholder value. The Trust manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it, in light of changes in economic conditions or its business reqUirements. To 

maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Fund may adjust the dividend payment to sharehOlders, return capital to shareholders or issue new shares. No changes Were made in 

the objectives, poliCies or processes during the year ended March 31, 2023 and March 31, 2022. 

The Fund monitors capital using a gearing ratio, which is net debt divided by total capital plus net debt. Net debt is calculated as loans and borrowings less cash and cash 

equivalents. 

Borrowings 

Less: cash and cash equivalents 

Net debt (A) 

Total equity (8) 

Capital and net debt C = A + 8 

Gearing ratio (%) (C I A) 

Asat 
March 31, 2023 

1,79,073.17 

(105.22) 
1,78,967.95 

5,14,693.55 

6,93,661.50 

25.80% 

(Rs. in lakhs) 

Asat 
March 31, 2022 

1,42,205.45 

(31653) 
1,41,888.92 

5,24,792.46 

6,66,681.38 

21.28% 

In order to achieve this overall objective, the fund's capital management, amongst other things, aims to ensure that it meets financial covenants attached to the interest·bearing 

loans and borrowings that define capita! structure requirements. Breaches in meeting the financial covenants would permit the bank to immediately cal! loans and borrowings. 

There have been no breaches in the financial covenants of any interest·bearing borrowings in the current period, 

Note 28 : Distribution made 

Distributed during the year as : 

Interest *' 
Return on capital" 

For the year 

ended 

March 31, 2023 

31,347.00 

18,866.25 

50,213.25 

(RS. in lakhs) 

For the year 

ended 

March 31, 2022 

30,766.50 

20,898.00 

51,664.50 

*' Pertains to the distributions made during the financial year along with the distribution related to the last quarter of FY 2021·22 and does not include the distribution relating to 

the last quarter of FY 2022-23 which will be paid after March 31, 2023. 

The distributions made by the Fund to its unit holders are based on the Net Distribution Cash Flow (NDCF) of Fund under the rnvlT Regulations and hence part of the same includes 

repayment of capital as well. 

Note 29: Project acquisition 

Pursuant to the Share Purchase Agreement dated October 13, 2022, the Fund has acquired the subsidiary company viz. VKl Expressway Limited ('Project SPY') for an aggregate 

purchase consideration of Rs. 34,200 lakhs towards 100% of the equity share capital of Project Spy and repayment of the shareholder loan to Project SPY. For details refer note 

no.22 

Note 30: Note on Dav one fair valuation impact 

The Trust is in receipt of borrOWings from subsidiary companies which are accounted for at fair va!ue. The initial impact due to fair valuation amounting to Rs. 5,384.57 lakhs has 

been included as part of Other Income and the subsequent unwinding impact of such fair valuation would be charged to the Statement of Profit & loss account. 
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Note 31 :loans or advances to specified persons 

(Rs. in lakhs) 

As at March 31, 2023 As at March 31, 2022 

Types of borrower 

Promoters 

Directors 

KMPs 

Related Parties 

Total aggregate loans 

.. represents loan or advance in the nature of loan 

A represents percentage to the total loans and Advances in the nature of loan 

Note 32 : Other financial information - ratios 

Cunen! Ratio 

Dcbt - Equity Ratio 

Debt Service Coverage Ratio 

Relum on Equity (ROE) 

InventOJY Tumo\'er Ratio 

Trade receivables turnover ratio (no. of days) 

Trade payabJes turnover ratio (no. of days) 

Net profit ratio 

Net capitallUlllover ratio 

Rdum on capital employed (ROCE) 

Retum on iovesunent (ROI) 

Note; 

a1 Current ratio (in times) : Current ASSets / Current liabilities 

bl Debt - Equity ratio: Total Debt divided by Equity 

Amount 

outstanding* 

4,25,255.80 

4,25,255.80 

note l"cfcl"enCe 

% of Total 1\ 

100% 

100% 

For" the year ended 

March 31, 2023 

11.86 

035 

1.51 

800% 

Not applicable 

Not applicable 

3.31 days 

77.86<;·n 

082 

747'>;0 

5.33% 

Amount 

outstanding· 

3,93,860.16 

3,93,860.16 

For- (he year" ended 

Ma'Th 31, 2022 

12.76 

0.27 

2.82 

7_00~'n 

Not applicable 

Not applicable 

3.46 days 

64.83% 

0.75 

7.12% 

393% 

% of Total A 

100% 

100% 

c} Debt Service Coverage Ratio lOSeR} (no. of times) : Net Profit beforc Interest add other non cash adjustment, divided by Interest expense (net of moratorium interest, interest cost on unwinding 

(long telm unsecured loans) and amoltisation of transaction cost) together with repayments of long term debt during the period 

d) fWE : Net Profits after taxes I Average Shareholder's Equity 

e) Trade payables turnover ratio = Net Credit Purchases I Average Trade Payables 

f) Net profit margin (in %) : profit after tax I Revenue from operation 

g) Net capital turnover ratio (in times) = Net Sales I Working Capital 

hl ROCE : Earning before interest and taxes I Capital Employed (Capital Employed::: Net Worth + Total Debt + Deferred Tax liability) 

i) Return on investment (ROq = Income generated from invested fund I Average invested funds in treasury investment 

Note 33 Other Statutory Information 

i) The Trust have not traded or Invested in Crypto currency or Virtual Currency during the financial year. 

ii) The Trust does not hold benami property and no proceedings under Benami transaction (Prohibitionj Act 1988 have been initiated against the trust 

HI) The Trust do not have any transactions with companies struck off. 

Iv) The Trust have not any such transaction which is not recorded in the books of accounts that has been surrendered or disclosed as income during the year in the tax assessments under the 

Income Tax Act, 1961 (such as, search or surveyor any other relevant provisions of the Income Tax Act, 1961. 

v) The Trust have not received any fund from any person(s) or entity{ies), including foreign entities (Funding Party) with the understanding (whether recorded in writing or otherwise) that the Trust 

shall: 

(a) directly or indirectly lend or invest in other persons or entities identified in any manner whatsoever by or on behalf of the Funding Party (Ultimate Beneficiaries) or 

(b) provide any guarantee, security or the like on behalf of the Ultimate Beneficiaries 

vi) The Trust have not advance or loaned or invested (either from borrowed fund or share premium or any other source or kind of fund) by the company to or in any person{s) or entity{ies), 

including foreign entities (Funding Party) with the understanding (whether recorded in writing or otherwise) that the Trust sha!l: 

(a) directly Of indirectly lend or invest in other persons or entities identified in any manner whatsoever by or on behalf of the company (Ultimate Beneficiaries) or 

(b) provide any guarantee, security or the like on behalf of the Ultimate Beneficiaries 

vii) The Trust did not have any long~terll1 contracts including derivative contract for which there \o,.'€le any material foreseeable losses. 

IX) The Trust has not declared a wilful defaulter by any bank/ financial institution or any other lender during the year. 
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Note 34: Investment Manager Fees 

Pursuant to the Investment Management Agreement, the Investment Manager is entitled to an Investment Management fees to be calculated @ 1% per annum, exclusive of GST, 

of the consolidated to!! revenue (net of premium paid / revenue shared with NHA!) of the Fund at the end of the reporting period subject to a floor of Rs. 100 million and a cap of 

Rs. 250 million. 

Note 35 Interest receivables from a Subsidiary company 

Due to dispute on the deferred premium calculation of previous years between IRBTC ('the Subsidiary company' or 'concessionaire') and the NHA1, the concessionaire had filed 

appeal with the Han'ble High Court of Delhi for resolution against the NHAI's demand of advance premium of Rs. 16.98 crore in aggregate and interest on it. As per the interim 

order of the Division Bench of Hon'ble High Court, withdrawals from Escrow Account were not permitted til! the final order in the matter. The Division Bench of Hon'ble High Court, 

while disposing off the petitions, had continued with the embargo on withdrawals from the Escrow Account. The Hon'ble High Court further referred the matter to Arbitration 

Tribunal for adjudication and interim relief, if any, to the Parties based on their applications. 

During the arbitration proceedings, the Hon'ble Arbitral Tribunal, in its Interim Award, had removed the existing embargo on the operations of the Escrow Account and permitted 

the withdrawals towards taxes, O&M payments and debt servicing by the Company aggregating to Rs. 193 crores and also allowed withdrawals for payment of undisputed 

premium/ revenue share to NHAL Moreover, the Hon'ble Arbitral Tribunal permitted the operations of the escrow account to continue as per the wateriall mechanism provided in 

the Escrow agreement. The matter is currently pending before the Arbitral Tribunal. As on March 31, 2023 the outstanding interest receivable is Rs. 18,688.28 lakhs which is 

expected to be recovered considering the overall periormance and financial pOSition of IRBTe 

Note 36 : Significant accounting judgement, estimates and assumptions 

The preparation of the Fund's financial statements requires management to make judgments, estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of revenue, expenses, 

assets and liabilities and the accompanying disclosures and the disclosure of contingent liabilities. Uncertainty about these assumptions and estimates could result in out comes 

that require a material adjustment to the carrying amount of assets or liabilities affected in future periods. 

Judgement 

In the process of applying the Fund's accounting policies, management has made the follOWing judgements, which have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in 

the financial statements. 

Classification of unit holders Funds 

Under the provisions of the InvlT Regulations, Fund is required to distribute to Unit holders not less than ninety percent of the net distributable cash flows of Fund for each financial 

year. Accordingly, a portion of the unit holders' Funds contains a contractual obligation of the Fund to pay to its Unit holders cash distributions. The Unit holder's Funds could 

therefore have been classified as compound financial instrument which contain both equity and liability components in accordance with Ind AS 32~Financial Instruments: 

Presentation. 

However, in accordance with SEBI Circulars(No CIR/IMD/DF/114/2016 dated 20-0ct-2016 and No.ClR/IMD/DF/127/2016 dated 29-Nov-2016j Issued under the InvlT Regulations, 

the unit holders' Funds have been classified as equity in order to comply with the mandatory requirements of Section H of Annexure A to the SEB! Circular dated 20~Oct-2016 

dealing with the minimum disclosures for key financial statements. In line with the above, the income distribution payable to unit holders is recogrH2ed as liability VI/hen the same is 

approved by the Investment Manager. 

Estimates and assumptions 

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the reporting date, that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to 

the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities or fair value disclosures within the next financial year, are described below. The Fund based its assumptions and estimates on 

parameters available when the financial statements were prepared. Existing circumstances and assumptions about future developments, however, may change due to market 

changes or circumstances arising that are beyond the control of the Fund. Such charges are reflected in the assumptions when they occur. 

Fair valuation and disclosures 

SEBI Circulars issued under the InvlT Regulations required is dlclosures relating to net assets at fair value and total returns at fair value. In estimating the fair value of investments in 

subsidiaries (which constitute substantial portion of the net assets), the Fund engages independent qualified external valuers to perform the valuation. The management works 

closely with the valuers to establish the appropriate valuation techniques and inputs to the model. The management reports the valuation report and findings to the Board of the 

Investment Manager half yearly to explain the cause of fluctuations in the fair value of the road projects. The inputs to the valuation models are taken from observable markets 

where possible, but where this is not feasible, a degree of judgement is required in establishing fair values. Judgements include considerations of inputs such as WACC, Tax rates, 

Inflation rates etc. Changes in assumptions about these factors could affect the fair value. (refer note 23 for details). 

Impairment of investments and loans in subsidiaries 

Impairment exists when the carrying value of an asset or cash generating unit exceeds its recoverable amount, which is the higher of its fair value less costs of disposal and its value 

in use. The recoverable amounts for the investments in subsidiaries are based on value in use of the underlying projects. The value in use calculation is based on a DCF model. The 

cash flows are derived from budgets / forecasts over the life of the projects. 



IRS InvlT Fund 

Standalone Notes to Financial Statements for the year ended March 31 1 2023 

Note 37 : Taxes 

In accordance with section 10 (23FC} of the Income Tax Act, the income of business Fund in the form of interest received or receivable from Project SPV is exempt from tax. 

Accordingly, the Fund is not required to provide any current tax liability_ Further, deferred tax assets on carry forward losses is not being created since there is no virtual certainty 

of reversal of the same in the near future. 

Note 38 

The Trust has presented these standalone financial information (for all the periods presented there in ) in accordance with the requirement of Schedule III - of the Companies Act, 

2013 including amendments thereto J effective from April 01,2021. 

Note 39: Subsequent events 

The Board of Directors of the Investment Manager have approved 4th Distribution of Rs. 2.00 per unit which comprises of RS.1.70 per unit as interest and RS.0.30 per unit as return 

of capital in their meeing hold on May 08 , 2023. 

Note 40 : Previous year comparatives 

Previous year's figures have been regrouped / reclassified, wherever necessary to conform to the current year's presentation. 

As per our report of eVen date 

For Suresh Surana & Associates llP 

Chartered Accountants 

Firm's 

Membership No.: 102306 

Place: Mumbai 

Date: May 08 , 2023 

Singnture to Note 1 to 40 

For and on behalf of IRS Infrastructure Private Limited 

(Investment Manager of IRS InvlT Fund) 

Vinod Kumar Menon 

Wholetime Director & CEO 

DIN: 03075345 

Place: Mumbai 

Date: May 08,2023 

~ 
Rushabh Gandhi 

Director & CFO 

DIN: 08089312 

Swapna Vengurlekar 

Company Secretary 

Membership No: A32376 
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Balance sheet as at March 31, 2023 

I ASSETS 

II) Non-current assets 

Property, plant and equipment 

Deferred tax assets (net) 

(21 Current assets 

Financial assets 

Trade receivables 

Cash and cash equiva lents 

loans 

Cur rent tax assets (net) 

Other cu rrent assets 

Total assets 

II EQUITY AND lIABIUTIES 

Equity 

Equity share capital 

Other equity 

Retained earnings 

(I) Non-current liabitities 

Provisions 

(2) Current liabilities 

Financial liabilities 

Trade payables 

a) total outstanding dues of micro enterprises and small enterprises 

b) total outstanding dues of creditors other than micro enterprises and 

small enterprises 

Other financial liabilities 

Other current liabilities 

Provisions 

Current tax liabilities (net) 

Total liabilities 

Total Equity and Liabilities 

Note 

No. 

• 
5 

6 
7 

8 
9 

10 

11A 

116 

12 

13 

" 15 

1. 
17 

Summary of significant accounting policies 3 

As at 

March 31, 2023 

0.66 
0.59 

1.25 

17.70 

3.95 

529.02 
2.16 

0.02 

552 .85 

554.10 

100.00 

446.50 

546.50 

0.65 

0.65 

0.05 

0.52 

1.78 

4.10 

0.50 

6.95 

7.60 

554.10 

(RS. in millions) 

As at 

March 31, 2022 

0.40 

1.08 

1.48 

64.73 

9.44 

436.61 
1.17 

0.01 

511.97 

513 .45 

100.00 

397.94 

497.94 

2.94 

2.94 

0.79 

3.08 

7.75 

0.45 

0.50 

12.57 

15.51 

513.45 

The accompanying summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information are as an integral part of the financial 

statements. 

As per our report of even date 
For Gokhale & Sathe 

Chartered Accountants 

ICAI Firm Registration Number: 103264W_ 

~"" 
Partner 

Membership Number: 148652 

Place : Mumbai 

Date: May 08,2023 

For and on behalf of the Board of Directors of 
IRS Infrilstructure Privilte limited 

CIN: U28920MH1997PTC112628 

~~ 
Vinodkumar Menon Rushabh Gandhi 

Chief Executive Officer and 

Whole Time Director 

DIN: 03075345 

(&.A~ 
Swapna Vengurlekar 

Company Secretary 

Membership NO.:A32376 

Place : Mumbai 

Date: May 08, 2023 

Director and 

Chief Financial Officer 

DIN: 08089312 

Membership No.:142334 



IRB Infrast ructure Privat e limited 

Stat ement of Profit and Loss for the year ended March 31, 2023 

Income 
Revenue from operations 

Other income 

TOTAL INCOME 

Expenses 

Employee benefits expense 

Depreciation expenses 

Other expenses 
TOTAL EXPENSES 

Profit before tax 

Tax expenses 
Current tax (including adjustment of ea rl ier years) 

Deferred t ax 
INCOME TAX EXPENSE 

Profit for the period 

Other comprehensive income 
Item that will not to be reclassified to profit or loss in 

subsequent periods 
Re-measurement gains/ (losses) on defined benefit 

plans (net of taxes) 

Net other comprehensive income not to be 

reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent periods 

Other comprehensive income for the period (net of tax) 
Total comprehensive income for the year ( net of tax) 

Earnings per equity share (of Rs. 100 each) 

Ba sic 

Diluted 

Summary of significant accounting policies 

Note 

No. 

18 
19 

20 
21 

22 

23 

26 

3 

For the yea r ended 

March 31, 2023 

100.00 

0.87 

100.87 

39.G8 
0.30 

11.53 
51.51 

49.36 

0.55 
0.48 
1.03 

48.33 

0.23 

0.23 

0.23 

48.56 

48.33 

48.33 

(Rs. in millions) 

For the year ended 

March 31, 2022 

108.32 
0.59 

108.91 

41.69 
0.06 

3.81 
45.56 

63.35 

15.67 

(0.15) 
15.52 

47.83 

(0.35) 

(0.35) 

(0.35) 

47.48 

47.83 

47.83 

The accompanying summarv of significant accounting policies and other explanatorv information are as an integral part 

of the financial statements. 

For Gokhale & Sathe 
Chartered Accountants 
ICAI Firm Registration Number: 103264W 

Partner 
Membership Number: 148652 

Place: Mumbai 

Date: May 08, 2023 

For and on behalf of the Board of Directors of 
IRB Infrastructure Private Umlted 

CIN : U28920MH1997PTCl12628 

Vinodkumar Menon 

Ch ief Executive Officer and 

Whole Time Director 
DIN: 03075345 

~oS~ 
Swapna Vengurlekar 

Company Secretary 

Membership NO.:A32376 

Place: Mumbai 
Date: May 08, 2023 

(1-/ 
Rushabh Gandhi 

Director and 

Chief Financial Officer 
DIN: 08089312 
Membership NO. :142334 
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Press Release: 
 

IRB InvIT to distribute Rs. 116 Crs at Rs. 2.00 per unit for Q4FY23 
Aggregate distribution for FY23 is Rs. 467 Crs, at Rs. 8.05 per unit 

 

Cumulative Distribution since IPO crosses 57% to Rs. 3,387 Crs  
 

 Good recovery in revenue over FY22 despite completion of 2  
Concessions   

 

 First HAM project added to the Portfolio  
 

 FY23 Toll Revenue rises 26% Y-o-Y 
 

 Electronic Toll Collection is now ~ 95%  

 

Mumbai, May 08, 2023: IRB InvIT Fund, India’s first listed Infrastructure Investment Trust, today announced the 

Distribution of Rs. 116 Crs translating into a payout of Rs. 2.00 per unit for Q4FY23; thus taking the cumulative 

distribution for entire FY23 to Rs. 467 Crs (8.05 per unit). This continued strength in performance is due to robust 

toll revenue growth even after handing over of two BOT assets post successful conclusion of concessions.  
 

The per unit distribution for FY23 includes Rs. 5.90 per unit as Interest component and Rs. 2.15 per unit as 

Return of Capital. With this the Trust’s cumulative distribution since IPO, way back in 2017, has reached Rs. 

3,387 Crs; 57% of the aggregate fund raise.  
 

The Board of IRB Infrastructure Pvt. Ltd., an Investment Manager to the IRB InvIT Fund, today announced the 

financial results of IRB InvIT Fund for the last quarter and entire FY23.  
 

While commenting on the occasion, the Spokesperson, IRB Infrastructure Pvt. Ltd. said, “The InvIT has well 

managed to continue with this distribution, despite certain odds like handing over two concessions due 

to completion. 26% rise in toll collection across all assets despite these odds, along with FASTag toll 

collection around 95% is noteworthy.  Adding a HAM Asset, the first one for the Trust, which would 

ensure consistent periodic revenue inflow, is another feather in the crown.”  He further added, “Trust will 

continue to explore opportunities to acquire assets.”  
 

To re-iterate, the Trust acquired its first Hybrid Annuity Asset, Vadodara Kim Project from the Sponsors, in 

October 2023, which is the first stretch to achieve COD on the prestigious Delhi Mumbai 8 Lanes Greenfield 

Expressway.    
 

The Trust has set 12th May 2023 as a record date for distribution and the same will be paid to the unit holders on 

or before 22nd May 2023.    
 

 

 

 

 

mailto:info@irbinvit.co.in
http://www.irbinvit.co.in/
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Highlights of the Trust’s Performance: 
 

Period  Q4 FY23 

(Rs. in Crs) 

Q4 FY22 

(Rs. in Crs) 

FY23 

(Rs. in Crs) 

FY22 

(Rs. in Crs) 

Gross Income 256 387 1,039 1,400 

EBITDA 203 331 828 1,158 

Distribution  116 151 467 522 

 Note: 

1. Q4FY22 numbers are for full portfolio of 7 BOT Assets; whereas, Q4FY23 numbers reflect portfolio of 6 Assets after successful 

completion and handing over of Bharuch Surat BOT Asset and Surat Dahisar BOT Asset and adding Vadodara Kim HAM Asset to the 

Portfolio 

2. Toll collection on Pathankot Amritsar BOT Asset was suspended due to Farmers’ agitation up to 15th December 2021 (FY22) and for 31 

days of FY23 i.e. from 15th December, 2022 to 15th January, 2023. 

3. Excluding revenue from arbitration award which has been appropriated to EPC contractor. 

About IRB InvIT Fund: 
 

IRB InvIT Fund is the Trust settled by its Sponsor, IRB Infrastructure Developers Ltd and is registered under the 

SEBI’s Infrastructure Investment Trust Regulations 2014.  
 

The Trust, set up to own, operate and maintain portfolio of highway concessions, is managing 6 operational 

highway assets at present, which include five BOT assets and one HAM asset, with an aggregate value (net 

assets) of approximately Rs. 8,250 Crores spread across the states of Maharashtra, Gujarat, Rajasthan, 

Karnataka, Tamil Nadu and Punjab.  
 

The Weighted Average life of Assets under InvIT Portfolio is around 16 years.  
 

 

For further details, please write to: info@irbfl.co.in  OR kiwishka@conceptpr.in  

mailto:info@irbinvit.co.in
http://www.irbinvit.co.in/
mailto:info@irbfl.co.in
mailto:kiwishka@conceptpr.in
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